Plants take up only 50 percent of the nitrogen fertilizer applied to agricultural land. Part of this inefficiency is a result of emissions of ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) and nitric oxide (NO). Quantifying these emisions is important, both as part of an attempt to improve fertilizer use efficiency and because of their influence on ecosystems, atmospheric pollution and the so-called greenhouse effect. This report provides a comprehensive review of the literature about emissions of NH<sub>3</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and NO, and examines the regulating factors, measurement techniques and models. It draws these data together and generates global emission estimates that can serve as a basis for further addressing the issues of efficiency and environmental impact.

# Global estimates of gaseous emissions of NH<sub>3</sub>, NO and N<sub>2</sub>O from agricultural land









Global estimates of gaseous emissions of NH<sub>3</sub>, NO and N<sub>2</sub>O from agricultural land

INTERNATIONAL FERTILIZER INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS

Rome, 2001

### Abstract

The designation employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations or the International Fertilizer Industry Association concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Global estimates of gaseous emissions of  $NH_3$ , NO and  $N_2O$  from agricultural land First version, published by FAO and IFA. Rome, 2001

International Fertilizer Industry Association 28, rue Marbeuf 75008 Paris, France Tel.: +33 1 53 93 05 00 Fax: +33 1 53 93 05 45/ 47 E-mail: publications@fertilizer.org Web: www.fertilizer.org

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Viale delle Terme di Caracalla 00100 Rome, Italy Tel.: +39 06 57051 Fax: +39 06 57055 3360 E-mail: land-and-water@fao.org Web site: www.fao.org

ISBN 92-5-104689-1

All rights reserved. Reproduction and dissemination of material in this information product for educational or other non-commercial purposes are authorized without any prior written permission from the copyright holders provided the source is fully acknowledged. Reproduction of material in this information product for resale or other commercial purposes is prohibited without written permission of the copyright holders. Applications for such permission, should be addressed to the Chief, Publishing and Multimedia Service, Information Division, FAO, Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, 00100 Rome, Italy or by email to copyright@fao.org

This report describes global estimates of  $N_2O$  and NO emissions and  $NH_3$  volatilization losses from fertilizer and manure application to fields used for crop production. Their quantification is important for assessing N fertilizer efficiency and their impact on atmospheric pollution and ecosystem acidification and eutrophication.

The report reviews the literature and examines the regulating factors (e.g. N application rate) and measurement techniques for  $N_2O$  and  $NO_x$  emissions and  $NH_3$  volatilization. Using models, it generates global annual estimates: 3.5 million t of  $N_2O$ -N emission and 2.0 million t of NO-N emission from crop and grassland. Estimated by fertilizer type, the emissions *induced by fertilizers* amount to 0.9 and 0.5 Mt respectively or approximately 0.8 and 0.5 percent respectively of current nitrogen fertilizer input. An NH<sub>3</sub> loss of 14 percent of mineral fertilizer N use (higher in developing countries), while that from animal manure is 22 percent (60 percent from developed countries). The results for NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization agree with other inventories, though NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization from some fertilizers appears higher than previously thought.

The outcome of the model shows that the potential impact of fertilizer use regulations would be modest from a global emission perspective. The quantities involved, however, constitute a valuable plant nutrient source. Farmers' ability to curtail such losses will primarily relate to economic incentives, in particular in South and South East Asia.

### Acknowledgements

This report, jointly commissioned by the International Fertilizer Association (IFA) and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), is based on the work of A. Bouwman and L.J.M. Boumans (both from the National Institute Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, the Netherlands) and N.H. Batjes (International Soil Reference and Information Centre, Wageningen, the Netherlands). The report benefited from contributions from P. Botschek (European Fertilizer Manufacturers Association, Brussels, Belgium), W. Bussink (NMI Research Station for Cattle, Sheep and Horse Husbandry PR, Lelystad, the Netherlands), S.K. de Datta (College of Agriculture & Life Sciences, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, Virginia, USA), T. Denmead (CSIRO, Canberra, Australia), K. Isherwood (IFA, Paris, France), E. Kreileman (National Institute of Public Health and the Environment) J. K sters and M. Laegreid (both from Hydro Agri, D lmen, Germany), H.-J. Michel and H. Wozniak (both from SKW Stickstoffwerke Piesteritz GmbH, Cunnersdorf, Germany), A.R. Mosier (USDA-Agricultural Research Station, Fort Collins, Colorado, USA), J. Plummer, J. Poulisse (FAO), M. Prud'homme (IFA) and T. van den Bergen (FAO).

### Contents

#### **1. INTRODUCTION** 1 2. REGULATING FACTORS 11 Factors regulating nitrous oxide and nitric oxide emission 11 General 11 Controls of denitrification, nitrification and N oxide fluxes 12 12 N availability Nitrification and denitrification rates 12 13 Soil moisture and temperature Wetting 14 Soil pH 14 Gas diffusion 14 Agricultural management factors 14 Crop type 14 Fertilizer management 15 Soil and crop management 16 Factors regulating ammonia loss 16 General 16 18 Flooded soils 3. MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUES 21 Chamber techniques 22 Micrometeorological techniques 24 Indirect open measurement technique 26 <sup>15</sup>N, N balance and N difference methods 27 4. MEASUREMENTS 29 Nitrous oxide, denitrification and nitric oxide measurements 29 29 Fertilizer induced emissions 29 Nitrous oxide Nitric oxide 31

| Analysis of regulating factors of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide |    |
|------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| emissions                                                        | 32 |
| Data handling                                                    | 33 |
| Data interpretation for nitrous oxide emissions                  | 36 |
| Data interpretation for nitric oxide emissions                   | 38 |
| Summary of ammonia volatilization measurements                   | 40 |
| Upland systems                                                   | 40 |
| Anhydrous ammonia                                                | 40 |
| Ammonium bicarbonate                                             | 40 |
| Ammonium nitrate                                                 | 40 |
| Ammonium sulphate                                                | 40 |
| Calcium ammonium nitrate                                         | 41 |
| Calcium nitrate                                                  | 41 |
| Diammonium phosphate                                             | 41 |
| Monoammonium phosphate                                           | 41 |
| Urea                                                             | 41 |
| Urea ammonium nitrate                                            | 42 |
| Flooded systems                                                  | 42 |
| Ammonium bicarbonate                                             | 42 |
| Ammonium sulphate                                                | 42 |
| Urea                                                             | 42 |
| Summary of regulating factors of ammonia volatilization          | 43 |
| Data handling                                                    | 43 |
| Data interpretation for ammonia volatilization                   | 47 |
| Regression                                                       | 48 |
| 5. GLOBAL ESTIMATES                                              | 51 |
| Data on land use, fertilizer management and environment          | 51 |
| Extrapolation for nitrous oxide and nitric oxide                 | 54 |
| Extrapolation for ammonia                                        | 58 |
| 6. CONCLUSIONS                                                   | 63 |
| Nitrous oxide and nitric oxide emissions                         | 63 |
| Ammonia volatilization                                           | 64 |
| ANNEX 1: MAPS                                                    | 67 |
| ANNEX 2: TABLES                                                  | 79 |
| REFERENCES                                                       | 85 |

#### (vii)

# List of tables

| 1.  | Global sources of atmospheric $NO_x$ , $NH_3$ and $N_2O$ , 1990                                                                                  | 5  |
|-----|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| 2.  | Information collected for measurements                                                                                                           | 8  |
| 3.  | Measurement technique codes                                                                                                                      | 21 |
| 4.  | Fertilizer induced N <sub>2</sub> O emission, %                                                                                                  | 30 |
| 5.  | Fertilizer induced NO emission (%) and the NO/N <sub>2</sub> O ratio                                                                             | 31 |
| 6.  | Climate codes                                                                                                                                    | 33 |
| 7.  | Values of constants and factor classes in the models for $\mathrm{N_2O}$ and $\mathrm{NO}$                                                       | 34 |
| 8.  | NH <sub>3</sub> volatilization rates for various factors                                                                                         | 44 |
| 9.  | Factor values in the linear regression model                                                                                                     | 50 |
| 10. | $N_2O$ and NO emission from N fertilizer and animal manure application on crops, 1995                                                            | 55 |
| 11. | N <sub>2</sub> O and NO emission from N fertilizer and animal manure application on grasslands, 1995                                             | 56 |
| 12. | Global N use and fertilizer induced $N_2O$ and NO emissions by fertilizer type                                                                   | 57 |
| 13. | $NH_3$ volatilization loss from mineral fertilizer application<br>on grasslands, upland crops and wetland rice by region, 1995                   | 59 |
| 14. | $\mathrm{NH}_3$ volatilization loss from animal manure application on intensively used grasslands, upland crops and wetland rice by region, 1995 | 60 |
| 15. | $\mathrm{NH}_3$ volatilization loss rates for mineral fertilizer category and for animal manure, 1995                                            | 61 |
| 16. | $N_2O$ emissions from the data set                                                                                                               | 79 |
| 17. | NO emissions from the data set                                                                                                                   | 82 |

- ---

# List of figures

| 1. | The nitrogen cycle                                                  | 3  |
|----|---------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| 2. | Fertilizer N application and nitrous oxide emission                 | 31 |
| 3. | Relation between fertilizer N application and nitric oxide emission | 32 |

| AA     | Anhydrous ammonia including aqueous ammonia                  |
|--------|--------------------------------------------------------------|
| ABC    | Ammonium bicarbonate                                         |
| ACl    | Ammonium chloride                                            |
| AF     | Ammonium bicarbonate, ammonium chloride, ammonium sulphate   |
| AP     | Ammonium phosphate                                           |
| AN     | Ammonium nitrate                                             |
| AS     | Ammonium sulphate                                            |
| b      | Broadcast                                                    |
| bf     | Broadcast and then flooded                                   |
| bw     | Broadcast in floodwater                                      |
| bpi    | Broadcast in floodwater at panicle initiation                |
| CAN    | Calcium ammonium nitrate and combinations of AN and $CaCO_3$ |
| CEC    | Cation exchange capacity                                     |
| CN     | Calcium nitrate                                              |
| DAP    | Diammonium phosphate                                         |
| ECETOC | European Centre for Ecotoxicology and Toxicology             |
| g      | Gradient method                                              |
| GIS    | Geographical Information Systems                             |
| i      | Incorporated                                                 |
| KCl    | Potassium chloride                                           |
| KN     | Potassium nitrate                                            |
| MAP    | Monoammonium phosphate                                       |
| Mix    | Mix of various fertilizers                                   |
| Ν      | Nitrogen                                                     |
| NF     | Calcium nitrate, potassium nitrate, sodium nitrate           |
|        |                                                              |

# Acronyms

| NH <sub>3</sub>  | Ammonia                                                |
|------------------|--------------------------------------------------------|
| NO               | Nitric oxide                                           |
| NO <sub>2</sub>  | Nitrogen dioxide                                       |
| NP               | Ammonium phosphate and other NP fertilizers            |
| N <sub>2</sub>   | Dinitrogen                                             |
| N <sub>2</sub> O | Nitrous oxide                                          |
| 0                | Organic fertilizers                                    |
| OS               | Combinations of organic and mineral fertilizers        |
| ppbv             | Part per billion in volume                             |
| S                | Fertilizer applied in solution                         |
| single           | Single application                                     |
| single/ps        | Single application as part of split application scheme |
| split            | Split application, aggregate                           |
| UAN              | Urea-ammonium nitrate                                  |
| UCN              | Urea-calcium nitrate                                   |
| UP               | Urea phosphate                                         |
| UU               | Urea and urine                                         |
| UUP              | Urea-urea phosphate                                    |
|                  |                                                        |

# Chapter 1 Introduction

1

There is increasing concern about plant nutrient losses to the environment. Such losses arise through leaching to the groundwater and emissions to the atmosphere. Mineral fertilizer is one of the sources of plant nutrients used in crop production systems. Applied nutrients that crops fail to take up constitute both a financial loss to the farmer and a considerable economic loss at the national level. With the demand for food and fibres projected to increase, albeit at a decreasing pace, farmers will apply more fertilizer in the attempt to boost agricultural production. The implementation of mitigating measures will probably focus on those nutrient sources that are easiest to regulate, with mineral fertilizer use being a prime target.

Reconciling the goals of ensuring ample food supply, enabling adequate farm income and reducing the adverse environmental impact of increased fertilizer use requires the adoption of sound agricultural practices. The adoption of balanced fertilization would be one of the measures for achieving higher yields without incurring accelerated nitrogen losses to the environment.

In order to develop the measures and implementation programmes for fostering efficient mineral fertilizer use, it is necessary to quantify the nutrient losses involved. The magnitude provides a benchmark of the potential benefits at farm, national and global level. The effective implementation of such programmes should focus on regions where losses are largest.

This report generates global estimates of nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) and nitric oxide (NO) emissions and of ammonia ( $NH_3$ ) volatilization losses. The analysis establishes the relative contribution of the sustained losses from the application of mineral fertilizers and animal manure to croplands and grasslands. The report also identifies the regions where such losses are primarily sustained.

The supply of nitrogen (N) for growth often constrains yields of crops and forage species. Although there are wide differences between various countries and regions, more than 50 percent of the world's major food crops, sugar crops and some cash crops are routinely fertilized and high nitrogen fertilizer application rates are not uncommon. Moreover, fertilizer N is being increasingly applied to grasslands.

At present the global use of mineral fertilizers is 78 million t N per year, and farmers use large quantities of animal manure to fertilize crops and grasslands. The use of N fertilizer is expected to increase, particularly in developing countries, and the production of animal wastes may also continue to grow.

The use of N fertilizer by plants is rather inefficient. Plant uptake is commonly only 50 percent of the N applied. The major cause of this low N use efficiency is the loss of N from the plant-soil system via leaching, runoff, erosion, or by gaseous emissions. The relative importance of each of these pathways varies from site to site and from year to year. In climates where precipitation exceeds evapotranspiration or in irrigated fields leaching losses may be considerable. Water and wind erosion may occur in systems with bare fallow and in irrigation systems where water flows down the slopes from one field to another (e.g. wetland rice fields).

Gaseous loss of N is the dominant mechanism in many agricultural production systems. Loss processes include volatilization, nitrification and denitrification, resulting in the release of  $NH_3$ , NO,  $N_2O$  and dinitrogen ( $N_2$ ) to the atmosphere. The figure opposite illustrates the nitrogen cycle.

 $N_2O$  is one of the so-called greenhouse gases, constituting 6 percent of the anthropogenic greenhouse effect, and contributes to the depletion of stratospheric ozone. Neither the sources nor the causes of the increase in  $N_2O$  of 0.7 ppbv per year are well known. It is generally accepted that the most important source is natural soils, followed by emissions from the oceans (Table 1), although there is uncertainty regarding the distribution and magnitude of the sources themselves. Identified anthropogenic sources include: agricultural fields amended with N fertilizers, animal manure, aquifers, sewage, industry, automobiles, biomass burning, land clearing, and trash incineration. The contribution of agriculture to the global  $N_2O$  source is about 35 percent.

NO also plays an important role in atmospheric chemistry as it participates in regulating the oxidant balance of the atmosphere. In the atmosphere, NO oxidizes to nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>). Re-deposition of NO<sub>x</sub> (NO and NO<sub>2</sub> together) contributes to the acidification and eutrophication of ecosystems. The contribution of food production to the global NO emission may be about 10 percent (Table 1). The estimates for N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions



Surve: Adapted from Categolicat at (1990)

5

from animal manure and mineral fertilizers are based on the so-called fertilizer induced emission. Therefore, they do not represent the total emission, as in their calculation the emission from unfertilized control plots is subtracted from that from the fertilized plot. The product of this report will be the total emission, which is more appropriate for global budget studies.

Food production is also a major source for  $NH_3$ , contributing more than 50 percent to the global emission.  $NH_3$  is an important atmospheric pollutant with a wide variety of impacts. In the atmosphere,  $NH_3$  neutralizes a large portion of the acids produced by oxides of sulphur and nitrogen. A large proportion of atmospheric aerosols, acting as cloud condensation nuclei, consists of sulphate neutralized to various degrees by ammonia. Deposition returns most of the  $NH_3$  to the surface, where it may contribute to the acidification and eutrophication of ecosystems.

The effects of fertilizer application on the quantities of  $N_2O$  released from agricultural soil have been the subject for a number of reviews in recent years. Other similar studies have focused on NO. However, because of the extremely high spatial, temporal and interannual variability, considerable uncertainty persists in the estimates of  $N_2O$  emissions. The available data on NO emissions are more uncertain than those for  $N_2O$  as fewer studies have focused on NO, mainly because the measurements are intrinsically more demanding. There are many reviews of ammonia volatilization from flooded rice fields, N losses including ammonia volatilization from fertilizers in general, and ammonia losses from grazing systems. Various authors have estimated country emissions on the basis of their measurements. The ECETOC (1994) and Asman (1992) have compiled inventories of European NH<sub>3</sub> emissions.

Recent global estimates indicate that the global  $NH_3$  loss from mineral N fertilizers is about 9 million t of  $NH_3$ -N, constituting more than 10 percent of global N fertilizer use (Table 1). However, the uncertainty in these estimates may be 50 percent.

A recent development is the use of simulation models to describe  $N_2O$  and NO fluxes. Models can form a firm basis for extrapolation by developing an understanding of the mechanisms that regulate processes and their spatial and temporal patterns. Models help to break down a system into its component parts and describe the behaviour of the system through their interaction. In general, trace gas flux models include descriptions of the processes responsible for the cycling of carbon or nitrogen and the fluxes associated with these processes. Various types of models exist, including empirical and process (or mechanistic) models.

| TABLE 1. Global sources of atmospheric $\mathrm{NO}_{\mathrm{x}}, \mathrm{NH}_3$ and $\mathrm{N}_2$ | O, 1990         |                 |                  |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|------------------|
| Source                                                                                              | NO <sub>x</sub> | NH <sub>3</sub> | N <sub>2</sub> O |
|                                                                                                     | I               | million t N/y   | ear              |
| Anthropogenic sources                                                                               |                 |                 |                  |
| Fossil fuel combustion including aircraft                                                           | 21.9            | 0.1             | 0.2              |
| Industrial processes                                                                                | 1.5             | 0.2             | 0.3              |
| Animal manure application, direct emission                                                          | 0.7             | ~8              | 0.4              |
| Animal manure, emission from other animal waste management systems                                  | _               | ~13.6           | 2.1              |
| Animal manure application, indirect emission                                                        |                 |                 | 0.9              |
| Mineral fertilizer use, direct emission                                                             | 0.4             | 9.0             | 1.1              |
| Mineral fertilizer use, indirect emission                                                           | _               |                 | 0.5              |
| Leguminous crops                                                                                    | n.d.            | n.d.            | 0.1              |
| Cultivated histosols                                                                                | n.d.            | n.d.            | 0.1              |
| Biomass burning including biofuel combustion                                                        | 7.7             | 5.9             | 0.7              |
| Crops and decomposition of crops                                                                    | a               | 3.6             | 0.4              |
| Human excreta                                                                                       | _               | 2.6             | 0.2              |
| Coastal water                                                                                       | _               | b               | 1.9              |
| Atmospheric deposition                                                                              | 0.3             |                 | 0.6              |
| Natural sources                                                                                     |                 |                 |                  |
| Soils under natural vegetation                                                                      | 13              | 2.4             | 6.6              |
| Oceans                                                                                              | _               | 8.2             | 3.6              |
| Excreta of wild animals                                                                             |                 | 0.1             | 0.0              |
| Lightning                                                                                           | 12.2            |                 |                  |
| Tropospheric chemistry                                                                              | 0.9             |                 | 0.6              |
| Stratospheric chemistry                                                                             | 0.7             |                 |                  |
| Total                                                                                               | 59              | 54              | 20¢              |

n.d.: not determined

~ approximately

a. Other animal waste management systems include storage, grazing, etc.

b.  $NH_3$  emissions from coastal water are included in the estimate for oceans.

c. This total is based on mass balance calculations of atmospheric  $N_2O$ . The sum of the individual source estimates exceeds the global source by about 30%.

Based on Bouwman et al. (1997), Davidson and Kingerlee (1997), Lee et al. (1997), Mosier et al. (1998), Olivier et al. (1998), and Veldkamp and Keller (1997a). An example of a global model describing processes of  $N_2O$  formation is an expanded version of the Carnegie-Ames-Stanford Biosphere model on a 1 resolution developed by Potter *et al.* (1996). This ecosystem model simulates nitrogen mineralization from net primary production, N uptake, litterfall and its decomposition. Fluxes of organic matter from litter and soil to microbial pools and from microbial pools back to soil pools occur in proportion to C assimilation rates so that prescribed C:N ratios for the various organic matter pools are maintained. The N<sub>2</sub>O (and NO) fluxes are a fixed fraction of 2 percent of nitrogen mineralization. However, the uncertainty of the model is unknown as the output has not been validated against flux measurements.

Li and Aber (2000) and Li *et al.* (1992a, 1992b) developed a field-scale process model to simulate  $N_2O$  and  $NO_x$  fluxes from decomposition and denitrification in soils. The model simulated gas fluxes by using soil, climate and management data to drive three submodels (thermal-hydraulic, denitrification and decomposition). The management practices considered include tillage timing and intensity, fertilizer and manure application, irrigation (amount and timing), and crop type and rotation. Comparison of observed flux data with fluxes simulated by models including the field-scale process model reveal major differences in the simulated N gas fluxes from soils. A major problem in developing trace gas flux models is the proper statistical description of soil processes that operate in hot spots in field-scale models.

Large-scale patterns of soil gaseous emissions, when aggregated to prolonged (e.g. seasonal or annual) time scales, may have a strong element of predictability. This is because at such spatial and temporal scales integrated gas fluxes may be strongly related to average biophysical conditions. Therefore, if estimation of seasonal or annual emissions is the objective, the use of empirical relationships between gas fluxes and environmental and management conditions represents a suitable approach for bridging the gap between site and landscape scales.

Although the approaches to estimating  $N_2O$  and NO emissions and  $NH_3$  volatilization losses are distinct, they are sufficiently similar to appear together in this document.

First, this report analyses the direct emissions of  $N_2O$  and NO from fertilized crops and grasslands. It does not consider indirect emissions from ground and surface water, or resulting nitrogen leached from agricultural soils. A review of measurement data from the literature forms the basis for calculating the estimates. An extrapolation exercise uses models for  $N_2O$  and NO emissions that include the major controlling factors. The basis for this is a data set of measurements primarily from the reviewed literature. This report does not consider chemicals such as nitrification inhibitors as their use is still limited on the global scale. It also excludes experiments in grazed grasslands, as that system is not within the scope of this report. Furthermore, measurements of emissions from organic soils were excluded from the analysis. This report summarizes 896 measurements of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from 139 studies and 99 measurements for NO emissions from 29 studies.

The experiments represent a range of different techniques for measuring fluxes for different crops and uncropped systems, different soil types, climates, fertilizer types and N application rates, and methods and timing of fertilizer application. Table 2 lists the available information on the environmental conditions, soil properties and measurement techniques for each measurement provided in the literature reports and included in the data set.

The various research papers used different methods to determine soil pH, cation exchange capacity (CEC), carbon content, texture, etc. In addition, they sometimes reported temperature as air temperature, and in other cases as soil temperature. This report ignored these differences and used the reported values as such.

For  $NH_3$  losses, the first objective of this report is to summarize the available literature on  $NH_3$  volatilization from the application of mineral N fertilizers and animal manure to crops and grasslands in order to assess the factors that regulate  $NH_3$  volatilization. A second objective is to describe the relationships found between regulating factors and  $NH_3$  volatilization rates in an empirical summary model, and to use this model for a global-scale extrapolation on the basis of national fertilizer statistics and land-use data.

The data set of measurements (primarily from the reviewed literature) contains data for almost 1 900 individual measurements. Table 2 presents details of the available information on the environmental conditions, soil properties and measurement techniques for each measurement provided in the literature.

This report does not use data on the effect of controlled-release and stabilized fertilizers and chemical additives used to reduce  $NH_3$  volatilization as their use also is still very limited on the global scale. In addition, the report does not include  $NH_3$  losses from stored manure and plants.

The analysis of the complete set of literature data to assess relationships between the various regulating factors and  $N_2O$  and NO emission rates and  $NH_3$  volatilization rates made use of Genstat 5 release 4.1 (PC/Windows NT).

Information collected for measurements

#### N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions and denitrification

| Data base label                            | N-rate                                                                      |                                                   |
|--------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------|
| Reference                                  | NH <sub>4</sub> +-rate (for organic fertilizer                              | s)                                                |
| Soil type                                  | N <sub>2</sub> O/NO emission (kg N/ha) ov                                   | ver measurement period                            |
| Texture/other soil properties              | Denitrification (kg N/ha) over n                                            | neasurement period                                |
| Soil organic carbon content                | Length of measurement period                                                | 1                                                 |
| Soil organic nitrogen content              | Measurement technique                                                       |                                                   |
| Soil drainage                              | Frequency of measurements                                                   |                                                   |
| рН                                         | N <sub>2</sub> O/NO emission (% of N app control)                           | lication accounting for                           |
| Residues left in field                     | N <sub>2</sub> O/NO emission (% of N app                                    | lication)                                         |
| Crop                                       | Additional information (remarks                                             | s) <sup>a</sup>                                   |
| Fertilizer type                            |                                                                             |                                                   |
| Fertilizer application method              |                                                                             |                                                   |
| NH <sub>3</sub> volatilization rates in up | land and flooded systems                                                    |                                                   |
| Information for both upland and            | d flooded systems A                                                         | dditional information for<br>wetland rice systems |
| Data base label                            | Fertilizer type                                                             | Floodwater pH                                     |
| Reference                                  | Fertilizer application method                                               | Presence of azolla                                |
| Soil type                                  | Fertilizer form                                                             |                                                   |
| Texture/other soil properties              | N-rate                                                                      |                                                   |
| Soil organic carbon content                | NH <sub>4</sub> +-rate (for organic fertilizer                              | s)                                                |
| Soil drainage                              | NH <sub>3</sub> volatilization loss (kg N/ha                                | a)                                                |
| рН                                         | Length of measurement period                                                | I                                                 |
| CaCO <sub>3</sub> content                  | Measurement technique                                                       |                                                   |
| CEC                                        | Frequency of measurements                                                   |                                                   |
| Mean temperature during measurements       | NH <sub>3</sub> volatilization rate (% of N application accounting for cont | rol)                                              |
| Mean precipitation during measurements     | NH <sub>3</sub> volatilization rate<br>(% of N application)                 |                                                   |
| Flooding (if applicable)                   | Additional information (remarks                                             | s) <sup>a</sup>                                   |
| Residues left in field                     |                                                                             |                                                   |
| Сгор                                       |                                                                             |                                                   |
|                                            |                                                                             |                                                   |

a. Additional information on the measurement such as year/season of measurement, information on soil, crop or fertilizer management, the volume of air flowing through the forced draught chambers, specific characteristics of the fertilizer used, specific weather events important for explaining the measured volatilization rates. Contrary to many studies using regression analysis, this report used the Residual Maximum Likelihood (REML) directive of Genstat for summarizing the data set and developing models relating gas emissions to controlling factors. REML is appropriate for analyzing unbalanced data sets with missing values. By assuming all factor classes to have an equal number of observations, REML balances the emission for factors not represented by the full range of environmental and management conditions.

Chapter 2 discusses the factors that regulate  $N_2O$  and  $NO_x$  emissions and  $NH_3$  volatilization. Chapter 3 presents the different measurement techniques used in determining  $N_2O$  and  $NO_x$  emissions and  $NH_3$  volatilization rates, as it is important to know the characteristics of each technique for the interpretation of flux estimates in comparison with those obtained with other techniques. Chapter 4 analyses the data collected for this study in order to determine the major regulating factors and their effect on  $N_2O$  and NO emissions and  $NH_3$  losses. Chapter 5 extrapolates the results up to global estimates based on fertilizer statistics and geographic data for the regulating factors. Finally, Chapter 6 presents some conclusions.

# Chapter 2 Regulating factors

# FACTORS REGULATING NITROUS OXIDE AND NITRIC OXIDE EMISSION

#### General

Soils act as both sources and sinks of  $N_2O$  and NO. However, on the global scale the  $N_2O$  and NO emissions dominate the sink activity. The production and consumption of  $N_2O$  and NO in soils involves both biotic and abiotic processes. Numerous groups of micro-organisms contribute to the production and consumption of NO and  $N_2O$ , but biological nitrification and denitrification are the dominant processes involved.

Biological denitrification is the reduction of nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) or nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) to gaseous N oxides and molecular N<sub>2</sub> by essentially aerobic bacteria. Nitrification is the biological oxidation of ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) to NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> or NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> under aerobic conditions. Under oxygen limited conditions nitrifiers can use NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> as a terminal electron acceptor to avoid accumulation of the toxic NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, whereby N<sub>2</sub>O and NO are produced.

The bacterial processes of denitrification and nitrification are the dominant sources of  $N_2O$  and NO in most systems. Only denitrification is recognized as a significant biological consumptive fate for  $N_2O$  and NO. The chemical decomposition of  $HNO_2$  (or chemical denitrification), that is, the reduction of  $NO_2^-$  by chemical reductants under oxygen limited conditions and at low pH, can also produce  $N_2$ ,  $N_2O$  and NO. Chemical denitrification generally occurs when  $NO_2^-$  accumulates under oxygen limited conditions, which may occur when nitrification rates are high, e.g. after application of  $NH_4^+$ -based mineral fertilizers or animal manure. This process may account for 15-20 percent of NO formation.

Plant uptake of NO and NO<sub>2</sub> is a further important biological process determining the exchange of NO<sub>x</sub> at the Earth's surface. Some other abiotic processes may also produce and consume trace amounts of NO.

#### Controls of denitrification, nitrification and N oxide fluxes

The simplifying conceptual hole in the pipe model is useful in understanding the processes of NO,  $N_2O$  and  $N_2$  emissions. In this model, gas production and exchange with the atmosphere depend on: (i) factors controlling the amount of N flowing through the pipe (that is those affecting denitrification and nitrification rates e.g. N availability and temperature); and (ii) the size of the holes in the pipe through which N gases leak. Factors controlling the partitioning of the reacting N species to NO,  $N_2O$  or more reduced or oxidized forms regulate the size, while the rate at which N moves through the pipes determines the importance of the leaks. In addition to soil and climate characteristics, agricultural management may also interfere with soil processes and thus influence N availability and the relative rates of  $N_2O$  and NO.

#### N availability

In agricultural soils N inputs from various sources determine the amount of N flowing through the pipe. N fertilizer, N inputs in agricultural soils, animal manure, crop residues, deposition and biological N fixation are strong stimulants of denitrification and associated N oxide fluxes.

The magnitude of  $NH_3$  volatilization also determines the availability of N for nitrification and denitrification. Studies have found denitrification to be lower when  $NH_3$  losses are high in both upland soils and wetland rice systems.

#### Nitrification and denitrification rates

Whether denitrification or nitrification dominates depends on many different factors. Nitrification is a relatively constant process across ecosystems, whereas denitrification rates are temporally and spatially variable. In most soils, availability of  $\rm NH_4^+$  and oxygen are the most important factors controlling nitrification. The major controls on biological denitrification include the availability of organic carbon, oxygen and nitrate ( $\rm NO_3^-$ ) or other N oxides.

Various studies have found high denitrification activity in hot spots created by decomposing organic matter which generates anaerobic microsites. This phenomenon may explain some of the high spatial variability of soil denitrification commonly observed.  $N_2/N_2O$  ratios observed under different conditions in laboratory experiments were found extremely variable and dependent on the available C and  $NO_3^-$ , and on the moisture content of the soil. The NO/N<sub>2</sub>O emission ratio has been proposed as an indicator of the importance of nitrification and denitrification. Laboratory studies indicate that for nitrifiers the NO/N<sub>2</sub>O ratio is close to unity while for denitrifiers this ratio is less than unity. As denitrification and nitrification often occur simultaneously, it is not possible to extrapolate these results to field conditions. However, even in field situations the NO/N<sub>2</sub>O ratio may provide an indication of the dominant process responsible for NO emission.

#### Soil moisture and temperature

Soil moisture and temperature control soil processes at all levels by governing organic matter decomposition rates, denitrification and nitrification. Some studies have shown that emissions of NO increase with increasing soil temperatures. However, the relationship between temperature and NO fluxes is subject to considerable uncertainty with numerous exceptions in temperate and tropical systems where no clear relationship was found between temperature and NO fluxes. During denitrification the ratio of  $N_2O/N_2$  generally increases with decreasing temperatures.

In systems where soil N temporarily accumulates due to wet-dry or freeze-thaw cycles, then early spring, winter and autumn in temperate climates may account for an important part of the annual  $N_2O$  emission from agricultural or any other land.

Soil-water content influences  $N_2O$  and  $NO_x$  emissions from all types of soil. In general, microbial activity peaks at 30-60 percent water-filled pore space. Nitrification and associated  $N_2O$  and  $NO_x$  production also show maximum activity at 30-60 percent water-filled pore space, while optimum conditions for denitrification may occur at 50-80 to 60-90 percent water-filled pore space.

The oxygen and moisture status and gas diffusion in agricultural soils depend on soil texture and drainage. Fine-textured soils have more capillary pores within aggregates than do sandy soils, and so hold soil water more tightly. As a result, anaerobic conditions may be more easily reached and maintained for longer periods within aggregates in fine-textured soils than in coarse-textured soils.

#### Wetting

The wetting of dry soils causes pulses in N mineralization, nitrification and NO and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes. The alternating drying and wetting of soils enhances the release of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO from the soil to the atmosphere although peaks in N<sub>2</sub>O production may decline with subsequent wetting events.

#### Soil pH

Soil pH has a marked effect on the products of denitrification. Denitrification rates are slower under acid than under slightly alkaline conditions, but the  $N_2O$  fraction may be larger at low soil pH, particularly with an adequate nitrate supply. This is commonly attributed to the sensitivity of  $N_2O$  reductase to proton activity. Emissions of  $N_2O$  and NO decrease with increasing pH in acid soils, and increase when the pH of alkaline soils decreases. Soil pH is a major factor in determining the mechanism of NO formation. In one study, in an alkaline loamy clay soil (pH 7.8) nitrification was the main source of NO, whereas in an acid sandy clay loam (pH 4.7) denitrification dominated the NO production.

#### Gas diffusion

Before escaping from the soil to the atmosphere the N gases diffuse through the soil pore system, where denitrifiers may consume NO and  $N_2O$  or plants may take up NO. In situations where high soil water content, impeded drainage, shallow groundwater, soil structure, soil compaction, fine soil texture or soil surface sealing limit gas diffusion, denitrification activity is high. However, such conditions greatly enhance the probability of denitrifiers re-consuming  $N_2O$  and NO. Soils close to saturation show high denitrification activity but low  $N_2O$  and NO emission. Under such conditions the oxygen supply is low and  $N_2O$  and NO diffusion is limited; in the absence of oxygen as an electron acceptor, denitrifiers consume more  $N_2O$  and NO than under more aerobic conditions. Under wet conditions  $N_2O$  uptake from the atmosphere may occur.

#### Agricultural management factors

#### Crop type

Nitrous oxide fluxes from flooded rice systems during the growing season are generally lower than those from rainfed fields. The cause of this may be the anaerobic conditions prevailing in wetland rice systems. However, aerobic conditions generally prevail during the fallow period after the rice crop, allowing nitrification of  $NH_4^+$  mineralized from soil organic matter and residues of crops and aquatic biota. Observed N<sub>2</sub>O emission from drained soils during the post-harvest fallow period is much higher than during the crop season.

Biological N fixation by leguminous crops, such as alfalfa, soybeans, pulses, and clovers, provides an important input of N in many agricultural systems. Although these crops generally receive no or only small N fertilizer inputs as a starter, studies have demonstrated that leguminous crops show emissions of  $N_2O$  that are of the same level as those of fertilized non-leguminous crops.

#### Fertilizer management

The type of fertilizer influences the magnitude of nitrification and denitrification. Furthermore, the type of fertilizer may influence the magnitude of NO and fluxes. For example, anhydrous ammonia (AA), which is generally injected, commonly shows higher losses than other fertilizers.

Total N gas production and in particular emission may increase with the N application rate. However, denitrification and production may be more closely related to the amount of unused N than to the total amount. Therefore, the timing of fertilizer application is an important factor. Any prolongation of the period when  $NH_4^+$ -based fertilizers can undergo nitrification or  $NO_3^-$ -based fertilizers undergo denitrification, without competition from plant uptake, is likely to increase emissions of NO and  $N_2O$ .

Under tropical conditions the potential for high and NO emission rates exists, but management plays an important role in determining the magnitude of the fluxes. In a study that adjusted N fertilizer inputs to plant demand,  $N_2O$ losses were low. Where fertilizer application is excessive, as in some cash crops such as banana, the N availability for nitrification and denitrification is high, and so the  $O_2$  supply becomes the primary control of NO and  $N_2O$ emissions.

Fertilizer application mode and timing influence  $NH_3$  volatilization and the efficiency of plant uptake, and hence the availability of N for nitrification and denitrification. Generally, emissions from subsurface applied or injected N fertilizers are higher than from broadcast mineral fertilizers and animal manure. Compared to broadcasting, subsurface applied N has resulted in higher N<sub>2</sub>O but lower NO losses.

#### Soil and crop management

Inputs from crop residues in agricultural fields are important sources of C and N for nitrification and denitrification. In addition, the action of incorporation may also stimulate mineralization of soil organic matter. Some studies have observed higher denitrification activity and  $N_2O$  fluxes after retaining residues on the land compared to removing them. This effect may be related to the effect of residues on the soil surface on moisture conditions of the topmost soil layer. The incorporation of residues also causes accelerated NO emissions.

The effects of tillage on mineralization of soil organic matter are well established. Tillage may also affect the conditions for  $N_2O$  and NO emissions from soils. Some studies have observed higher  $N_2O$  losses for no-tillage systems compared to conventional tillage. This may be related to higher denitrification activity. However,  $N_2O$  losses from no-tillage systems may be lower than from tilled soils where fields have remained uncultivated for a number of years. Some studies report an increase in NO emission caused by ploughing in a temperate climate and under tropical conditions.

#### FACTORS REGULATING AMMONIA LOSS

#### General

Ammonia is formed constantly in soils because of the biological degradation of organic compounds and  $NH_4^+$  yielding mineral and organic fertilizers. As it is a gas, any  $NH_3$  present in soils, water or fertilizers can volatilize to the atmosphere. However,  $NH_3$  reacts with protons, metals and acidic compounds to form ions, compounds or complexes of varying stability. Ammonia has a strong affinity for water, and its reactions in water are fundamental to regulating the rate of loss.

After its application to the soil, the  $NH_4^+$  can remain on the exchange sites, nitrify to  $NO_3^-$ , or decompose to  $NH_3$ , depending on soil and environmental conditions:

$$NH_{4}^{+}_{(absorbed)} \longrightarrow NH_{4}^{+}_{(solution)} \longrightarrow NH_{3}_{(solution)} \longrightarrow NH_{3}_{(solution)} \longrightarrow NH_{3}_{(atmosphere} NH_{4}^{+} \longleftrightarrow NH_{4}^{+} \longleftrightarrow NH_{3}^{+} + H^{+}$$
$$NH_{4}^{+} + 1.5 \text{ O}_{2} \longrightarrow 2 \text{ H}^{+} + H_{2}\text{O} + \text{NO}_{2}$$
$$NO_{2}^{-} + 0.5 \text{ O}_{2} \longrightarrow \text{NO}_{3}^{-}$$

In fertilized fields the input of  $NH_4^+$  depends on: fertilizer type; the rate and mode of fertilizer application; soil moisture content, infiltration rate, and CEC; and urease activity (in the case of urea). The difference in  $NH_3$  partial pressure between the ambient atmosphere and that in equilibrium with moist soil, floodwater, or the intercellular air space of plant leaves drives ammonia volatilization. The partial pressure of  $NH_3$  in the soil is controlled by the rate of removal of ammonium or  $NH_3$  in solution, or by displacing any of the equilibria in some other way. Wind speed (regulating the exchange between soil and air), temperature, and the pH of the soil solution or irrigation water are important regulating factors, as all three variables affect the partial pressure of  $NH_3$ .

Increasing temperature increases the relative proportion of  $NH_3$  to  $NH_4^+$  present at a given pH, decreases the solubility of  $NH_3$  in water, and increases the diffusion of  $NH_3$  away from the air-water or air-soil interface.

In particular, the pH affects the equilibrium between  $NH_4^+$  and  $NH_3$  so that the relative concentration of  $NH_3$  increases from 0.1 percent to 1, 10 and 50 percent as the pH increases from 6 to ~7, ~8 and ~9, respectively. The volatilization process itself produces acidity. The nitrification process can reduce  $NH_3$  volatilization in two ways: by decreasing  $NH_4^+$  availability; and by producing acidity.

Other variables influencing  $NH_3$  volatilization include the pH buffer capacity and the CEC of the soil. The CEC is important as the negatively charged CEC absorbs the positively charged  $NH_4^+$ . A major part of the soil's  $NH_3$  holding capacity is attributable to soil organic matter.

Other factors include: the level of urease activity (in the case of urea application, or urine); the availability of moisture; soil texture; the nitrification rate; and the presence of plants or plant residues.

The presence of absorbed or added Ca and certain phosphate compounds may influence  $NH_3$  losses in upland systems. The loss of  $NH_3$  may be lower in the presence of Ca due to micro-environmental pH reduction, CaCO<sub>3</sub> formation or Ca-urea double salt formation. Certain acidic phosphate compounds, such as  $H_3PO_4$ ,  $NH_4H_2PO_4$  and  $Ca(H_2PO_4)_2$  may precipitate the micro-environmental Ca and change the environment to favour increased  $NH_3$ . Both the formula (pH) and form of the phosphate added can influence reactions with Ca, and therefore  $NH_3$  losses.

#### **Flooded soils**

Conditions in wetland rice systems require special attention. First, the measurement data in these systems suggest that  $NH_3$  volatilization rates are often higher than in upland systems, and globally they may represent important losses. Second, the conditions in inundated systems with respect to  $NH_3$  volatilization are different from those in upland systems.

In wetland rice systems, factors such as fertilizer type, rate, time and method of application, floodwater depth, and algal growth exert their influences through the primary variables (ammoniacal N concentration, the pH and temperature of floodwater, and wind speed).

The rate of  $NH_3$  loss depends on the equilibrium vapour pressure of  $NH_3$  in floodwater and on wind speed. Wind speed markedly affects  $NH_3$  volatilization from floodwater. For example, data from Philippines field studies show a linear relationship between wind speed and  $NH_3$  volatilization. This also explains why in some studies that used low or no air-exchange enclosure techniques or forced draught methods  $NH_3$  loss rates were low even with high N application rates.

The vapour pressure of  $NH_3$  in floodwater is a function of the ammoniacal N concentration, pH and temperature. The content of aqueous  $NH_3$  in floodwater increases by about a factor of 10 per unit increase in pH in the pH range 7.5-9. A linear function at a given total ammoniacal N concentration best describes the dependency of aqueous  $NH_3$  on temperature. Furthermore, water evaporation losses, which may be high under tropical conditions, will generally lead to increasing activity of  $NH_4^+$ , thus influencing the chemical equilibria.

Processes that potentially affect the ammoniacal concentration of floodwater and indirectly the  $NH_3$  loss include urease activity, cation exchange and N immobilization. Furthermore, assimilation of  $NH_4^+$  by algae, weeds and rice plants can decrease the quantity of ammoniacal N. The competitiveness of rice plants for  $NH_4^+$  varies with growth stage. One study found that plants contained negligible amounts of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled urea 1 week after broadcast and incorporated urea, and less than 10 percent of urea broadcast to floodwater 2-3 weeks after transplanting, and about 40 percent of the <sup>15</sup>N in urea applied at panicle initiation.

In sandy soils or soils with low CEC the fertilizer treatment may result in high ammoniacal concentrations in the floodwater, with large losses of applied N despite incorporation of the fertilizer. In flooded rice fields the pH of floodwater appears to be synchronized with the cycles of photosynthesis and net respiration, i.e. the depletion and addition of  $CO_2$  to the floodwater. Carbon dioxide in solution, as a product of the photosynthesis and respiratory balance of aquatic organisms, and occurring as undissociated carbonic acid, bicarbonate and carbonate ions is the buffering system that regulates the water pH. Water pH values of 9.5-10 can occur in shallow floodwater populated by aquatic biota under high solar radiation, rising during the day and dropping at night. Diurnal pH variations of 2-3 units are not uncommon where fertilizer N is broadcast in rice fields.

The correlation between water pH and the carbonic acid system in water is complex, but in its simplified form it can be characterized by the electroneutrality condition:

#### $[H^+] = [HCO_3^-] = 2[CO_3^2^-] + [OH^-]$

and equilibrium activities:  $-\log[H^+] = -\log[HCO_3^-] = 5.65; -\log[CO_2 aq.] = -\log[H_2CO_3] = 5.0$  (as a non-volatile acid);  $-\log[H_2CO_3] \sim 7.8; -\log[CO_3^{2^-}] = 8.5$ . In shallow-water systems found in flooded rice cultivation there is  $CO_2$  exchange between the various submerged aquatic plant species and the water. The major organisms are algal forms, which develop quickly into a large biomass. The generalized reaction involving the plant biochemistry of  $CO_2$  is as follows:

$$nCO_2 + nH_2O \xrightarrow{\text{Respiration}} (CH_2O)n + nO_2$$
  
Photosynthesis

The photomineral process decreases the net activities of  $[CO_2aq.] + [H_2CO_3]$ during favourable daylight periods, but when respiratory activity exceeds photosynthesis  $H_2CO_3$ , acidity and the total concentration of dissolved carbonic acid increase. A number of complex relationships exist in the system, such as reactions of  $CO_2$  with alkaline earth minerals, carbonates, and divalent cations. Factors that also affect water pH in flooded soil systems are: soil type, its electrical conductivity, and previous cropping history; soil management practices such as puddling; and the quality of the irrigation water.

Fertilizer management and the stage of crop development influence the magnitude of the diurnal fluctuation of the pH of floodwater, probably through their effect on the algal biomass. A strong increase in the maximum values of the floodwater pH occurs after urea application. Because phosphorous is also generally applied at this time, the algal biomass increases rapidly. In one study,

in some fields the floodwater pH did not increase as much due to the absence of algal growth, a fact attributed to the weather conditions during the rice crop at that location in China in that particular year. Diurnal variations in floodwater pH found at panicle initiation when the crop shades the floodwater are generally smaller than in early stages of the growing season.

As  $NH_3$  volatilization produces acidity, alkalinity (primarily  $HCO_3^-$  in floodwater) must therefore be present to buffer the production of  $H^+$  to sustain  $NH_3$  volatilization. Where farmers use urea as a fertilizer, its hydrolysis is the major source of  $HCO_3^-$ . When ammonium sulphate (AS) is applied, the irrigation water is probably the major source of alkalinity. Even with low alkalinity in floodwater, evapotranspiration and repeated irrigation may cause a build up of alkalinity. Additional alkalinity may result from increased soil reduction at night coupled with  $CO_2$  production.

Fertilizer management, through its influence on the concentration of ammoniacal N in the floodwater, has a pronounced effect on overall NH<sub>3</sub> loss. NH<sub>3</sub> losses are generally highest with applications of urea or ammonium sulphate fertilizer 2-3 weeks after transplanting the rice. Volatilization rates are much lower for ammonium sulphate and urea applications a few days before panicle initiation of the rice crop (commonly ~50-60 days after sowing), or at booting (~65-70 days after sowing). The reason is that the rice crop reduces wind speed and thus NH<sub>3</sub> exchange between the water surface and the air, the crop shades that floodwater and thus reduces algal growth. This causes lower pH levels and smaller amplitudes in the daily pH cycle than in fields with no or small rice plants.

The incorporation of urea to puddled soil, when done without standing floodwater, also reduces  $NH_3$  losses. The cause of this reduction may be a better contact of the fertilizer with the soil and an associated increase in the reaction of the ammonium ions formed with the cation exchange sites and the immobilizing micro-organisms. Another possible cause may be a reduction of algal growth as a result of lower ammoniacal concentration of the floodwater. The incorporation of urea in the presence of floodwater was effective only in soils with a high CEC.

# Chapter 3 Measurement techniques

An analysis of the literature reveals that many of techniques for measuring  $N_2O$  and NO emissions and  $NH_3$  volatilization fall into two main categories: chamber (or enclosure) and micrometeorological techniques, although other techniques are available. A study by Lapitan *et al.* (1999) provides detailed information on the various measurement techniques and the concentration measurements. Table 3 provides a list of the various measurement techniques.

| TABLE 3.<br>Measuremen | t technique codes                                                                                                 |
|------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Code                   | Explanation                                                                                                       |
|                        |                                                                                                                   |
| с                      | Chamber technique, closed                                                                                         |
| cfd                    | Chamber technique, forced draught                                                                                 |
| со                     | Soil core incubation method                                                                                       |
| cso                    | Chamber technique, semi-open chamber                                                                              |
| g                      | Soil $N_2/N_2O$ gradient method, based on gas concentration gradient in the soil profile                          |
| ioc                    | Indirect open measurement in air with comparison to plots with standard fluxes                                    |
| m                      | Micrometeorological technique                                                                                     |
| m, ba                  | Bulk aerodynamic micrometeorological technique                                                                    |
| m, fg                  | Flux gradient micrometeorological technique                                                                       |
| m, mb                  | Mass balance micrometeorological technique                                                                        |
| <sup>15</sup> N        | <sup>15</sup> N isotope recovery                                                                                  |
| Nbal                   | N balance method, i.e. complete N balance of soil-crop system                                                     |
| Ndif                   | N-difference method, i.e. N input $(t = 0)$ - Nsoil $(t = t)$ for laboratory experiments with bare soil           |
| ocb                    | Open and closed containers, where the difference in N content in soil + water is assumed equal to the $NH_3$ loss |
| wt                     | Wind tunnel                                                                                                       |

#### **CHAMBER TECHNIQUES**

Enclosure or chamber techniques involve the use of cuvettes, chambers or boxes placed over the bare soil surface or surfaces with low vegetation cover. There is little uniformity in design of the enclosures used, but they can be described in their variation from being completely sealed (closed) to the atmosphere, to open on two ends with some means of varying wind speed over the measurement surface (forced draught) to simulate that found in the field. The current types of chambers vary in basal sampling area from <1 m<sup>2</sup> to  $5.76 \text{ m}^2$  to  $64 \text{ m}^2$ . Larger cover boxes integrate spatial variability and the number of replications per plot can be reduced.

Concentration measurements in chamber techniques are generally made with a gas chromatograph-electron capture detector for  $N_2O$ , and chemiluminiscense detection techniques for NO. NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization is determined by chemical trapping, followed by elution of the NH<sub>3</sub> with distilled water and measurement of its concentration. Various types of NH<sub>3</sub> traps and analytical techniques have been used.

Closed chambers (c) include those with no forced or enhanced circulation in which emitted gases are allowed to accumulate or with closed-loop chambers where gases are circulated. The  $N_2O$  or NO gas flux from closed chambers can be calculated by periodically collecting gas samples from the chamber and measuring the change in concentration of gas with time during the period of linear concentration change. Ammonia volatilization is determined from the NH<sub>3</sub> accumulated in the chemical trap.

Advantages of the closed chamber include: (i) small fluxes can be measured; (ii) chambers are cheap, simple to construct, install and remove, and no extra equipment requiring electrical supply is needed; (iii) the disturbance of the site is limited due to the short time during which the chamber is in place for each flux measurement.

Disadvantages of closed chambers are:

- 1. Concentrations in the chamber can build up to levels where they inhibit the normal emission rate. This problem can be limited by using short collection periods;
- 2. Closed chambers alter the atmospheric pressure fluctuations normally found at the soil surface. Such fluctuations can cause a pumping action on the surface, hence a closed chamber may underestimate the flux that would have occurred in its absence;

- 3. The soil may be disturbed by the action of placing the cover. This problem can be limited by installing collars in the soil that are normally open to the atmosphere; the chambers are sealed to the collars;
- 4. Differences may occur in rainfall, temperature and moisture between the chamber and the field.

Forced-draught chambers are coupled to the atmosphere via an air inlet through which outside air is continuously drawn into the cover and forced to flow over the enclosed soil surface. The N<sub>2</sub>O or NO gas flux from the soil surface can be calculated from concentration difference, flow rate, and area covered. NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization is determined by chemical trapping of NH<sub>3</sub> in the outgoing airflow. Often the NH<sub>3</sub> is extracted from the air before it enters the chamber, which may lead to over-estimation of the estimated NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rate. For NH<sub>3</sub>, the forced-draught technique is most appropriate for comparisons of N sources, N rates, and various management practices, provided that the airflow does not limit NH<sub>3</sub> exchange. Generally forced draught enclosures aim at determining the maximum NH<sub>3</sub> loss.

The main advantage of forced-draught chambers is that they maintain environmental conditions close to those of the uncovered field. Forceddraught chambers are therefore more applicable for continuous long-term monitoring of gas flux, provided that moisture conditions inside and outside the chamber remain the same.

Forced-draught chambers are sensitive to pressure deficits inside the chamber caused by the forced airflow which may cause artificially high fluxes. This problem can be overcome by ensuring that the size of the inlet is large compared to the size of the outlet. Another problem is that this technique assumes equilibrium flux between soil atmosphere and chamber atmosphere gas concentration. However, the estimated fluxes may be erroneous during the period of equilibration.

A general disadvantage of the use of any type of chamber is that they disrupt the soil and environmental conditions (wind speed, temperature, rainfall, formation of dew). The alteration of soil and environmental factors can be minimized by covering the treated area only for short periods during the measurement, allowing normal conditions to exist between the measurements.

Temporal and spatial variability are major problems in making estimates of gas fluxes observed based on chamber measurements. For example, in a field study using small chambers it was estimated that 350 measurements are required to estimate the  $N_2O$  emission within 10% of the true mean for a 3 m by 30 m plot. As noted above, larger chambers integrate spatial variability and the number of replications per plot can be reduced. The influence of sampling frequencies was investigated by many authors. For example, reducing the frequency from high to daily sampling could result in a calculated mean flux from any chamber that can vary by as much as 20%, even though the calculated mean would be within 10% of the mean from the intensive measurements. Automated chamber measurements of N<sub>2</sub>O flux have become more common recently in response to the recognition of the high temporal variability in the emissions.

Many studies based on chamber techniques have neglected the influence of plants. Often plants are omitted because they are difficult to include in the gas collection system. Plants affect nutrient availability, soil moisture, soil atmosphere and temperature. In addition, plants may play a role in the transport of gases.

A variant of the enclosure technique is the open-sided chamber or plastic cover (cso) to pattern the rate of air exchange of the wind speed outside the chamber. A disadvantage of this technique is that these half-open systems may permit the escape of  $NH_3$  from the chamber.

In a further attempt to minimize differences between enclosures and the field, wind tunnel enclosures (wt) were developed which minimize the disturbance of the natural conditions. In these wind tunnels the airflow through the tunnel can be adjusted to the wind speed outside the tunnel. However, conditions within tunnels may still differ from actual conditions (e.g., rainfall and formation of dew). This problem may be solved partially by frequently moving the tunnel.

#### **MICROMETEOROLOGICAL TECHNIQUES**

Micrometeorological techniques that use analyses of the atmospheric concentration of the gas and meteorological measurements such as wind speed, wet- and dry-bulb air temperatures, net radiation, and heat fluxes do not disturb the environmental conditions. These techniques are used for determining field-scale fluxes, and include eddy correlation, energy balance, aerodynamic and mass balance techniques.

The first three micrometeorological techniques require flux measurements over large areas of uniformly treated crop, with fetches between 150 and 200 m. This is necessary to ensure that fluxes measured at some height above the surface, say 1 or 2 m, represent fluxes from the surface itself. Fluxes are constant with height over vertical distances above the surface of only about 1/100 of the fetch.

Eddy correlation methods use high frequency measurements (typically 10 samples per second) of vertical wind speed w and atmospheric gas concentration c at a point above the surface. The mean vertical flux density of the gas F over sampling periods long enough to encompass all the significant transporting eddies (usually 15 to 30 minutes) is given by:

25

$$F = wc$$

where the overbar denotes a time mean.

Energy balance and aerodynamic techniques both rely on the following expression to calculate gas fluxes:

$$F = K \frac{dc}{dz}$$

where K is the eddy diffusivity of the gas in air and z the height above a crop, soil or floodwater surface at which measurements of c are undertaken. It is necessary to measure c at heights within the constant flux layer. The magnitude of the diffusivity in air varies with height, atmospheric conditions and the aerodynamic roughness of the surface.

Energy balance methods require measurements of vertical gradients of temperature and humidity in the air above the surface to provide estimates of K. Aerodynamic methods require measurements of the vertical profiles of wind velocity and temperature to estimate K. Using a modified aerodynamic method suitable for flooded systems it is possible to calculate the gas flux from measurements of wind speed at one height above the surface and the gaseous concentrations in the floodwater and the air at the reference height.

The mass balance or integrated horizontal flux method is for use on experimental plots with fetches ranging between 20 and 50 m. Based on the conservation of mass, the general method equates the horizontal flux of gas across a face of unit width on the downwind edge of a designated area with the surface emission or absorption of the gas along a strip of similar width upwind. The horizontal flux density at any height is the product of horizontal wind speed u and gas concentration Cg. The total horizontal flux is obtained by integrating that product over the depth of the modified layer Z, which is about 1/10 of the fetch X in neutral conditions, but usually less than that in unstable conditions and more in stable conditions. The average surface flux density is:

 $F = (1/X) \int_{0}^{z} \overline{u(C_g - C_b)} \, dz$ 

where  $C_b$  is the upwind, background concentration and the overbar denotes a time average.

If the wind direction is other than normal to the plot, it is necessary to allow for the effects of wind direction on the fetch. However, it is possible to avoid this by working with a circular plot and measuring the integrated horizontal flux at the plot centre. Regardless of compass direction, the wind will always blow towards the centre and X will always be the plot radius. If the experimental plot is square or rectangular, it will be necessary to measure the horizontal fluxes over the two upwind and the two downwind edges as well as the wind direction.

A major limitation of the mass balance technique is its high labour requirement. However, there is a simpler, less laborious method based on the mass balance technique. In this case estimates of gas fluxes derive from analyses of  $\bar{u}$  and  $\bar{c}$  made at a single height at which the normalized horizontal flux, <sup>UC</sup>/F, has almost the same value in any atmospheric stability regime. To use the simplified mass balance micrometeorological technique, it is necessary to satisfy two requirements: the treated plots should be small (20-50 m radius), and located within a larger plot of uniform crop surface so that the wind profiles are equilibrium ones. However, the technique is not appropriate for fields with well-established canopies as single measurements will not be adequate to predict the strongly modified wind and concentration profiles.

For  $NH_3$  all micrometeorological methods determine atmospheric gas concentrations by chemical trapping, followed by elution of the  $NH_3$  with distilled water and measurement of its concentration. The literature on micrometeorological studies records various types of  $NH_3$  traps and analytical techniques. Many studies of  $N_2O$  and NO emissions have used micrometeorological methods. Micrometeorological techniques employed for measuring  $N_2O$  and NO fluxes are similar to those used for estimating  $NH_3$ fluxes. However, the concentration measurements are more difficult and require specialised instrumentation such as tuneable diode laser trace gas analysers or Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy for  $N_2O$  concentrations, and chemiluminescense detection techniques for NO.

#### INDIRECT OPEN MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUE

The indirect open measurement technique (ioc) relies on a comparison between sources of known and unknown  $NH_3$  volatilization. A network of point sources in a plastic tubing system on the surface releases ammonia at a

known rate from a standard plot. Samplers with acid traps measure the ammonia in the air over the standard and the manured plots. The advantages of this technique over others, such as wind tunnels, are its limited technical requirements and the unaltered climatic conditions.

#### <sup>15</sup>N, N BALANCE AND N DIFFERENCE METHODS

N balance techniques determine the difference of N applied and that remaining in soil and crop after some time. A simplification of a complete N balance is the N difference method for uncropped soils to determine the difference between the N applied + the N remaining in control treatments, and the N remaining in the treated plots or samples. The loss of N from the system is commonly attributed to  $NH_3$  volatilization, while the role of other pathways of N loss, such as denitrification and leaching, is ignored. As in most cases this method has been applied to flooded systems amended with urea and  $NH_{4^+}$ yielding fertilizers, denitrification has been assumed to be negligible during the time period considered.

<sup>15</sup>N balance techniques can analyse the fate of the applied <sup>15</sup>N labelled N fertilizer in soil and crop (and floodwater). Measurements of NH<sub>3</sub> loss with, for example, micrometeorological methods in conjunction with <sup>15</sup>N techniques have been used to estimate the denitrification loss. This is possible if runoff and leaching losses are also known or if these loss pathways are preventable.

Because environmental as well as chemical and biological factors affect NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization from fertilized soils, it is advisable to determine NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization using techniques that cause no or minimum disturbance to the field environment. The micrometeorological and <sup>15</sup>N balance approaches both meet this requirement. However, <sup>15</sup>N balance techniques produce estimates of total N loss. Hence, for determining NH<sub>3</sub> loss and denitrification, a combination of <sup>15</sup>N balance and micrometeorological techniques is the most appropriate approach.

# Chapter 4 Measurements

# NITROUS OXIDE, DENITRIFICATION AND NITRIC OXIDE MEASUREMENTS

#### Fertilizer induced emissions

Like natural soils, unfertilized agricultural fields show emissions of NO and  $N_2O$ . A prerequisite for such emissions is the availability of N, which is determined primarily by the mineralization of soil organic matter and N deposition. Mineralization rates depend on the history of land use (i.e. previous crop, residue management and fertilization).

To estimate the anthropogenic effect on emissions many authors have used the concept of the fertilizer induced emission (i.e. the emission from the fertilized plot minus that of the control plot expressed as a percentage of the N applied). In this concept, the emission from the control plot is assumed to be equivalent to the natural or background emission.

Tables 4 and 5 present the calculations of fertilizer induced emission for different fertilizer types irrespective of the length of the measurement period, climate and soil conditions. Not all measurements included control plots, hence the number of measurements for the fertilizer induced emission is smaller than that for the total  $N_2O$  or NO emission.

#### Nitrous oxide

The measurements in the data set from the literature since 1995 have not changed significantly from earlier results found using a subset of the present data set except for the high mean values for nitrate-based fertilizers and the high maximum values for ammonium sulphate and urea (Table 4). These results stem from one experiment in Costa Rica, with extremely high emissions. The authors of these measurements speculated that emissions in the tropics may exceed those in temperate regions as a result of the temperature and moisture conditions which are prone to high  $N_2O$  losses. However, the high maximum values in the data set for injected anhydrous ammonia were from measurements in a temperate climate: 7.3 percent and 6.8 percent.

The mean and median values for the fertilizer induced emission for various fertilizer types (Table 4) show important differences, indicating that the emission rates are not normally distributed.

| TABLE 4.<br>Fertilizer in | duced N <sub>2</sub> O | emission, % | calculated d       | irectly from the   | e data set |      |
|---------------------------|------------------------|-------------|--------------------|--------------------|------------|------|
| Fertilizer<br>type        | Mean                   | Median      | Standard deviation | No.<br>measurement | Max.<br>s  | Min. |
| AA                        | 2.0                    | 1.4         | 2.2                | 26                 | 7.3        | 0.0  |
| ACI                       | 0.1                    | 0.1         | 0.1                | 9                  | 0.4        | 0.0  |
| AN                        | 1.7                    | 1.0         | 1.8                | 50                 | 7.1        | 0.0  |
| AS                        | 0.8                    | 0.2         | 2.4                | 22                 | 11.4       | 0.0  |
| CAN                       | 1.2                    | 0.7         | 1.5                | 40                 | 8.3        | 0.0  |
| CN                        | 1.5                    | 0.4         | 3.5                | 11                 | 12.0       | 0.0  |
| KN                        | 2.4                    | 0.1         | 4.4                | 12                 | 12.5       | 0.0  |
| Mix                       | 1.0                    | 0.7         | 1.0                | 8                  | 2.4        | 0.1  |
| AP                        | 1.4                    | 0.8         | 1.8                | 11                 | 6.3        | 0.3  |
| 0                         | 0.6                    | 0.3         | 0.7                | 45                 | 3.3        | 0.0  |
| OS                        | 2.4                    | 1.9         | 1.8                | 25                 | 6.8        | 0.2  |
| Urea                      | 1.1                    | 0.3         | 2.7                | 48                 | 14.7       | 0.0  |
| UAN                       | 1.0                    | 0.5         | 2.0                | 34                 | 10.8       | 0.0  |

Bouwman (1996) concluded that the length of the measurement period strongly influences the fertilizer induced  $N_2O$  emission. The N input from fertilizer appears to have an effect that lasts longer than the crop growing season. Figure 2 presents the relation between fertilizer N application rate and the measured  $N_2O$  emission for the measurements with a measurement period equal to or longer than one year present in the data set. Contrary to the results of Bouwman (1996), Figure 2 shows that there is no clear relation between N application rate and annual emission.



#### FIGURE 2. Fertilizer N application and nitrous oxide emission

#### Nitric oxide

The data on fertilizer induced NO emissions from fertilized fields also show important differences between the mean and median values (Table 5). The median values for the fertilizer induced NO emission are lower than those for  $N_2O$ , with typical values of 0.1-0.4 percent, with the exception of the data for ammonium nitrate (AN) and ammonium sulphate. The high values for ammonium nitrate stem from one publication, while those for ammonium sulphate are from three measurements.

#### TABLE 5.

Fertilizer induced NO emission (%) and the  $\rm NO/N_2O$  ratio, calculated directly from the data set

|                 | Mean | Median | Standard | No. | Max. | Min. | NO/N <sub>2</sub> O | Standard | No. |
|-----------------|------|--------|----------|-----|------|------|---------------------|----------|-----|
|                 | 0.1  | 0.1    | 03       | 8   | 1    | 0    | nd                  | nd       |     |
| AN              | 3.8  | 0.3    | 5.6      | 10  | 13   | 0    | 0.6                 | 0.8      | 9   |
| AS              | 3.5  | 3.2    | 1.1      | 3   | 5    | 3    | 5.7                 | 1.5      | 2   |
| CAN             | 0.2  | 0.4    | 0.3      | 8   | 0    | 0    | 1.1                 | 1.1      | 6   |
| NO <sub>3</sub> | 0.3  | 0.1    | 0.5      | 7   | 2    | 0    | n.d.                | n.d.     | 0   |
| 0               | 0.0  | 0.0    | 0.1      | 4   | 0    | 0    | 0.4                 | 0.1      | 4   |
| Urea            | 0.9  | 0.2    | 1.2      | 9   | 3    | 0    | 0.5                 | 0.6      | 10  |

# Hutchinson and Brams (1992) observed high NO:N<sub>2</sub>O ratios in a Mediterranean climate. Harrison *et al.* (1995) observed the high values for calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN) at Rothamsted, the United Kingdom. However, the number of measurements is small, and the high standard

deviation of the NO: $N_2O$  ratio suggests that the uncertainty is high.

Figure 3 presents the relationship between N fertilizer application rate and NO emission from all the studies in the data set. It indicates that there is no clear relationship between N application rate and NO emission. This contrasts with Veldkamp and Keller (1997a) who concluded that 0.5 percent of the N applied as fertilizer is lost as NO (on the basis of a subset of the data used in this report).





# Analysis of regulating factors of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide emissions

The above discussion indicates that it is not possible to use simple relationships between fertilizer N application rates and emissions. The reason for the lack of correlation is that the data set includes measurements from a variety of locations with differing climate, soil, crop and management conditions. This calls for a different approach whereby the data set is summarized based on the factors that regulate  $N_2O$  and NO emissions.

#### Data handling

The factors selected for the data summary include: climate, crop type, fertilizer type, application rate, mode and timing of application, soil organic C and N content, soil pH, soil texture and drainage, measurement technique, frequency of measurements and length of the measurement period. The analysis did not include organic soils.

| TABLE 6.<br>Climate code | es                          |
|--------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Code                     | Climate type                |
| Clim1                    | Temperate continental       |
| Clim2                    | Temperate oceanic           |
| Clim3                    | Subtropical, summer rains   |
| Clim4                    | Subtropical, winter rains   |
| Clim5                    | Tropical, warm humid        |
| Clim6                    | Tropical, warm seasonal dry |
| Clim7                    | Cool tropics                |
| Clim8                    | Boreal                      |

Based on Fresco et al. (1998) using criteria of the FAO Agro-Ecological Zones approach (de Pauw et al., 1996).

Table 6 presents the classification used for climate. The description of the differences in soil conditions uses functional groupings based on: soil texture, drainage, soil organic C and N content, and soil reaction (pH) (Table 16, Annex 2). Crops were grouped into five crop types: grass, grass-clover mixtures, wetland rice, legumes and other crops. Table 16 also shows the groupings for fertilizer types, application rate, and mode and for timing of fertilizer application (excluding measurements with grazing and fertilizer type CAN with grazing, and organic soil texture).

Table 3 summarizes the different measurement techniques in the data set. The classes used for the length of the measurement period were: <120, 120-180, 180-240, 240-300 and >300 days. The groupings for frequency of measurement were: more than one measurement per day, one per day, one every 2-3 days, one every 3-7 days, less than one per week. Many studies have used variable measurement frequencies, with measurements that are more intensive shortly after fertilization and lower frequencies when emission rates dropped to background levels. In such cases, we selected the highest frequency. The groupings for the NO measurement data are different because of scarcity of data (Table 16).

On the basis of the classification for the different factors, the data set was summarized by calculating for each factor class: mean, median, balanced mean and balanced median values of the measured emission of  $N_2O$  and NO.

Balanced mean values indicate unbalanced features of mean values. They were calculated with the residual maximum likelihood procedure. The balanced median indicates unbalanced features and extreme values present in the median. Balanced median values were calculated with the residual maximum likelihood procedure using log-transformed emissions. Logtransformation reduces the influence of extreme values. Back-transformation yields a balanced mean value for the emission.

Subsequently, the most important factors in the data set explaining logtransformed N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions were selected. The residual maximum likelihood procedure was done with research paper as a random effect, using the WALD statistic to select the most important factors (P < 0.005). For the selected factors with significant influence on the N<sub>2</sub>O emission residual maximum likelihood models were developed to predict emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO. The formulation for the emission models for N<sub>2</sub>O and NO is:

$$ln (Emission) = \sum_{n}^{1} Factor class (n)$$

with *Emission* expressed as N in kg/ha. Back-transformation of the result of this equation yields the emission. Table 7 presents the different class values of the model terms.

| TABLE 7.<br>Values of const       | ants and | factor class | ses in the m | odels for $N_2$ | O and NO |        |
|-----------------------------------|----------|--------------|--------------|-----------------|----------|--------|
| Model term                        | Class/   | value        |              |                 |          |        |
| N <sub>2</sub> O model            |          |              |              |                 |          |        |
| Constant                          | -0.414   |              |              |                 |          |        |
| Fertilizer type*<br>N application |          |              |              |                 |          |        |
| rate interaction <sup>a</sup>     | AA       | AF           | AN           | CAN             | NF       | Mix    |
|                                   | 0.0056   | 0.0051       | 0.0061       | 0.0037          | 0.0034   | 0.0065 |
|                                   | NP       | 0            | OS           | UU              | UAN      |        |
|                                   | 0.0039   | 0.0021       | 0.0042       | 0.0051          | 0.0053   |        |
| Crop type                         | Other    | Grass        | Clover       | Legume          | Rice     |        |
|                                   | 0.000    | -1.268       | -1.242       | -0.023          | -2.536   |        |
| Soil texture                      | Coarse   | Medium       | Fine         |                 |          |        |
|                                   | -0.008   | -0.472       | 0.000        |                 |          |        |

| Soil organic                 |                   |         |           |           |        |       |
|------------------------------|-------------------|---------|-----------|-----------|--------|-------|
| C content (%)                | <1.0              | 1.0-3.0 | 3.0-6.0   | >6.0      |        |       |
|                              | 0.000             | 0.140   | 0.580     | 1.045     |        |       |
| Soil drainage                | Poor              | Good    |           |           |        |       |
|                              | 0.000             | -0.420  |           |           |        |       |
| Soil pH                      | <5.5              | 5.5-7.3 | >7.3      |           |        |       |
|                              | 0.000             | 0.109   | -0.352    |           |        |       |
| Climateb                     | Temp.             | Trop.   |           |           |        |       |
|                              | 0.000             | 0.824   |           |           |        |       |
| Length of                    |                   |         |           |           |        |       |
| measurement                  | -120              | 120-190 | 190-240   | 240-200   | >200   |       |
| period (days)                | <120              | 0.004   | 0 497     | 240-300   | >300   |       |
| <b>-</b>                     | 0.000             | 0.004   | 0.467     | 0.007     | 0.825  |       |
| Frequency of<br>measurements | s >1m./d          | 1m./d   | 1m./2-3 d | 1m./3-7 d | <1m./w |       |
|                              | 0.000             | 0 125   | 1 639     | 0.825     | 0 788  |       |
| NO model                     | 0.000             | 0.120   | 1.000     | 0.020     | 0.100  |       |
| Constant                     | -1.527            |         |           |           |        |       |
| Fertilizer type*             |                   |         |           |           |        |       |
| N application                |                   |         |           |           |        |       |
| rate interaction             | n <sup>a</sup> AA | AF      | AN        | CAN       | NF     | Mi    |
|                              | 0.0051            | 0.0056  | 0.0040    | 0.0062    | 0.0054 | 0.007 |
|                              | NP                | 0       | OS        | UU        | UAN    |       |
|                              | 0.0055            | 0.0016  | 0.0055    | 0.0061    | 0.0004 |       |
| Soil organic C               |                   |         |           |           |        |       |
| content (%)                  | <3.0              | >3.0    |           |           |        |       |
|                              | 0.000             | 2.571   |           |           |        |       |
| Soil drainage                | Poor              | Good    |           |           |        |       |
|                              | 0.000             | 0.946   |           |           |        |       |
|                              |                   |         |           |           |        |       |

a. The values presented are multiplied with the N application rate under consideration. The values presented here were used to estimate emissions for the fertilizer types distinguished by IFA (1999). For ammonium sulphate, ammonium chloride and ammonium bicarbonate, the values for AF were used; for NKN, that for NF; for urea, that for UU; for nitrogen solutions (Ns), that for Mix; for ammonium phosphates, compound NP and NPK N fertilizers, those for NP.

b. Temp: temperate climates, including temperate oceanic and continental, cool tropical, boreal and polar/alpine. Trop: tropical climates, include subtropics winter rains, subtropics summer rains, tropics, warm humid, and tropics warm seasonal dry.

#### Data interpretation for nitrous oxide emissions

Although Table 16 presents the mean, median, balanced mean and balanced median values for the measured  $N_2O$  emissions for all systems for all the factors under consideration, the discussion here concentrates on the balanced median values.

The balanced median values for N application rate are nearly constant emissions below 100 kg N/ha, and emissions increase along with the N application at rates exceeding 100 kg N/ha. Mean and median values show a similar pattern, except for rates of 1-50 kg N/ha which show higher values than the 50-100 kg N/ha class. The trend is highest at rates exceeding 250 kg N/ha.

The balanced median for Clim1 exceeds that for Clim2, reflecting the observed winter emissions which are higher for Clim1 than for Clim2. The balanced median for subtropical climates exceeds that for Clim1 by 94 percent, and that for Clim2 by 127 percent. The balanced median value for  $N_2O$  emission in Clim5 exceeds that for Clim1 by 37 percent and that for Clim2 by 60 percent. Results for Clim6, Clim7 and Clim8 are more uncertain than for the other climate types due to the limited number of measurements.

For soil organic C content and soil N content the balanced median values indicate increasing  $N_2O$  emission along with increasing C and N content. The difference in the balanced median value between soils with >3-6 percent soil organic C and those with <1 percent is 38 percent, while the balanced median for soils with organic C content >6 percent exceeds those with <1 percent organic C by 113 percent. For soil N content the balanced median value for soils with 0.15-0.3 percent N exceeds that for 0.05-0.15 percent N by 38 percent. The number of observations in the other classes is limited and the calculated values are less certain.

The balanced median value for fine soil texture exceeds that for coarse texture by 8 percent and that for medium soil texture by 59 percent. The balanced median value for soil drainage exceeds that from well-drained soils by 35 percent. The balanced median value is highest for soils with intermediate soil pH (5.5-7.3) exceeding those for soils with pH < 5.5 by 7 percent and those with pH >7.7 by 49 percent.

The highest balanced median values are for mixed fertilizers, anhydrous ammonia and OS, respectively, while those for the  $NO_3^-$ -based and NP fertilizers (NF and NP) are lowest. The differences between highest and lowest values are 103-109 percent. The high values for anhydrous ammonia and OS and low values for NF are consistent with earlier studies.

Global Estimates of Gaseous Emissions of NH<sub>3</sub>, NO and N<sub>2</sub>O from Agricultural Land **37** 

The difference between broadcasting and incorporation is small. Broadcasting at panicle initiation (bpi) in wetland rice cultivation leads to a reduction in  $N_2O$  emissions compared to broadcasting 2-3 weeks after transplanting by 23 percent, reflecting more efficient plant N uptake. The balanced median values for split applications exceed those for single applications only slightly.

The balanced median values are highest for leguminous crops, followed by other crops, grass, wetland rice and grass-clover mixtures. The balanced median value for other crops exceeds that for grass by 121 percent, and that for rice by more than a factor of 7. The balanced median value for leguminous crops exceeds that for the other crops class by 37 percent. Lower emissions for grass than for other crops may result from more efficient N uptake by grass as a result of longer growing periods, particularly in temperate climates.

The differences in balanced median values between the micrometeorological technique and open and closed chamber methods are 46 and 23 percent, respectively, while the balanced median value for the gradient technique is highest and that for the open chamber technique lowest. In most cases there is an increase of measured N<sub>2</sub>O along with the length of the measurement period. The balanced median value for measurements covering more than 300 days exceeds that for periods of 240-300, 180-240 and <180 days by 54, 72 and 172 percent, respectively. Many measurements cover at most a half year (<180 days), and yield only part of the annual emission and probably only part of the fertilizer effect. In general, high-frequency measurements show the lowest balanced median values, with the highest values at intermediate frequency (1 measurement in 2-3 days).

In summary, the results of the data summary agree with the literature. Regarding the factors determining the N availability, the results show that: (i) there is a strong increase of  $N_2O$  emissions along with N application rates; (ii) warm climates show higher  $N_2O$  emissions than temperate climates; and (iii) fertile soils with high organic C and N contents show higher emissions than less fertile soils.

Regarding factors influencing the  $N_2O:N_2$  ratio, fine soil texture, restricted drainage, and neutral to slightly acidic soil reaction are conditions that favour  $N_2O$  production and emission. Furthermore, emissions from grasslands are lower than for crops. With respect to measurement techniques, the results indicate that longer measurement periods yield more of the fertilization effect on  $N_2O$  emissions. This finding confirms the conclusions of an earlier study. Finally, intensive measurements (>1 per day) yield lower emissions than less intensive measurements, which is in agreement with other studies.

The following factors had a significant influence (P < 0.005): N application rate per fertilizer type, climate type, soil organic C, soil texture, drainage, pH, crop type, length of experiment and frequency of measurements. The most important factors are the interactions between the N application rate and the fertilizer type and the crop type.

All the factors with significant influence on emissions were included in a REML model (see equation in the section on data handling). The values of the model terms are presented in Table 7. To calculate the full annual  $N_2O$  emission with this model the class >300 days for length of the measurement period was used, while emission estimates based on frequencies of more than one measurement per day were considered to be more reliable than measurements with lower frequencies.

#### Data interpretation for nitric oxide emissions

Table 17 (Annex 2) presents the calculated values for the mean, median, balanced mean and balanced median for the measured emissions. The balanced median values show a consistent increase in emissions with increasing N application rate, which is in line with generally observed trends in the literature. The balanced median values are highest for Clim3, and the balanced median value for Clim5 is 10 percent higher than that for Clim1, while it is 9 percent lower than that for Clim2. The balanced median value for Clim3 exceeds that for Clim1 by more than a factor of 5, and those for Clim2 and Clim5 by more than a factor of 4.

The balanced median value for soils with a soil organic C content of >3 percent exceeds that for soil with <3 percent by a factor of 5, which is in agreement with the results for  $N_2O$  emissions. Contrary to the results for  $N_2O$  for soil texture, the balanced median value for NO emission for coarse soil texture exceeds that for medium texture by 160 percent and that for fine texture by 148 percent.

Except for the median values, all values for well drained soils exceed those for poorly drained soils, a reflection of the fact that high NO emission requires aerobic conditions. Soil pH has a marked effect on NO emissions, with higher balanced median values for low pH soils (pH<5.5) compared with soils with pH >5.5; a finding in agreement with the literature.

The fertilizer types that are well represented in the data set include the  $NH_4^+$ -yielding fertilizers, AN,  $NO_3^-$  - yielding fertilizers, urea and urine. In

this group of fertilizer types the highest balanced median values are for AN, exceeding those for AF, NF and UU by 75, 17 and 26 percent, respectively.

The balanced median value for broadcasting exceeds that for incorporation by more than a factor of 5 and that for application in solution by 124 percent. For timing of fertilizer application, comparisons between the different classes are difficult due to uncertainty in the values for split application schemes.

The balanced median values for other crops exceed those for grass and leguminous crops by 85 and 176 percent, respectively. The data for wetland rice are too scarce for drawing any conclusions.

The balanced median value for open chambers exceeds that for closed chambers by 24 percent. Most measurements covered less than 120 days, with lower balanced median values than for measurements covering >120 days. This suggests that also for NO the measurement period may be important when assessing measurements from literature. However, although the data available for measurement periods of >300 days are scarce, the results suggest that the effect of N application on NO emissions is less long-lasting than for N<sub>2</sub>O. High-frequency measurements (>1 measurement per day) of NO emission show lower balanced median values than measurements with lower frequencies. This pattern is in general agreement with the results for N<sub>2</sub>O.

In summary, for the factors that determine N availability, the data indicate that NO emissions increase along with N application rates, and that warm climates and fertile soils with high C contents favour NO emission. For factors influencing the relative rate of NO emission, the data show that NO emissions are highest for coarse textured and neutral soils. Longer measurement periods yield higher emissions than short measurement periods although this effect is less certain than for N<sub>2</sub>O due to the smaller number of measurement data. As with N<sub>2</sub>O, high-frequency measurements yield lower emission estimates than lower frequencies. All these findings agree with the general understanding of the controls of NO fluxes.

The factors that exert a significant influence on NO emissions are: N application rate per fertilizer type, soil organic C content and drainage. The influence of climate is not significant. NO emissions appear to be much more concentrated in the crop growing season than  $N_2O$ . During the growing season, climatic conditions differ less between climate types than during other periods such as winter, spring and autumn.

#### Measurements

#### Global Estimates of Gaseous Emissions of NH<sub>3</sub>, NO and N<sub>2</sub>O from Agricultural Land **41**

#### SUMMARY OF AMMONIA VOLATILIZATION MEASUREMENTS

Rather than presenting the complete data set, this section summarizes the data for the major fertilizer types for upland and flooded systems.

#### **Upland systems**

#### Anhydrous ammonia

The analysis of the literature found only a few measurements for anhydrous ammonia, an indication that  $NH_3$  volatilization from this fertilizer is low. This is probably related to the mode of application (usually injection), and volatilization losses may occur when the injector does not penetrate deep enough, or when the soil is either too wet or too dry. Moreover, the spacing between the lines of injection influences the  $NH_3$  loss, with higher losses associated with close spacing. This is related to the anhydrous ammonia concentration per unit volume of soil, which is higher with close spacing.

#### Ammonium bicarbonate

Few data are available for ammonium bicarbonate (ABC). An  $NH_3$  volatilization rate of 21 percent was measured with the enclosure technique without forced draught. Laboratory measurements with the forced draught technique in calcareous loess soils indicate  $NH_3$  volatilization rates of more than 30 percent, in some cases up to 70 percent.

#### Ammonium nitrate

Measurements with the mass balance technique presented by Jarvis *et al.* (1989a) indicate an  $NH_3$  volatilization rate of 6 percent. However, these measurements refer to grazed grassland, and it is not clear whether the loss is attributable to the fertilizer alone, as part may have been the result of animal excretion in the field. The data indicate that  $NH_3$  volatilization rates are 0-2 percent at low pH, while for soils with high pH and low CEC the loss may exceed 60 percent.

#### Ammonium sulphate

Few micrometeorological measurements are available for trash-covered soils in sugar cane fields.  $NH_3$  volatilization rates were 0-2 percent for ammonium sulphate, which is much lower than observed in some experiments using other techniques.  $NH_3$  volatilization rates of up to 90 percent of the applied N have been reported using forced draught systems for calcareous soils.

#### Calcium ammonium nitrate

Forced draught techniques in laboratory measurements with both slightly acid, neutral and slightly alkaline soils resulted in  $NH_3$  volatilization rates of up to 6 percent, while field measurements with forced draught techniques showed much lower  $NH_3$  volatilization rates. Measurements with wind tunnels on slightly acid soils also showed low  $NH_3$  volatilization rates.

#### Calcium nitrate

Although not an  $NH_4^+$ -based fertilizer, calcium nitrate (CN) has enabled comparisons with other fertilizer types. The difference between the N applied as fertilizer and the N recovered in the crop used as a proxy for  $NH_3$  volatilization loss resulted in low to negligible volatilization rates.

#### Diammonium phosphate

Both the forced draught technique and the N balance method for broadcast diammonium phosphate (DAP) show that NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates are highly variable, ranging from 2 percent to over 50 percent. Laboratory experiments for soils with high pH reported the highest NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates. The N balance method with high pH soils also resulted in high NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates (up to 35 percent). The incorporation of DAP resulted in lower NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates of about 10 percent, about half of the rate observed for broadcast DAP on alkaline soils.

#### Monoammonium phosphate

The forced draught measurements reviewed in the data set yielded  $NH_3$  volatilization rates from broadcast monoammonium phosphate (MAP) ranging between 2 and 35 percent on soils ranging from slightly acid to alkaline. The N balance method showed lower  $NH_3$  losses (8 percent) for broadcast MAP than for DAP on high pH soils. Incorporated MAP showed  $NH_3$  volatilization rates of 2 percent.

#### Urea

Measurements of  $NH_3$  losses from urea fertilizer show a coherent pattern. Results from closed systems, forced draught, micrometeorological and wind tunnel measurements indicate that  $NH_3$  volatilization rates range from 15-20 percent of the applied nitrogen for broadcast fertilizer. For incorporated urea, the  $NH_3$  volatilization rates are between 5 and 15 percent.

#### Urea ammonium nitrate

Volatilization rates of  $NH_3$  from broadcast urea-ammonium nitrate (UAN) measured with micrometeorological techniques were close to 15 percent, with a range of 8 to 18 percent. However, soil pH values were not reported.  $NH_3$  volatilization rates measured with the forced draught technique ranged from negligible amounts to almost 45 percent in a field experiment with broadcast UAN on a heavy textured vertisol. High  $NH_3$  volatilization rates were also observed with the N difference method on neutral to slightly acidic soils.

#### **Flooded systems**

#### Ammonium bicarbonate

The data from micrometeorological methods show that  $NH_3$  volatilization rates from ABC may reach 40 percent. The values obtained for Chinese paddy fields were lower, due to the low pH of the floodwater. However, where  $NH_3$ volatilization rates were low, the total loss of N from ABC was still high as a result of denitrification. The method of application did not influence markedly the  $NH_3$  volatilization in the measurements. For ABC, there were only measurements based on micrometeorological techniques.

#### Ammonium sulphate

The one micrometeorological measurement available for broadcast ammonium sulphate indicates that up to 40 percent of ammonium sulphate-N may volatilize. Volatilization of  $NH_3$  from ammonium sulphate broadcast at panicle initiation may amount to 10 percent, and about 5 percent from incorporated ammonium sulphate applied at transplanting. The seasonal loss of  $NH_3$  from ammonium sulphate incorporated at transplanting and broadcast at panicle initiation was about 5 percent in the Philippines. Enclosure-based measurements show a similar pattern, with  $NH_3$  losses varying between negligible amounts and 20-30 percent for broadcast ammonium sulphate, and between insignificant loss and 6-10 percent for incorporated ammonium sulphate. The measurements with open and closed bottles show high  $NH_3$  volatilization rates from floodwater with a pH of 9-10, and markedly lower from floodwater with a pH <9.5.

#### Urea

Micrometeorological techniques used in flooded rice fields fertilized with urea applied at transplanting of rice show a clear difference in  $NH_3$  volatilization rate between broadcast urea (26 percent; range 0-56 percent) and incorporated

urea (21 percent; range 0-43 percent). Urea applied at panicle initiation gives lower volatilization rates of 7 percent (1-15 percent). Forced draught techniques show NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates of 17 percent for broadcast urea, and higher values of 20 percent for incorporated urea. <sup>15</sup>N techniques give somewhat higher NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates of 28 percent (5-60 percent). Incorporation of urea in the puddled soil before permanent flooding results in NH<sub>3</sub> losses of close to 10 percent (0-16 percent).

#### Summary of regulating factors of ammonia volatilization

#### Data handling

The analysis of the complete set of literature data to assess relationships between the various regulating factors and  $NH_3$  volatilization rates made use of Genstat 5 release 4.1 (PC/Windows NT).

The regulating factors considered consisted of: type of measurement (field or laboratory), measurement technique, soil pH, CEC, and organic carbon content, temperature during measurements, fertilizer type, method of application, N application rate, and type of crop. The analysis did not consider factors for which data were scant. Nor did it consider factors related (indirectly) to weather conditions, such as rainfall during the period of measurements, wind speed, algal growth and associated floodwater pH. This is because it is not possible to use weather conditions for making predictions. Finally, the analysis also excluded studies concerning the use of chemicals such as algicides, urease and nitrification inhibitors. Hence, the analysis involved 1 667 individual measurements (out of a total of 1 900), from 148 different studies.

Table 8 presents the various factor groupings and their classifications. For crop type, the analysis assumed that in upland systems fertilizer is applied at seeding, hence the soil surface is bare. Field and laboratory experiments with non-flooded bare soil were therefore included in this group. The classification of pH values in Table 8 derived from the fact that careful analysis of the data suggested a non-linear relation between soil pH and NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates. Moreover, such a classification would make the relationships compatible with the classifications used in the global data bases of soil properties. The analysis did not consider floodwater pH (an important factor in flooded systems) as it is not possible to use this factor in extrapolations.

| TABL              | E 8.            |          | f          |            |       |                 |        |         |       | WF    | R 94     | 4 20             | 22          | 6          | 2         | 6          |              |               |
|-------------------|-----------------|----------|------------|------------|-------|-----------------|--------|---------|-------|-------|----------|------------------|-------------|------------|-----------|------------|--------------|---------------|
| NH <sub>3</sub> V | olatilizati     | on rates | for vario  | us factors | ;     |                 |        |         |       | N ap  | olicatio | n (kg N/ha)      |             |            |           |            |              |               |
| Facto             | r <b>Est.</b> a | Clas     | s/type/val | ue         |       |                 |        |         |       |       | <50      | 50-100           | 100-150     | 150-200    | 200-250   | >250       | NR           |               |
| Measu             | urement lo      | ocation  |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       | м     | 0.134    | 0.193            | 0.170       | 0.158      | 0.190     | 0.174      | 0.278        |               |
|                   | Field           | Lab.     |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       | BN    | 0.060    | 0.074            | 0.071       | 0.060      | 0.070     | 0.079      | 0.072        |               |
| М                 | 0.159           | 0.235    |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       | WF    | R 13     | 3 58             | 24          | 17         | 11        | 18         | 8            |               |
| BM                | 0.054           | 0.089    |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       | Tem   | erature  | (°C)             |             |            |           |            |              |               |
| WR                | 101             | 47       |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       |       | <20      | ) >20            | NR          |            |           |            |              |               |
| Measu             | urement te      | echnique |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       | м     | 0.178    | 0.212            | 0.176       |            |           |            |              |               |
|                   | С               | cfd      | cso        | ioc        | m     | <sup>15</sup> N | Nbal   | ocb     | wt    | BN    | 0.069    | 0.071            | 0.068       |            |           |            |              |               |
| Μ                 | 0.114           | 0.203    | 0.140      | 0.445      | 0.164 | 0.400           | 0.289  | 0.260   | 0.175 | WF    | R 37     | 26               | 85          |            |           |            |              |               |
| BM                | 0.049           | 0.047    | 0.044      | 0.113      | 0.066 | 0.116           | 0.082  | 0.089   | 0.057 | Soil  | ы        |                  |             |            |           |            |              |               |
| WR                | 13              | 56       | 16         | 1          | 40    | 2               | 5      | 1       | 15    |       | <5.5     | 5 5.5-7.3        | 7.3-8.5     | >8.5       | NR        |            |              |               |
| Crop              |                 |          |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       | м     | 0.153    | 0.174            | 0.215       | 0.221      | 0.188     |            |              |               |
|                   | Upland          | Grass    | Flooded    |            |       |                 |        |         |       | BN    | 0.05     | 0.057            | 0.079       | 0.092      | 0.075     |            |              |               |
| М                 | 0.197           | 0.159    | 0.174      |            |       |                 |        |         |       | WF    | 22       | 2 66             | 32          | 2          | 25        |            |              |               |
| BM                | 0.068           | 0.070    | 0.070      |            |       |                 |        |         |       | Soil  | CEC (cn  | nol/kg)          |             |            |           |            |              |               |
| WR                | 77              | 33       | 38         |            |       |                 |        |         |       |       | <16      | 6 16-24          | 24-32       | >32        | NR        |            |              |               |
| Fertili           | zer type        |          |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       | м     | 0.190    | 0.187            | 0.183       | 0.175      | 0.180     |            |              |               |
|                   | AS              | Urea     | AN         | CAN        | AA    | Nsol.           | CN     | ABC     | UAN   | BN    | 0.079    | 0.075            | 0.083       | 0.050      | 0.065     |            |              |               |
| М                 | 0.187           | 0.210    | 0.081      | 0.022      | 0.001 | 0.044           | 0.005  | 0.152   | 0.124 | WF    | R 30     | ) 24             | 12          | 12         | 70        |            |              |               |
| BM                | 0.112           | 0.140    | 0.048      | 0.022      | 0.029 | 0.034           | 0.010  | 0.130   | 0.105 | Soil  | organic  | C (%)            |             |            |           |            |              |               |
| WR                | 12              | 74       | 4          | 2          | 1     | 0               | 0      | 3       | 5     |       | <1%      | 5 <b>1-2.5</b> % | 2.5-5%      | >5%        | NR        |            |              |               |
|                   | MAP             | DAP      | U+DAP      | U+MAP      | UP    | UUP             | Manure | Grazing | Urine | м     | 0.208    | 0.164            | 0.183       | 0.163      | 0.187     |            |              |               |
| М                 | 0.094           | 0.138    | 0.194      | 0.057      | 0.089 | 0.170           | 0.212  | 0.058   | 0.147 | BN    | 0.070    | 0.059            | 0.074       | 0.085      | 0.062     |            |              |               |
| BM                | 0.025           | 0.089    | 0.122      | 0.036      | 0.054 | 0.111           | 0.160  | 0.038   | 0.142 | WF    | R 25     | 5 42             | 13          | 6          | 61        |            |              |               |
| WR                | 0               | 3        | 1          | 1          | 1     | 1               | 18     | 3       | 6     | Soil  | exture   |                  |             |            |           |            |              |               |
| A                 | N+gra.          | Uc       | U+KCI      | U+Ca       | UCN   | U+FYM           |        |         |       |       | Coarse   | e Medium         | Fine        | Organic    | NR        |            |              |               |
| М                 | 0.280           | 0.134    | 0.177      | 0.264      | 0.062 | 0.143           |        |         |       | М     | 0.164    | 0.207            | 0.188       | 0.026      | 0.145     |            |              |               |
| BM                | 0.204           | 0.093    | 0.099      | 0.154      | 0.045 | 0.095           |        |         |       | BN    | 0.085    | 5 0.116          | 0.096       | 0.025      | 0.068     |            |              |               |
| WR                | 1               | 4        | 2          | 2          | 1     | 2               |        |         |       | WF    | R 30     | 63               | 29          | 1          | 25        |            |              |               |
| Applic            | ation mo        | de       |            |            |       |                 |        |         |       |       |          |                  |             |            |           |            |              |               |
|                   | b;b/w           | i        | s          | bf;i/f     | bpi   | NR              |        |         |       | NR, I | iot repa | orted.           |             |            |           |            |              |               |
| М                 | 0.203           | 0.138    | 0.179      | 0.119      | 0.059 | 0.116           |        |         |       | a. M  | , mean   | ; BM, bala       | nced weig   | ghted med  | dian; WR, | weight rep | presentation | 1. M and BM a |
| BM                | 0.103           | 0.051    | 0.086      | 0.053      | 0.050 | 0.092           |        |         |       | expre | essed as | a fraction       | of the fert | ilizer N a | pplied.   |            |              |               |

The soil texture classification in Table 8 consists of three broad groupings: coarse (including sand, loamy sand, sandy loam, loam, silty loam and silt), medium (sandy clay loam, clay loam and silty clay loam) and fine (sandy clay, silty clay and clay).

The next step was to make a summary of the data by determining straightforward mean values (M) for the  $NH_3$  volatilization rate for each class of all the regulating factors (Table 8). Because values from one source are probably not independent, each data source received an equal weighting to calculate these means. Weighting has no systematic influence on the result in the case of independent values. However, by weighting, only 148 degrees of freedom remain instead of the 1 667 of the full data set. The weight representation (WR) given for each factor class (Table 8) depends on the number of studies reporting  $NH_3$  volatilization rates for this factor class and the number of  $NH_3$  volatilization rates reported in each study. As the data set includes results of 148 different studies, the maximum value of WR is 148. Where, for example, a factor class occurs with nine others in only one study the weight representation is 0.1.

Next, all NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates were log transformed. This reduced the influence of outliers, particularly the extremely high NH<sub>3</sub> loss rates in the data set. The residual distribution of the log-transformed NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates is closer to a normal distribution, and back-transformation results in an estimate of the median value for the NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rate estimated rather than the mean. Effects or differences between factor classes were shown and studied by determining balanced weighted medians (BM) for the NH<sub>3</sub> loss rate for each factor class, eliminating the influence of the other factors considered. Table 8 presents the back-transformed values for the balanced weighted medians. The analysis did not study the effects of specific combinations of different factors on NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates (interaction effects) because: (i) analysing the data set for all such combinations is difficult given the number of factors and classes; and, (ii) a priori knowledge of such combinations was not available.

The next stage was to develop a linear regression model (summary model) for log-transformed weighted values of  $NH_3$  volatilization rates, and to use it to calculate global  $NH_3$  volatilization losses. For predicting  $NH_3$  volatilization rates, it is advisable to perform the regression on the basis of the data used in the extrapolation. However, for laboratory measurements this is not possible. Furthermore, the resolution of 0.5 x0.5 in the maps used gives a generalized representation of environmental and management conditions on the landscape scale. Such a resolution is therefore not suitable for use in combination with local field measurements.

#### Data interpretation for ammonia volatilization

The results for the means and balanced weighted medians indicate that there is a clear difference between measurements carried out in the field and laboratory studies (Table 8). Various factors may account for this, including the measurement technique (generally forced draught enclosures aimed at determining the maximum  $NH_3$  loss), though also the environmental conditions in the laboratory may favour  $NH_3$  losses. Finally, in most cases (except in greenhouse studies) the soils in the enclosures were uncropped, which may also favour  $NH_3$  loss.

The measurement technique used to determine NH<sub>3</sub> losses is also very important. The mean and balanced median values were high for <sup>15</sup>N-based measurements and indirect open measurement (ioc). The mean value for the forced draught technique (cfd) is higher than that for micrometeorological techniques (m), while the balanced medians show the reverse order. The estimates for both techniques derive from a large number of observations in the data base, providing a much firmer basis than the data available for the other techniques.

The influence of the type of crop is less important than the location or measurement technique used (Table 8). The mean for grass is 20 percent lower than that for upland crops, and 10 percent lower than that for flooded systems. The mean values confirm the expectation that  $NH_3$  volatilization rates are generally lower in grasslands than in croplands, but the balanced medians show almost no difference.

However, the effect of the type of fertilizer applied on the NH<sub>3</sub> loss is, as expected from the literature review, very important. The mean values and balanced medians are in broad agreement with expert judgements. One exception is anhydrous ammonia where the mode of application is not accounted for. The effect of the type of fertilizer applied on the NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization is, as expected, very important. Differences between fertilizer types occur both in the mean and balanced median, with the highest values for AN applied to grazing land, then for manure, and urea, and the lowest values for CN and anhydrous ammonia.

Broadcasting and application of fertilizer in liquid form have similar balanced medians. Incorporation leads to an important reduction of 50 percent in comparison with broadcasting. In rice systems the application of fertilizer before inundation (bf; i/f) and application at panicle initiation (bpi) has much lower balanced median values than application to the flooded field (b; bw). The reduction of NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization that is achievable by application at panicle

initiation compared to broadcasting at transplanting is 50 percent, which is in agreement with the literature review. In contrast to the application mode, the application rate exerts no clear influence on  $NH_3$  loss rates.

The results for soil properties agree, to varying degrees, with the expectations based on studies in the literature. The balanced medians for soil pH > 8.5 exceed those for the pH range of 5.5 to 7.3 by 61 percent, and those for pH  $\pm$  5.5 by 80 percent. The balanced medians for soil pH in the range of 7.3 to 8.5 exceed those for the range of 5.5 to 7.3 by 39 percent and those for pH  $\pm$  5.5 by 55 percent.

The effect of soil CEC is somewhat less clear than that of soil pH. The mean values for the different CEC classes show a consistent pattern, with lower  $NH_3$  volatilization in soils with high CEC than for low CEC. The balanced medians are 40 percent lower for CEC > 32 cmol/kg than for soils with CEC < 32 cmol/kg. However, in the balanced medians the relationship between  $NH_3$  volatilization rates and CEC for soils with CEC < 32 cmol/kg has disappeared.

The influence of soil organic carbon content is not clear. Both the mean and balanced median values are higher for the lowest soil organic carbon class than for the second lowest. The number of observations is small in the classes 3 and 4, and estimates are therefore less reliable than for classes 1 and 2.

The influence of soil texture is not clear, with high means and balanced medians for the  $NH_3$  volatilization rate for medium textured topsoils, and lower values for both fine and coarse textured soils.

#### Regression

The next stage was to study the combined effects of the different factors using regression analysis. From the set of factors selected for the above data summary, the regression concerned only those that had a clear influence on  $NH_3$  volatilization, except for weather-related factors and the measurement technique and location factors.

It was necessary to exclude weather-related factors a priori from the regression as lack of data prevents their use in extrapolations. The different measurement techniques and locations evidenced clear differences between both the means and balanced medians. However, their exclusion depended on the fact that it is not possible to use measurement techniques for predictions as the a priori knowledge for judging their accuracy is lacking, while the data set used cannot provide a sufficient basis for explaining the influence of the

measurement location. Therefore, the regression yields an average value for  $NH_3$  volatilization rates applying to all measurement techniques and locations included in the data set.

The N application rate, soil organic carbon content and soil texture show no consistent relationship with NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates and were therefore not used in the regression. The absence of a relationship may be due to the fact that soil organic carbon and texture are the main determinants of soil CEC. Therefore, the influence of soil C and texture on NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates is assumed to be included in the CEC factor.

The factors selected for the regression included: crop type, fertilizer type and application mode, temperature, soil pH, and CEC. Table 9 presents the fitted parameters for the different factor classes of the resulting summary model. The factor values are log-transformed. The calculation for the NH<sub>3</sub> loss rate is: exp(factor value crop type + fertilizer type + application mode + soil pH + coil CEC + climate). For example, for grass fertilized with urea by broadcasting (b) on a soil with a pH 5.5<pH<7.3, a CEC of 16<CEC<24, in a temperate climate the NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rate is: exp(-0.158 + 0.666 - 1.305 - 0.933 + 0.012 - 0.402) = exp(-2.120) = 0.120. Hence, the loss as a fraction of urea-N application is 0.120.

The variance accounted for by the model is about 30 percent. This means that individual  $NH_3$  volatilization values from research papers differ, on average, about 15 percent less from the means calculated by the model than from their common mean. Hence, the summary model is not suitable for calculating  $NH_3$  volatilization rates from measurements in individual research papers for specific sites. The model calculates median  $NH_3$  volatilization rates, which are of more interest when the working scale is that of landscapes rather than point measurements done under site-specific conditions.

| TABLE 9.<br>Factor values in the                                       | e linear regress | on model                     |        |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------|------------------------------|--------|
| Crop type                                                              |                  | Fertilizer type <sup>a</sup> |        |
| Upland crops                                                           | -0.045           | AS                           | 0.429  |
| Grass                                                                  | -0.158           | Urea                         | 0.666  |
| Flooded crops                                                          | 0                | AN                           | -0.35  |
|                                                                        |                  | CAN                          | -1.064 |
| Method of applicati                                                    | on               | AA                           | -1.151 |
| b                                                                      | -1.305           | Nsol. <sup>a</sup>           | -0.748 |
| i                                                                      | -1.895           | CN                           | -1.585 |
| S                                                                      | -1.292           | ABC                          | 0.387  |
| bf;i/f                                                                 | -1.844           | UAN                          | 0      |
| bpi                                                                    | -2.465           | MAP                          | -0.622 |
|                                                                        |                  | DAP                          | 0.182  |
| Soil pH                                                                |                  | U+DAP                        | 0.803  |
| pH£5.5                                                                 | -1.072           | U+MAP                        | -0.48  |
| 5.5 <ph£7.3< td=""><td>-0.933</td><td>UP</td><td>-0.25</td></ph£7.3<>  | -0.933           | UP                           | -0.25  |
| 7.3 <ph£8.5< td=""><td>-0.608</td><td>UUP</td><td>0.45</td></ph£8.5<>  | -0.608           | UUP                          | 0.45   |
| pH>8.5                                                                 | 0                | 0                            | 0.995  |
|                                                                        |                  | Grazing                      | -0.378 |
| Soil CEC                                                               |                  | Urine                        | 0.747  |
| CEC£16                                                                 | 0.088            | AN+grazing                   | 1.229  |
| 16 <cec£24< td=""><td>0.012</td><td>Uc</td><td>0.25</td></cec£24<>     | 0.012            | Uc                           | 0.25   |
| 24 <cec£32< td=""><td>0.163</td><td>U+KCI</td><td>0.469</td></cec£32<> | 0.163            | U+KCI                        | 0.469  |
| CEC>32                                                                 | 0                | U+Ca/Mg                      | 0.753  |
|                                                                        |                  | UCN                          | -0.43  |
| Climate                                                                |                  | U+FYM                        | 0.385  |
| Temperate climate                                                      | -0.402           |                              |        |
| Tropical climate                                                       | 0                |                              |        |

a. The factor value for ammonium phosphates is calculated on the basis of the global composition of 80% DAP and 20% MAP; for compound NK (mainly KNO<sub>3</sub>) the value for CN is used; factor values for the other compound fertilizers are based on the various compound NP and NPK fertilizers in the data set of measurements; for N solutions the data collected for all N fertilizers applied in solution used.

# Chapter 5 Global estimates

# DATA ON LAND USE, FERTILIZER MANAGEMENT AND ENVIRONMENT

The land cover/use distribution data for areas of grassland, rice and other crops came from Zuidema *et al.* (1994). This global database derives from maps of natural vegetation and climate in combination with statistical information from FAO (2000). As the resolution is 0.5, there are errors in the gridded data for small countries. For example, the total land area of a small country may not be represented by the 0.5 grid cells. Such problems occur often with islands or coastal areas.

The data on grassland management are extremely scant. However, in order to extrapolate  $NH_3$  volatilization from fertilizer and manure application, it is necessary to know the location of more or less intensively used grasslands. This process involved some simple assumptions with three types of grassland being defined: (i) intensively used grasslands, receiving only inputs from animal manure, and defined as grassland located within arable areas; (ii) fertilized grasslands, receiving nutrient inputs from mineral fertilizers as reported by IFA/IFDC/FAO (1999) in addition to animal manure (these grasslands consisting of the remaining grasslands given by Zuidema *et al.* (1994) were not considered as they are grazed and deliberate application of fertilizers or manure was assumed to be negligible.

For most countries, the intensively used grasslands are in those cells where arable land makes up at least one third of the area. It was necessary to make many exceptions in order to match the areas with those of IFA/IFDC/FAO (1999).

For wetland rice fields, the N fertilizer use per hectare values are from IFA/IFDC/FAO (1999), with some exceptions. The N fertilizer use for the other, dryland crops was calculated as the difference between total N fertilizer

use from IFA (1999) and the sum of the N used in wetland rice and grasslands from IFA/IFDC/FAO (1999), with exceptions for some countries.

The quantity of animal manure N available for fertilizing crops and grasslands was calculated from total excretion by excluding the excretion during grazing, use of animal manure as fuel and NH<sub>3</sub> losses during storage of animal manure. Half the animal excreta available as fertilizer were assumed to be used in croplands and the other half in grasslands. For some countries, it was necessary to adjust the percentage of the manure applied on grasslands in order to avoid excessive application rates. Thus, the assumed maximum N application rate was 200 kg/ha for industrialized countries, and 50 kg/ha for developing countries; this affects the availability for crops. Manure application rates for wetland rice and upland crops were assumed to be equal.

Ammonia volatilisation rates are linear with respect to the N application rate. However, the models for N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions show a non-linear response of emissions to N application rates. Therefore, for N<sub>2</sub>O and NO the average country application rates used for ammonia would not give a correct estimation of emissions. To account for the fact that not all agricultural fields receive fertilizer, IFA/IFDC/FAO (1999) data on mineral fertilizer N application rates and the percentage of each crop actually receiving fertilizer N were used to calculate the mean application rate for upland crops for the area actually fertilized. These data are available for 49 countries, including some with 100 percent of the fields fertilized. The analysis included data for 38 developing countries and made the assumption that a fraction of the fields receive fertilizer in order to determine apparent total N use per country. For other developing countries, N application rates were assumed equal to calculated rates for Central America, South America, Asia and Africa. There are no statistics on the use of animal manure in croplands and grasslands. Estimates for regions within countries may be available, but sometimes they do not correspond to official statistics or are outdated. The paucity of data makes it necessary to generalize. Therefore, for animal manure applied on croplands the same minimum N rates were used. For manure applied to grasslands N application rates of 50 percent of those for upland crops were assumed to reflect lower application rates in grasslands relative to crops.

In addition to the land use data, the 0.5 resolution information on soil pH, CEC, organic C content, soil texture and soil drainage came from Batjes (1997), and a map of climate types with 0.5 resolution from Fresco *et al.* (1998). For  $NH_3$  this climate database was not used as it is difficult to estimate the temperature at the time of fertilizer application (generally the beginning of the growing season). Therefore, for extrapolating the  $NH_3$  volatilization rates,

the assumption was that the temperature at fertilizer application is >20 C between 40 N and 40 S, and <20 C at other latitudes.

A number of additional assumptions had to be made. Measurements of  $N_2O$  and NO emissions during the crop season when the rice fields are inundated dominate the data set. Therefore, in the extrapolation of  $N_2O$  emissions from rice, for rice the model parameters for 'other crops' were used to account for the emissions during the post-harvest period.

Fertilizer management, which had a significant effect on  $NH_3$  volatilization rates, is the least known aspect in the extrapolation. Although much is known at local and national level, it is difficult to generalize such information in a global inventory. Much of the fertilizer applied to rice in Southeast Asia is either broadcast directly onto flooded soil 14-21 days after transplanting or broadcast directly onto flooded soil after transplanting. Broadcasting is also common in grasslands.

Therefore, the general assumption about fertilizer application was that of a basal application by broadcasting. Exceptions included anhydrous ammonia (estimates based on incorporation), and fertilizer solutions (liquid). Animal manure used in rice cultivation was assumed to be incorporated. If incorporation of fertilizers is a more common practice, the estimates of  $NH_3$  loss would require adjustment downwards.

It is difficult to quantify uncertainties associated with scaling. Uncertainties in fertilizer use stem primarily from the grouping of different N fertilizer types into one category. The data on fertilizer use by crops have a varying degree of reliability; data are more complete and probably more certain in industrialized countries than in developing countries. However, there are no statistics on fertilizer management. The extrapolation included assumptions on the mode of application of fertilizers and manure. Although application rates vary between crops and farmers within countries, the spatial distribution of fertilizer application rates is not well known. Moreover, it is not known if certain fertilizer types are preferentially used for specific crops or grasslands.

The distribution of arable lands is well known, but data on the distribution and the management of grasslands are uncertain. Although information is available on the use of mineral fertilizers in grasslands, the application of animal manure in grasslands is based on a global estimate. For different world regions and individual countries, the application of animal manure is highly uncertain. Animal populations are well known, although the season in which censuses are made does cause some uncertainty. The uncertainty in the data on animal populations is probably <10 percent. Most of the uncertainty in the NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rate for animal manure stems from the assumptions on N excretion and waste management. For developing countries, in particular, there are no reliable data on waste management practices and on the use of animal manure in grasslands and arable lands. Therefore, uncertainty is probably highest for tropical countries and lowest for western Europe.

#### **EXTRAPOLATION FOR NITROUS OXIDE AND NITRIC OXIDE**

The simple models for  $N_2O$  and NO discussed in Chapter 4 were used in a GIS with the geographic information and the assumptions on fertilizer management discussed above.

The combined resulting figures from Tables 10 and 11 yield a global annual  $N_2O$ -N emission (about 3.5 million t) and NO-N emissions (about 2.0 million t). Some 34 percent of the global annual  $N_2O$ -N emission from cropped fields of 3.2 million t stems from developed countries and 66 percent from developing countries. The global emission from cropped fields is 3.3 percent of the N fertilizer input (3.3 percent in developed countries and 3.4 percent in developing countries). The annual NO-N emission from fertilized crops amounts to about 1.5 million t, 44 percent from developed and 56 percent from developed countries. This is 2.0 percent of the N input for developed countries and 1.4 percent for developing countries.

The annual N<sub>2</sub>O-N emission from fertilized grasslands amounts to about 0.3 million t (58 percent from developed countries and 42 percent from developing countries), and that of NO-N to about 0.5 million t (68 percent stemming from developed and 32 percent from developing countries) (Table 11).

The fertilizer induced  $N_2O$  emissions were calculated as the total emission minus that of unfertilized fields (all other conditions equal to the fertilized plot), expressed as a percentage of the N input (Table 12). The results indicate important differences between fertilizer types. The global annual fertilizer induced  $N_2O$ -N emission is about 0.9 million t, or 0.8 percent of the N input, lower than the 1.25 percent estimated by Bouwman (1996). The highest fertilizer induced emission rates are for urea and other straight N fertilizers (primarily ABC used in China), and the lowest for organic fertilizers.

N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emission estimates from N fertilizer and animal manure application on crops, 1995

| Region <sup>a</sup> | Area       | Fertilizer<br>N | Animal<br>manure | N <sub>2</sub> O-N<br>emission | NO-N<br>emission |  |  |  |  |
|---------------------|------------|-----------------|------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|--|--|--|--|
|                     | 000 000 ha |                 | 000 t            |                                |                  |  |  |  |  |
| Canada              | 46         | 1 576           | 207              | 67                             | 103              |  |  |  |  |
| United States       | 190        | 11 150          | 1 583            | 316                            | 167              |  |  |  |  |
| Central America     | 40         | 1 424           | 351              | 106                            | 31               |  |  |  |  |
| South America       | 111        | 2 283           | 1 052            | 260                            | 102              |  |  |  |  |
| North Africa        | 22         | 1 203           | 36               | 53                             | 24               |  |  |  |  |
| Western Africa      | 75         | 156             | 140              | 171                            | 41               |  |  |  |  |
| Eastern Africa      | 41         | 109             | 148              | 78                             | 31               |  |  |  |  |
| Southern Africa     | 42         | 480             | 79               | 72                             | 24               |  |  |  |  |
| OECD Europe         | 90         | 6 416           | 3 408            | 233                            | 131              |  |  |  |  |
| Eastern Europe      | 48         | 1 834           | 757              | 70                             | 35               |  |  |  |  |
| Former Soviet Union | 230        | 1 870           | 2 392            | 262                            | 182              |  |  |  |  |
| Near East           | 58         | 2 376           | 180              | 83                             | 45               |  |  |  |  |
| South Asia          | 206        | 12 941          | 3 816            | 614                            | 186              |  |  |  |  |
| East Asia           | 95         | 24 345          | 5 150            | 397                            | 269              |  |  |  |  |
| Southeast Asia      | 87         | 4 216           | 941              | 247                            | 85               |  |  |  |  |
| Oceania             | 49         | 651             | 63               | 109                            | 29               |  |  |  |  |
| Japan               | 4          | 436             | 361              | 12                             | 11               |  |  |  |  |
| World               | 1 436      | 73 467          | 20 664           | 3 150                          | 1 498            |  |  |  |  |

a. World regions from Kreileman et al. (1998).

The global annual fertilizer induced emission for NO-N is about 0.6 million t, or 0.5 percent of the N input (Table 12), which is in agreement with the estimate of 0.5 percent by Veldkamp and Keller (1997a). The highest fertilizer induced emission rates of 0.8 percent are for compound NK-N and other straight nitrogen fertilizers (primarily ABC used in China). The lowest fertilizer induced emission rates are calculated for organic fertilizers (0.4%).

The calculation of a median estimate involved the use of log-transformed emissions and balancing. The result is a best estimate of the emission for a specific combination of factor classes. With the residual maximum likelihood

| TABLE 11. $N_2O$ and NO emission from N fertilizer and animal manure application on grasslands, 1995 |            |                 |                    |                                |                  |  |  |  |  |  |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------|-----------------|--------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Region <sup>a</sup>                                                                                  | Area       | Fertilizer<br>N | Animal<br>manure N | N <sub>2</sub> O-N<br>emission | NO-N<br>emission |  |  |  |  |  |
|                                                                                                      | 000 000 ha |                 | 000                | 000 t                          |                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Canada                                                                                               | 20         | 0               | 207                | 7                              | 40               |  |  |  |  |  |
| United States                                                                                        | 84         | 0               | 1 583              | 31                             | 50               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Central America                                                                                      | 22         | 25              | 351                | 15                             | 14               |  |  |  |  |  |
| South America                                                                                        | 59         | 12              | 1 051              | 34                             | 44               |  |  |  |  |  |
| North Africa                                                                                         | 10         | 0               | 34                 | 5                              | 6                |  |  |  |  |  |
| Western Africa                                                                                       | 48         | 0               | 137                | 30                             | 26               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Eastern Africa                                                                                       | 26         | 0               | 148                | 13                             | 17               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Southern Africa                                                                                      | 24         | 31              | 78                 | 13                             | 14               |  |  |  |  |  |
| OECD Europe                                                                                          | 50         | 3 074           | 3 085              | 56                             | 85               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Eastern Europe                                                                                       | 18         | 210             | 737                | 8                              | 13               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Former Soviet Unior                                                                                  | า 177      | 760             | 2 389              | 58                             | 115              |  |  |  |  |  |
| Near East                                                                                            | 13         | 17              | 167                | 5                              | 10               |  |  |  |  |  |
| South Asia                                                                                           | 10         | 0               | 425                | 6                              | 5                |  |  |  |  |  |
| East Asia                                                                                            | 29         | 0               | 1 404              | 9                              | 15               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Southeast Asia                                                                                       | 15         | 0               | 477                | 8                              | 11               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Oceania                                                                                              | 20         | 175             | 52                 | 29                             | 40               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Japan                                                                                                | 0          | 27              | 59                 | 1                              | 1                |  |  |  |  |  |
| World                                                                                                | 625        | 4 331           | 12 386             | 329                            | 507              |  |  |  |  |  |

a. World regions from Kreileman et al. (1998).

procedure it is not possible to produce an estimate of the standard error of the model estimate of emissions. Therefore, the standard errors were calculated for a range of combinations of the factors considered for a weighted multiple regression model for  $N_2O$ . The multiple regression used only those records in the data set that have values for all factors (353 measurements). The variance explained by this model is 50 percent, and the overall uncertainty ranges from about -40 percent to +70 percent based on twice the standard error accounting for 95 percent of the data. The uncertainty of the residual maximum likelihood model is probably less than that of the weighted multiple regression because the residual maximum likelihood procedure considered more measurements

| TABLE 12.                                        | d N. O. and NO. am            | iccien estimat                       | aa hy fartilirar |
|--------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------|
| type                                             | $a_{1}a_{2}o$ and $a_{1}o$ en | lission estimati                     | es by rentilizer |
| iype                                             |                               |                                      |                  |
| Fertilizer type <sup>a</sup>                     | Global N use                  | N <sub>2</sub> O-N loss <sup>b</sup> | NO-N loss        |
|                                                  | (million t/year)              | (%)                                  | (%)              |
| Ammonium sulphate                                | 2.4                           | 1.0                                  | 0.6              |
| Urea                                             | 34.4                          | 1.1                                  | 0.6              |
| Ammonium nitrate                                 | 7.5                           | 0.9                                  | 0.5              |
| Calcium ammonium nitrate                         | 3.6                           | 0.6                                  | 0.6              |
| Ammonia, direct application                      | 4.6                           | 0.8                                  | 0.5              |
| Nitrogen solutions                               | 4.0                           | 0.9                                  | 0.6              |
| Other straight nitrogen fertilizers <sup>c</sup> | 10.1                          | 1.0                                  | 0.8              |
| Ammonium phosphates                              | 4.1                           | 0.8                                  | 0.6              |
| Other compound NP-N                              | 1.7                           | 0.8                                  | 0.5              |
| Compound NK-N                                    | 0.0                           | 0.8                                  | 0.8              |
| Compound NPK-N                                   | 6.1                           | 0.7                                  | 0.5              |

a. Estimates for fertilizer types are based on areas where only mineral fertilizers are applied (using the factor values for individual fertilizer types), areas where organic and mineral fertilizers are applied in combination (using the factor value for these combinations) and areas where organic fertilizers are used (using factor value for organic fertilizers).

78.5

33.0

111.6

0.6

0.4

0.5

1.0

0.6

0.8

Total mineral fertilizers

Total mineral and organic fertilizers

Organic fertilizers

b. Possible uptake of NO by plant leaves has not yet been accounted for. This uptake may be particularly important in grasslands and perennial crops.

c. Most (90%) of the other straight N fertilizers are used in China, predominantly (95%) in the form of ammonium bicarbonate. The remainder is mainly ammonium chloride. For both fertilizers the factor value for ammonium sulphate was used.

(846 for  $N_2O$ ). For NO, the number of degrees of freedom after weighting is too small to derive a model that resembles the residual maximum likelihood model, and it is therefore difficult to estimate the uncertainty of the model.

The models for  $N_2O$  and NO are non-linear with respect to the N application rate. Although estimates for the areas actually fertilized were used, the heterogeneity in N application rates may still influence the model results.

The associated error in the extrapolated emission estimates is acceptable when compared to other uncertainties in the global extrapolation. The models are not suitable for predicting emissions from measurements in individual research papers for specific sites. However, the mean emission rates for factor class combinations are of more interest for extrapolation to landscape conditions than individual measurements.

#### **EXTRAPOLATION FOR AMMONIA**

The summary model (Chapter 4) was used to calculate regional and global volatilization losses. This extrapolation exercise combined various sources of statistical data and geographical information. Tables 13 and 14 summarize the results of the extrapolation. The global ammonia loss from mineral fertilizers of 11 million t N/year (14 percent of mineral fertilizer N use) estimated in this report is in close agreement with Bouwman *et al.* (1997). The results indicate that  $NH_3$  volatilization rates in developing countries exceed those in developed countries by a factor of 4.3.

The global  $NH_3$  loss from the annual use of 11.8 million t of mineral fertilizer N in wetland rice cultivation amounts to 2.3 million t N/year, or 20 percent of the N application. Most of this loss occurs in developing countries (97 percent). In upland crops, 14 percent of the 61.7 million t of mineral fertilizer N is lost as  $NH_3$ , with higher loss rates in developing countries (18 percent) than in developed countries (8 percent). In grasslands, the annual global use of mineral fertilizer N is 4.3 million t N, with estimated loss rates of 13 percent for developing countries and 6 percent for developed countries. Nearly 100 percent of mineral N fertilizer use in grasslands is in developed countries.

The global  $NH_3$  loss from the annual use of 12.4 million t N in animal manure in grasslands amounts to 2.7 million t N/year, of which about 60 percent stems from developed countries. The  $NH_3$  volatilization rate from animal manure is 22 percent of the N application (20 percent in developed countries and 25 percent in developing countries). In upland crops, 26 percent of the 17.4 million t N from animal manure is lost as  $NH_3$ , with higher loss rates in developing countries (29 percent) than in developed countries (22 percent). This higher rate for developing countries is due to high temperatures and the dominance of the use of urea, ABC and ammonium sulphate in wetland rice cultivation. The volume of animal manure applied annually to upland crops is 8.6 million t N in developed countries and 8.8 million t N in developing countries. In wetland rice systems, the estimated annual use of N

from animal manure is 3.3 million t N, mainly in developing countries. As incorporation is assumed to be prevalent in rice cultivation, the  $NH_3$  volatilization rates are lower than for upland crops (17 percent in developing countries and 16 percent in developed countries).

#### TABLE 13.

NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization loss estimates from mineral N application on fertilized grasslands, upland crops and wetland rice by region, 1995

| Region <sup>a</sup> | Fert                    | ilized grass        | slands                                | Upl                     | and crops           | Wetland rice                          |                        |                       |                                      |
|---------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------------|
|                     | Area<br>(million<br>ha) | N<br>use<br>(000 t) | NH <sub>3</sub> -N<br>loss<br>(000 t) | Area<br>(million<br>ha) | N<br>use<br>(000 t) | NH <sub>3</sub> -N<br>loss<br>(000 t) | Area<br>(millio<br>ha) | N<br>use<br>n (000 t) | NH <sub>3</sub> -N<br>loss<br>(000 t |
| Canada              | 0                       | 0                   | 0                                     | 46                      | 1 576               | 140                                   | 0                      | 0                     | 0                                    |
| United States       | 0                       | 0                   | 0                                     | 189                     | 10 982              | 787                                   | 1                      | 168                   | 15                                   |
| Central America     | 1                       | 25                  | 3                                     | 40                      | 1 392               | 215                                   | 0                      | 32                    | 5                                    |
| South America       | 1                       | 12                  | 1                                     | 109                     | 2 049               | 348                                   | 3                      | 234                   | 43                                   |
| North Africa        | 0                       | 0                   | 0                                     | 21                      | 1 126               | 214                                   | 1                      | 78                    | 16                                   |
| Western Africa      | 0                       | 0                   | 0                                     | 73                      | 130                 | 19                                    | 1                      | 26                    | 4                                    |
| Eastern Africa      | 0                       | 0                   | 0                                     | 40                      | 109                 | 17                                    | 1                      | 1                     | 0                                    |
| Southern Africa     | 3                       | 31                  | 3                                     | 42                      | 477                 | 51                                    | 0                      | 3                     | 0                                    |
| OECD Europe         | 37                      | 3 074               | 156                                   | 90                      | 6 384               | 448                                   | 0                      | 32                    | 3                                    |
| Eastern Europe      | 3                       | 210                 | 13                                    | 48                      | 1 834               | 123                                   | 0                      | 1                     | 0                                    |
| Form. Soviet Uni    | on 33                   | 760                 | 59                                    | 229                     | 1 856               | 157                                   | 1                      | 14                    | 1                                    |
| Near East           | 4                       | 17                  | 3                                     | 57                      | 2 305               | 422                                   | 1                      | 71                    | 18                                   |
| South Asia          | 0                       | 0                   | 0                                     | 162                     | 8 295               | 1 827                                 | 44                     | 4 646                 | 1 030                                |
| East Asia           | 0                       | 0                   | 0                                     | 69                      | 19 855              | 3 318                                 | 26                     | 4 490                 | 829                                  |
| Southeast Asia      | 0                       | 0                   | 0                                     | 52                      | 2 405               | 421                                   | 35                     | 1 811                 | 335                                  |
| Oceania             | 20                      | 175                 | 23                                    | 49                      | 639                 | 108                                   | 0                      | 12                    | 2                                    |
| Japan               | 0                       | 27                  | 4                                     | 2                       | 265                 | 36                                    | 2                      | 171                   | 24                                   |
| Total               | 103                     | 4 331               | 265                                   | 1 319                   | 61 678              | 8 650                                 | 117                    | 11 788                | 2 327                                |

a. Regions designated for global change research as defined by Kreileman et al. (1998).

TABLE 14.NH3 volatilization loss estimates from animal manure application on intensively usedgrasslands, upland crops and wetland rice by region, 1995

| Region <sup>a</sup> | Fert            | ilized grass   | slands             | Upla            | and crops      |                    | Wetland rice      |               |                    |  |  |
|---------------------|-----------------|----------------|--------------------|-----------------|----------------|--------------------|-------------------|---------------|--------------------|--|--|
|                     | Area            | Ν              | NH <sub>3</sub> -N | Area            | Ν              | NH <sub>3</sub> -N | Area              | Ν             | NH <sub>3</sub> -N |  |  |
|                     | (million<br>ha) | use<br>(000 t) | loss<br>(000 t)    | (million<br>ha) | use<br>(000 t) | loss<br>(000 t)    | (million (<br>ha) | use<br>000 t) | loss<br>(000 t)    |  |  |
| Canada              | 20              | 207            | 41                 | 46              | 207            | 45                 | 0                 | 0             | 0                  |  |  |
| United States       | 84              | 1 583          | 366                | 189             | 1 573          | 394                | 1                 | 10            | 2                  |  |  |
| Central America     | 22              | 351            | 92                 | 40              | 349            | 105                | 0                 | 3             | 0                  |  |  |
| South America       | 59              | 1 051          | 271                | 109             | 1 020          | 291                | 3                 | 32            | 5                  |  |  |
| North Africa        | 10              | 34             | 11                 | 21              | 33             | 12                 | 1                 | 3             | 1                  |  |  |
| Western Africa      | 48              | 137            | 35                 | 73              | 137            | 39                 | 1                 | 3             | 1                  |  |  |
| Eastern Africa      | 26              | 148            | 40                 | 40              | 143            | 43                 | 1                 | 6             | 1                  |  |  |
| Southern Africa     | 24              | 78             | 20                 | 42              | 78             | 23                 | 0                 | 2             | 0                  |  |  |
| OECD Europe         | 50              | 3 085          | 561                | 90              | 3 402          | 684                | 0                 | 7             | 1                  |  |  |
| Eastern Europe      | 18              | 737            | 130                | 48              | 757            | 149                | 0                 | 0             | 0                  |  |  |
| Form. Soviet Un     | ion 177         | 2 389          | 511                | 229             | 2 378          | 555                | 1                 | 15            | 2                  |  |  |
| Near East           | 13              | 167            | 53                 | 57              | 177            | 64                 | 1                 | 2             | 1                  |  |  |
| South Asia          | 10              | 425            | 114                | 162             | 2 850          | 917                | 44                | 965           | 175                |  |  |
| East Asia           | 29              | 1 404          | 324                | 69              | 3 500          | 953                | 26                | 1 650         | 276                |  |  |
| Southeast Asia      | 15              | 477            | 114                | 52              | 544            | 147                | 35                | 396           | 62                 |  |  |
| Oceania             | 20              | 52             | 14                 | 49              | 63             | 19                 | 0                 | 0             | 0                  |  |  |
| Japan               | 0               | 59             | 16                 | 2               | 186            | 51                 | 2                 | 175           | 28                 |  |  |
| Total               | 625             | 12 386         | 2 712              | 1 319           | 17 396         | 4 492              | 117               | 3 270         | 555                |  |  |
| a. Regions desi     | gnated          | for global     | change i           | research        | as defined     | l by Krei          | leman et          | al. (19       | 98)                |  |  |

Table 15 compares the global mean  $NH_3$  volatilization rates for the fertilizer types (IFA, 1999) based on the summary regression model with other inventories from the literature. The results are in agreement with the ECETOC (1994) and Bouwman *et al.* (1997) estimates, except for ammonium sulphate and the compound fertilizers including MAP and DAP. The data collected in this report for ammonium sulphate are based on 176 measurements from a great number of different research papers and from different sites with different conditions. Hence, the results can be considered to be representative for actual conditions in the field.

The  $NH_3$  volatilization rates found for phosphorous containing fertilizers are higher than values presented by ECETOC (1994) and Bouwman *et al.* 

| TABLE 15.<br>NH <sub>3</sub> volatilization loss rate<br>manure, 1995 | es for m  | ineral fert                                           | ilizer ca | ategory a | nd for anin               | nal                |  |  |  |  |  |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------|-------------------------------------------------------|-----------|-----------|---------------------------|--------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Fertilizer category                                                   | Use       | NH <sub>3</sub> volatilization loss Comparative value |           |           |                           |                    |  |  |  |  |  |
|                                                                       |           | Total                                                 | Mean      | Range     | Bouwman<br>et al., (1997) | ECETOC<br>) (1994) |  |  |  |  |  |
| ۳<br>                                                                 | nillion t | million t                                             | %         | %         | %                         | %                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Ammonium sulphate                                                     | 2.4       | 0.4                                                   | 16        | 12-20     | 8                         | 5-15               |  |  |  |  |  |
| Urea                                                                  | 34.4      | 7.3                                                   | 21        | 18-26     | 15-25                     | 10-20              |  |  |  |  |  |
| Ammonium nitrate                                                      | 7.5       | 0.5                                                   | 6         | 5-9       | 2                         | 1-3                |  |  |  |  |  |
| Calcium ammonium nitrate                                              | 3.6       | 0.1                                                   | 3         | 2-4       | 2                         | 1-3                |  |  |  |  |  |
| Ammonia, direct application                                           | 4.6       | 0.1                                                   | 2         | 1-3       | 4                         | 4                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Nitrogen solutions                                                    | 4.0       | 0.2                                                   | 5         | 2-11      | 2.5                       | -                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Other straight nitrogen                                               | 10.1      | 1.5                                                   | 15        | 10-22     | 20-30                     | -                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Ammonium phosphates <sup>a</sup>                                      | 4.1       | 0.5                                                   | 11        | 5-25      | 2-5                       | 5                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Other compound NP-N <sup>b</sup>                                      | 1.7       | 0.2                                                   | 11        | 6-19      | )                         | -                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Compound NK-N <sup>c</sup>                                            | 0.0       | 0.0                                                   | 2         | 1-5       | ;                         | -                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Compound NPK-N <sup>b</sup>                                           | 6.1       | 0.5                                                   | 9         | 5-16      | 2-4                       | 1-5                |  |  |  |  |  |
| Total mineral fertilizers                                             | 78.5      | 11.2                                                  | 14        | 10-19     | )                         |                    |  |  |  |  |  |
| Animal manure                                                         | 33.0      | 7.8                                                   | 23        | 19-29     | 20                        | 20                 |  |  |  |  |  |

a. Results for AP are based on the global estimated mix of 80% DAP and 20% MAP.

b. The results for other NP-N and NPK-N are the mean of the estimates for all P containing N fertilizers present in the data set.

c. The estimate for NK-N (mainly  $NO_3^-$ -based fertilizer) is based on CN.

(1997). This may be due to the influence of phosphate which may change the environment to favour increased  $NH_3$  loss by precipitating Ca. Both the formula (pH) and form of the phosphate added can influence the reaction with Ca, and therefore  $NH_3$  losses. It is not certain what the composition is of the fertilizer categories NP-N and NPK-N. In this report the volatilization rate for these compound fertilizers was based on data for all NP fertilizers present in the data base; the  $NH_3$  volatilization rate for ammonium phosphate (AP) is based on the results for MAP and DAP (Tables 9 and 15).

Uncertainties in the results of the extrapolation stem from uncertainties in the summary model as such and uncertainties caused by scaling errors. The range of NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization rates for the various fertilizers was calculated using the standard errors of the regression. The standard errors depended on the combination of factor classes selected, but appeared to be very similar for individual fertilizer types across crop types, climate and soil conditions. Therefore, the range of volatilization rates was calculated for a number of combinations of factor classes for each crop type and fertilizer type. This was done on the basis of twice the standard errors to include 95 percent of the observations. The average deviation from the model results in Table 15 was applied to the estimated global NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization loss for each fertilizer category. The resulting range in the estimates for the global NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization loss from all fertilizers is 10-19 percent for all mineral fertilizers and 19-29 percent for animal manure. The range for some individual fertilizers is much wider, depending on the number of representations in the data set (Table 15). The calculated ranges do not account for the omissions in the summary model or for scaling errors.

Because the fertilizer application rate was found not to influence the  $NH_3$  volatilization rate,  $NH_3$  losses could be scaled up based on average country fertilizer and manure application rates. Hence, it is recognized that there are errors in the spatial distribution of the mix of fertilizers and their application rates, and their combination with soil conditions. However, for the 0.5 resolution used, this error is acceptable.

### Chapter 6 Conclusions

#### **NITROUS OXIDE AND NITRIC OXIDE EMISSIONS**

The major factors controlling  $N_2O$  emissions include those that regulate N availability, i.e. N application rate, climate and soil C content. The N application rate determines directly N availability. Soil C content is a proxy for soil fertility, while climate influences the speed of soil processes and plant / microbe competition through temperature and moisture. It is apparent from studies in the tropics that plant uptake can exceed microbe competition, therefore denitrification rates can be relatively low even in warm, moist conditions.

Factors influencing the relative rate of  $N_2O$  compared to total denitrification loss are soil texture, drainage and pH. Fine soil texture, poor drainage and neutral to slightly acidic soil reaction are conditions that favour  $N_2O$  emission. Management factors that influence  $N_2O$  emission are crop type (with  $N_2O$  emission increasing in the order: grass, non-leguminous annual crops, leguminous crops) and type of fertilizer (with the highest values being for anhydrous ammonia and mixtures of mineral and organic fertilizers).

The major factors regulating NO emission are: N application rate, fertilizer type, soil organic C content and soil drainage. Similar to  $N_2O$ , NO emissions increase with N application rate and soil C content. However, contrary to  $N_2O$ , NO emissions from well drained exceed those from poorly drained soils. The factors relating to climate and length of measurement period do not have a significant influence on NO emissions.

Measurement techniques are very important in assessing gas flux measurements. Closed and open chamber techniques yield about equal emission estimates for  $N_2O$  and NO. However, other techniques yield markedly different emission estimates, particularly for  $N_2O$ . The data show that  $N_2O$  emission estimates in agricultural fields should be based on

measurements with a frequency of at least one measurement per day in periods with high emission rates (e.g., periods following fertilizer application or rainfall events) and with lower frequencies in periods with low emission rates, extended over periods of at least one year. For NO shorter measurement periods may yield most of the effect of N fertilization because the factor relating to the length of measurement period does not have a significant influence on NO emissions. Hence, N fertilization may have a more long-lasting effect on  $N_2O$  than on NO emissions.

The estimated global annual N<sub>2</sub>O-N and NO-N emissions from crop and grassland amount to 3.5 million t of N<sub>2</sub>O-N emission and 2.0 million t of NO-N emission. The fertilizer induced emissions for N<sub>2</sub>O and NO amount to 0.8 and 0.5 percent, respectively. The global estimates presented in Chapter 4 account for the major controls of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions at the landscape-scale from arable land and grassland.

#### **AMMONIA VOLATILIZATION**

Although it includes a large number of measurements from the literature, the data set is probably not a fair representation of environmental and management conditions found in the real world. This is because in many cases the measurements were carried out under conditions or in places prone to high N gas losses. Therefore, the report adopted a statistical approach in an attempt to avoid this problem of lack of representativeness.

The comparison of straightforward means and the balanced medians resulted in the selection of the most important regulators of  $NH_3$  volatilization. The results are in good agreement with European and global inventories of  $NH_3$  volatilization from fertilizers, except for ammonium sulphate, ABC and the different compound NP fertilizers. The data in this report indicate that these fertilizers are more prone to  $NH_3$  volatilization than previously thought.

Although the nitrogen fertilizer statistics used may be reliable, the analysis presented in this report involves many uncertainties (Chapter 3). Moreover, the timing and mode of fertilizer application have a strong influence on  $NH_3$  volatilization loss. The greatest uncertainty stems from underrepresentation in the data set of measurements of  $NH_3$  volatilization rates in tropical cropping systems.

Finally, the regression model developed in the report is a representation of the literature data available. Many factors that are known to be crucial controls of  $NH_3$  volatilization, e.g. wind speed, and floodwater pH in flooded

systems, could not be included in the regression model. This is because such data are simply not available on the global scale. Therefore, it is difficult to indicate the uncertainty in the prediction of  $NH_3$  losses.

Perhaps the major uncertainty is in the omission of the effect of rainfall on  $NH_3$  volatilization. In practice, farmers apply fertilizers in periods just after rainfall events, or in periods during which they expect rainfall. The omission of rainfall events may lead to a systematic overestimation of  $NH_3$ volatilization losses. However, it is difficult to estimate the uncertainty caused by this omission.

The uncertainty of the results of the summary model is about  $\pm 30$  percent. The uncertainty for individual fertilizer types depends on the number of measurements available. On a grid cell basis the uncertainty is probably greater because the allocation of arable lands and grasslands is based on statistics combined with land cover maps and land suitability. In particular the allocation of the intensively used grasslands and fertilized grasslands was based on very simple assumptions.

The outcome of the model shows that the potential impact of fertilizer use regulations would be modest from a global emission perspective. The quantities involved, however, constitute a valuable plant nutrient source. Farmers' ability to curtail such losses will primarily relate to economic incentives, in particular in South and South East Asia.



Map 1: Emission of  $N_2O$  from grasslands where mineral fertilizers and animal manure were applied. Emissions represent the emissions per year, accounting for country specific cropping intensities.

# Annex 1 Maps



Map 2: Emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from wetland rice where mineral fertilizers and animal manure were applied. Emissions represent the emissions per year, accounting for country specific cropping intensities.







Map 4: Emission of NO from grasslands where mineral fertilizers and animal manure were applied. Emissions represent the emissions per year, accounting for country specific cropping intensities.







Map 6: Emission of NO from upland crops where mineral fertilizers and animal manure were applied. Emissions represent the emissions per year, accounting for country specific cropping intensities.





Annex 1. Maps



Map 8: Estimated annual emission of  ${\sf NH}_3$  for 1995 from animal manure applied to wetland rice.







**Map 10**: Estimated annual emission of NH<sub>3</sub> for 1995 from mineral fertilizers applied to grasslands. The emission is an annual estimate. High values may be caused by high cropping intensities, such as in China, while low values may be the result of low cropping intensities. The emission rates per ha of harvested land may thus differ from those presented here.



**Map 11:** Estimated annual emission of  $NH_3$  for 1995 from mineral fertilizers applied to wetland rice. The emission is an annual estimate. High values may be caused by high cropping intensities, such as in China, while low values may be the result of low cropping intensities. The emission rates per ha of harvested land may thus differ from those presented here.



**Map 12**: Estimated annual emission of NH<sub>3</sub> for 1995 from mineral fertilizers applied to upland crops. The emission is an annual estimate. High values may be caused by high cropping intensities, such as in China, while low values may be the result of low cropping intensities. The emission rates per ha of harvested land may thus differ from those presented here.

# Annex 2 Tables

| TABLE 16. $N_2O$ emissions from the | TABLE 16. N <sub>2</sub> O emissions from the data set (kg N <sub>2</sub> O-N/year/ha) |           |          |         |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
|-------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------|----------|---------|---------|---------|-------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| N application rate (kg/ha           | a) O                                                                                   | 1-50      | 50-100   | 100-150 | 150-200 | 200-250 | >250  |       |  |  |  |  |
| No. observations                    | 206                                                                                    | 33        | 184      | 113     | 98      | 56      | 156   |       |  |  |  |  |
| Mean                                | 1.1                                                                                    | 1.6       | 1.5      | 1.9     | 2.4     | 3.3     | 6.8   |       |  |  |  |  |
| Median                              | 0.6                                                                                    | 1.2       | 0.7      | 1.2     | 1.2     | 1.4     | 4.1   |       |  |  |  |  |
| Balanced mean                       | 0.5                                                                                    | 1.8       | 1.8      | 2.0     | 2.3     | 3.1     | 5.4   |       |  |  |  |  |
| Balanced median                     | 0.5                                                                                    | 1.0       | 1.0      | 1.2     | 1.4     | 1.9     | 3.5   |       |  |  |  |  |
| Climate type                        | Clim1                                                                                  | Clim2     | Clim3    | Clim4   | Clim5   | Clim6   | Clim7 | Clim8 |  |  |  |  |
| No. observations                    | 253                                                                                    | 389       | 50       | 61      | 77      | 8       | 6     | 2     |  |  |  |  |
| Mean                                | 2.2                                                                                    | 2.5       | 4.2      | 5.7     | 2.1     | 0.2     | 1.2   | 4.0   |  |  |  |  |
| Median                              | 1.0                                                                                    | 1.3       | 0.8      | 1.8     | 0.9     | 0.2     | 1.1   | 4.0   |  |  |  |  |
| Balanced mean                       | 1.8                                                                                    | 1.2       | 4.3      | 4.5     | 1.8     | 0.6     | 2.4   | 3.5   |  |  |  |  |
| Balanced median                     | 0.9                                                                                    | 0.8       | 2.0      | 1.7     | 1.3     | 0.5     | 0.7   | 1.2   |  |  |  |  |
| Soil organic C                      | -1.0                                                                                   | 4020      | 2060     | . 6     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| content (%)                         | <1.0                                                                                   | 1.0-3.0   | 3.0-0.0  | >0      |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| No. observations                    | 92                                                                                     | 353       | 126      | 18      |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Mean                                | 1.3                                                                                    | 2.0       | 2.7      | 5.0     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Median                              | 0.8                                                                                    | 1.0       | 1.5      | 1.6     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Balanced mean                       | 2.0                                                                                    | 1.6       | 2.1      | 4.4     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Balanced median                     | 0.8                                                                                    | 0.7       | 1.1      | 1.8     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Soil N content (%)                  | <0.05 (                                                                                | 0.05-0.15 | 0.15-0.3 | >0.3    |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| No. observations                    | 2                                                                                      | 71        | 228      | 29      |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Mean                                | 3.0                                                                                    | 1.6       | 2.3      | 4.2     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Median                              | 3.0                                                                                    | 1.0       | 1.2      | 2.3     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Balanced mean                       | 2.3                                                                                    | 2.2       | 3.3      | 2.3     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |
| Balanced median                     | 0.7                                                                                    | 1.0       | 1.4      | 1.2     |         |         |       |       |  |  |  |  |

| Soil texture class       | Coarse | Medium    | Fine  | Soi  | l drainage   | Poor | Good |
|--------------------------|--------|-----------|-------|------|--------------|------|------|
| No. observations         | 447    | 147       | 134   | No.  | observations | 193  | 460  |
| Mean                     | 2.8    | 2.6       | 1.9   | Mea  | an           | 2.8  | 2.6  |
| Median                   | 1.2    | 1.3       | 0.9   | Mee  | dian         | 1.4  | 1.1  |
| Balanced mean            | 2.3    | 2.1       | 3.1   | Bala | anced mean   | 2.6  | 2.4  |
| Balanced median          | 1.2    | 0.8       | 1.3   | Bala | anced median | 1.2  | 0.9  |
| Soil pH                  | <5.5   | 5.5-7.3   | >7.3  |      |              |      |      |
| No. observations         | 93     | 359       | 109   |      |              |      |      |
| Mean                     | 2.8    | 2.3       | 2.0   |      |              |      |      |
| Median                   | 1.0    | 1.1       | 0.7   |      |              |      |      |
| Balanced mean            | 2.9    | 3.3       | 1.3   |      |              |      |      |
| Balanced median          | 1.2    | 1.2       | 0.8   |      |              |      |      |
| Fertilizer type          | AA     | AF        | AN    | CAN  | NF           | Mix  |      |
| No. observations         | 38     | 59        | 117   | 61   | 53           | 25   |      |
| Mean                     | 4.4    | 0.6       | 3.0   | 2.3  | 2.6          | 3.4  |      |
| Median                   | 2.7    | 0.4       | 1.4   | 1.7  | 0.7          | 2.2  |      |
| Balanced mean            | 4.9    | 1.9       | 3.2   | 2.0  | 2.5          | 3.3  |      |
| Balanced median          | 1.4    | 1.1       | 1.2   | 1.0  | 0.7          | 1.8  |      |
| Fertilizer type          | NP     | 0         | OS    | UUR  | UAN          |      |      |
| No. observations         | 16     | 74        | 41    | 98   | 37           |      |      |
| Mean                     | 3.8    | 4.7       | 5.9   | 1.9  | 3.2          |      |      |
| Median                   | 3.0    | 1.0       | 4.2   | 0.7  | 2.7          |      |      |
| Balanced mean            | 1.7    | 3.1       | 3.5   | 2.2  | 3.3          |      |      |
| Balanced median          | 0.7    | 1.2       | 1.4   | 1.2  | 0.9          |      |      |
| Fertilizer application m | node b | bpi       | i     | s    |              |      |      |
| No. observations         | 163    | 4         | 162   | 122  |              |      |      |
| Mean                     | 3.4    | 0.8       | 2.7   | 2.4  |              |      |      |
| Median                   | 1.3    | 0.7       | 1.2   | 1.4  |              |      |      |
| Balanced mean            | 2.8    | 2.6       | 2.7   | 2.3  |              |      |      |
| Balanced median          | 1.3    | 1.0       | 1.2   | 1.0  |              |      |      |
| Timing of application    | Single | Single/ps | Split |      |              |      |      |
| No. observations         | 337    | 153       | 104   |      |              |      |      |
| Mean                     | 2.5    | 4.2       | 3.3   |      |              |      |      |
| Median                   | 1.0    | 2.2       | 1.6   |      |              |      |      |
| Balanced mean            | 3.0    | 2.1       | 2.4   |      |              |      |      |
| Balanced median          | 1.2    | 1.2       | 1.5   |      |              |      |      |

| Crop type                             | Grass G | Grass+ clo | ver Legui  | me Rice  | Other  |
|---------------------------------------|---------|------------|------------|----------|--------|
| No. observations                      | 177     | 16         | 36         | 61       | 512    |
| Mean                                  | 3.3     | 1.1        | 1.3        | 0.7      | 2.9    |
| Median                                | 1.4     | 0.9        | 1.1        | 0.5      | 1.3    |
| Balanced mean                         | 2.7     | 1.2        | 3.6        | 1.9      | 3.2    |
| Balanced median                       | 1.0     | 0.8        | 2.9        | 0.3      | 2.1    |
| Measurement techniqu                  | e c     | со         | g          | m        | cfd    |
| No. observations                      | 766     | 15         | 7          | 32       | 25     |
| Mean                                  | 2.5     | 1.7        | 4.5        | 1.7      | 8.8    |
| Median                                | 1.1     | 1.2        | 3.6        | 1.3      | 3.3    |
| Balanced mean                         | 2.7     | 1.5        | 2.1        | 2.8      | 4.1    |
| Balanced median                       | 0.9     | 0.7        | 2.6        | 1.1      | 0.8    |
| Experiment length<br>(days)           | <120    | 120-180    | 180-240    | 240-300  | >300   |
| No. observations                      | 343     | 132        | 42         | 34       | 277    |
| Mean                                  | 1.4     | 2.3        | 2.1        | 2.6      | 4.5    |
| Median                                | 0.5     | 1.2        | 1.2        | 1.3      | 2.3    |
| Balanced mean                         | 2.0     | 1.9        | 2.1        | 2.4      | 4.2    |
| Balanced median                       | 0.7     | 0.7        | 1.1        | 1.2      | 1.9    |
| Measurement<br>frequency <sup>1</sup> | >1m./d  | 1m./d1     | m./2-3 d 1 | m./3-7 d | <1m./w |
| No. observations                      | 140     | 286        | 78         | 262      | 46     |
| Mean                                  | 1.5     | 2.9        | 2.6        | 2.8      | 4.5    |
| Median                                | 0.8     | 1.1        | 1.1        | 1.3      | 2.0    |
| Balanced mean                         | 2.1     | 3.1        | 3.1        | 3.2      | 2.7    |
| Balanced median                       | 1.0     | 0.9        | 1.9        | 1.3      | 1.4    |
|                                       |         |            |            |          |        |

Reprinted from Bouwman et al., 2001b

1. For the classes of measurements frequency of one or more than one per day, generally these high frequencies are used in periods following fertilizer application or rainfall events, with lower frequencies in periods with low emission rates.

Mix 1 6.3 6.3 4.3 2.0

| TABLE 17.                 | • • •    |             |          |       |       |       |       |       | Mean                   | 1.7     | 0.3          |        |      |     |
|---------------------------|----------|-------------|----------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|------------------------|---------|--------------|--------|------|-----|
| NO emissions from the     | data set | t (kg NO-N/ | year/ha) |       |       |       |       |       | Median                 | 0.1     | 0.1          |        |      |     |
| N application rate (kg/ha | a) 0.0   | 1-100       | 100-200  | >200  |       |       |       |       | Balanced mean          | 0.6     | 0.1          |        |      |     |
| No. observations          | 21       | 45          | 16       | 17    |       |       |       |       | Balanced median        | 0.8     | 0.4          |        |      |     |
| Mean                      | 0.3      | 0.5         | 0.5      | 5.4   |       |       |       |       | Fertilizer type        | AA      | AF           | AN     | CAN  | Ν   |
| Median                    | 0.1      | 0.1         | 0.6      | 2.8   |       |       |       |       | No. observations       | 2       | 14           | 17     | 5    | 1   |
| Balanced mean             | 1.7      | 2.4         | 2.5      | 4.3   |       |       |       |       | Mean                   | 16.3    | 1.1          | 1.7    | 0.5  | 0.  |
| Balanced median           | 0.2      | 0.8         | 1.0      | 1.7   |       |       |       |       | Median                 | 16.3    | 0.2          | 0.4    | 0.4  | 0   |
| Climate type              | Clim1    | Clim2       | Clim3    | Clim4 | Clim5 | Clim6 | Clim7 | Clim8 | Balanced mean          | 1.1     | 0.3          | -0.2   | -1.1 | 0   |
| No. observations          | 19       | 34          | 18       | 0     | 18    | 10    | 0     | 0     | Balanced median        | 0.5     | 0.4          | 0.6    | 0.2  | 0   |
| Mean                      | 1.1      | 1.1         | 1.0      | -     | 2.7   | 0.1   | -     | -     | Fertilizer type        | NP      | 0            | os     | UUR  | UA  |
| Median                    | 0.6      | 0.1         | 0.6      | -     | 0.8   | 0.1   | -     | -     | No. observations       | 0       | 3            | 0      | 19   |     |
| Balanced mean             | -3.5     | 1.8         | 1.9      | -     | 0.4   | 1.2   | -     | -     | Mean                   | -       | 0.6          | -      | 1.3  | 1   |
| Balanced median           | 0.3      | 0.4         | 1.6      | -     | 0.3   | 0.9   | -     | -     | Median                 | -       | 0.5          | -      | 0.0  | 1   |
| Soil organic C            | <3.0     | >3.0        |          |       |       |       |       |       | Balanced mean          | -       | -0.4         | -      | 0.7  | -0  |
| Content (%)               | 47       | 0           |          |       |       |       |       |       | Balanced median        | -       | 0.2          | -      | 0.5  | 4   |
|                           | 47       | 8           |          |       |       |       |       |       | Fertilizer application | mode b  | bpi          | i      | s    |     |
| Maaliaa                   | 0.5      | 4.5         |          |       |       |       |       |       | No. observations       | 27      | 0            | 8      | 33   |     |
| Nedian                    | 0.1      | 0.4         |          |       |       |       |       |       | Mean                   | 1.1     | -            | 5.5    | 0.1  |     |
| Balanced mean             | 0.2      | 0.5         |          |       |       |       |       |       | Median                 | 0.8     | -            | 0.4    | 0.0  |     |
| Balanced median           | 0.3      | 1.3         | -        |       |       |       |       |       | Balanced mean          | 1.4     | -            | -1.1   | -0.3 |     |
| Soll Texture class        | Coarse   | Medium      | Fine     |       |       |       |       |       | Balanced median        | 1.0     | -            | 0.2    | 0.5  |     |
| No. observations          | /1       | 13          | 5        |       |       |       |       |       | Timing of fertilizer   | Single  | Single/ps    | Split  |      |     |
| Mean                      | 1.5      | 0.4         | 0.0      |       |       |       |       |       | application            |         |              |        |      |     |
| Median                    | 0.2      | 0.2         | 0.0      |       |       |       |       |       | No. observations       | 28      | 3            | 6      |      |     |
| Balanced mean             | 0.3      | 0.4         | 0.4      |       |       |       |       |       | Mean                   | 1.7     | 3.1          | 0.7    |      |     |
| Balanced median           | 1.1      | 0.4         | 0.4      |       |       |       |       |       | Median                 | 0.1     | 2.7          | 0.8    |      |     |
| Soil drainage             | Poor     | Well        |          |       |       |       |       |       | Balanced mean          | 1.8     | -0.8         | -1.3   |      |     |
| No. observations          | 7        | 60          |          |       |       |       |       |       | Balanced median        | 0.5     | 1.0          | 0.5    |      |     |
| Mean                      | 0.5      | 1.8         |          |       |       |       |       |       | Crop type              | Grass G | Grass-clover | Legume | Rice | Oth |
| Median                    | 0.5      | 0.4         |          |       |       |       |       |       | No. observations       | 23      | 0            | 16     | 2    | Ę   |
| Balanced mean             | -0.4     | 1.1         |          |       |       |       |       |       | Mean                   | 1.9     | -            | 0.7    | 1.4  | 1   |
| Balanced median           | 0.4      | 0.8         |          |       |       |       |       |       | Median                 | 0.7     | -            | 0.1    | 1.4  | 0   |
| Soil pH                   | <5.5     | >5.5        |          |       |       |       |       |       | Balanced mean          | 1.0     | -            | 1.7    | -3.5 | 2   |
| No. observations          | 23       | 53          |          |       |       |       |       |       |                        |         |              |        |      |     |

| Balanced median        | 0.6    | -     | 0.4       | 0.4       | 1.1    |
|------------------------|--------|-------|-----------|-----------|--------|
| Measurement technique  | с      | cfd   |           |           |        |
| No. observations       | 30     | 69    |           |           |        |
| Mean                   | 0.5    | 1.6   |           |           |        |
| Median                 | 0.5    | 0.1   |           |           |        |
| Balanced mean          | 0.3    | 0.4   |           |           |        |
| Balanced median        | 0.5    | 0.6   |           |           |        |
| Length of experiment   | <120   | >120  |           |           |        |
| (days)                 |        |       |           |           |        |
| No. observations       | 64     | 35    |           |           |        |
| Mean                   | 0.4    | 3.0   |           |           |        |
| Median                 | 0.1    | 0.8   |           |           |        |
| Balanced mean          | -1.2   | 1.9   |           |           |        |
| Balanced median        | 0.3    | 1.1   |           |           |        |
| Measurement            | >1m./d | 1m./d | 1m./2-3 d | 1m./3-7 d | <1m./w |
| frequency <sup>1</sup> |        |       |           |           |        |
| No. observations       | 51     | 20    | 8         | 10        | 2      |
| Mean                   | 0.2    | 2.9   | 4.6       | 0.9       | 0.7    |
| Median                 | 0.1    | 1.1   | 0.4       | 0.7       | 0.7    |
| Balanced mean          | -1.0   | 1.2   | 7.1       | -2.0      | -1.6   |
| Balanced median        | 0.2    | 1.0   | 1.0       | 0.9       | 1.2    |
|                        |        |       |           |           |        |

Reprinted from Bouwman et al., 2001b

1. For the classes of measurements frequency of one or more than one per day, generally these high frequencies are used in periods following fertilizer application or rainfall events, with lower frequencies in periods with low emission rates.

### References

- Alexander, M. 1977. *Introduction to soil microbiology* (2<sup>nd</sup> edition), 467 pp. New York, the United States, Wiley & Sons.
- Al-Kanani, T. & MacKenzie, A.F. 1992. Effect of tillage practices and hay straw on ammonia volatilization from nitrogen fertilizer solutions. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 72: 145-157.
- Ambus, P. & Christensen, S. 1994. Measurements of N<sub>2</sub>O emission from a fertilized grassland: an analysis of spatial variability. J. Geophys. Res., 99: 16549-16555.
- Ambus, P. & Robertson, G.P. 1998. Automated near-continuous measurement of carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide fluxes from soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 62: 394-400.
- Asman, W.A.H. 1992. Ammonia emission in Europe: updated emission and emission variations. Report 228471008, Bilthoven, the Netherlands, National Institute of Public Health and the Environment.
- Aulakh, M.S., Khera, T.S. & Doran, J.W. 2000. Mineralization and denitrification in upland, nearly saturated and flooded subtropical soils.
  II. Effect of organic manures varying in N content and C:N ratio. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 31: 168-174.
- Bacon, P.E. & Freney, J.R. 1989. Nitrogen loss from different tillage systems and the effect on cereal grain yield. *Fert. Res.*, 20: 59-66.
- Bacon, P.E., Hoult, E.H., Lewin, L.G. & Mcgarity, J.W. 1988. Ammonia volatilization from drill sown rice bays. *Fert. Res.*, 16: 257-272.
- Ball, B.C., Horgan, G.W., Clayton, H. & Parker, J.P. 1997. Spatial variability of nitrous oxide fluxes and controlling soil and topographic properties. *J. Env. Qual.*, 26: 1399-1409.
- Batjes, N.H. 1997. A world data set of derived soil properties by FAO-UNESCO soil unit for global modelling. *Soil Use Man.*, 13: 9-16.

- Beyrouty, C.A., Sommers, L.E. & Nelson, D.W. 1988. Ammonia volatilization from surface-applied urea as affected by several phosphoroamide compounds. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 52: 1173-1178.
- Black, A.S., Sherlock, R.R., Smith, N.P., Cameron, K.C. & Goh, K.M. 1985. Effects of form of nitrogen, season, and urea application rate on ammonia volatilisation from pastures. *N.Z. J. Ag. Res.*, 28: 469-474.
- Bouwman, A.F. & Van der Hoek, K.W. 1997. Scenarios of animal waste production and fertilizer use and associated ammonia emission for the developing countries. *At. Env.*, 31: 4095-4102.
- Bouwman, A.F. & Van Vuuren, D. 1999. Global assessment of acidification and eutrophication of natural ecosystems. Report UNEP/DEIA&EW/TR.99-6; RIVM/4002001012, Nairobi, United Nations Environment Programme; and Bilthoven, the Netherlands, National Institute of Public Health and the Environment.
- Bouwman, A.F. 1996. Direct emission of nitrous oxide from agricultural soils. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 46: 53-70.
- Bouwman, A.F. 1998. Nitrogen oxides and tropical agriculture. *Nature*, 392: 866-867.
- Bouwman, A.F., Boumans, L.J.M. & Batjes, N.H. 2001a. Estimation of global NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization loss from mineral fertilizers and animal manure applied to arable lands and grasslands. Submitted to *Glob. Bio. Cyc.*.
- Bouwman, A.F., Boumans, L.J.M. & Batjes, N.H. 2001b. N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions from fertilized fields. Summary of available measurement data. Submitted to Glob. Bio. Cyc..
- Bouwman, A.F., Lee, D.S., Asman, W.A.H., Dentener, F.J., Van der Hoek, K.W. & Olivier, J.G.J. 1997. A global high-resolution emission inventory for ammonia. *Glob. Bio. Cyc.*, 11: 561-587.
- Bouwmeester, R.J.B., Vlek, P.L.G. & Stumpe, J.M. 1985. Effect of environmental factors on ammonia volatilization from a urea-fertilized soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 49: 376-381.
- Bowmer, K.H. & Muirhead, W.A. 1987. Inhibition of algal photosynthesis to control pH and reduce ammonia volatilization from rice floodwater. *Fert. Res.*, 13: 13-29.
- Breitenbeck, G.A., Blackmer, A.M. & Bremner, J.M. 1980. Effects of different nitrogen fertilizers on emission of nitrous oxide from soil. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 7: 85-88.

- Bremner, J.M. 1997. Sources of nitrous oxide in soils. Nut. Cyc. Agro., 49: 7-16.
- Bremner, J.M., Breitenbeck, G.A. & Blackmer, A.M. 1981a. Effect of anhydrous ammonia fertilization on emission of nitrous oxide from soils. J. Env. Qual., 10: 77-80.
- Bremner, J.M., Breitenbeck, G.A. & Blackmer, A.M. 1981b. Effect of nitrapyrin on emission of nitrous oxide from soil fertilized with anhydrous ammonia. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 8: 353-356.
- Bremner, J.M., Robbins, S.G. & Blackmer, A.M. 1980. Seasonal variability in emission of nitrous oxide from soil. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 7: 641-644.
- Bronson, K.F., Neue, H.U., Singh, U. & Abao, E.B. 1997a. Automated chamber measurements of methane and nitrous oxide flux in a flooded rice soil: 1. Residue, nitrogen and water management. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 61: 981-987.
- Bronson, K.F., Neue, H.U., Singh, U. & Abao, E.B. 1997b. Automated chamber measurements of methane and nitrous oxide flux in a flooded rice soil: 2. Fallow period emissions. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 61: 988-993.
- Brumme, R. & Beese, F. 1992. Effects of liming and nitrogen fertilization on emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O from a temperate forest. *J. Geophys. Res.*, 97: 12851-12858.
- Bundy, L.G. & Oberle, S.L. 1988. Evaluation of methods for control of ammonia volatilization from surface-applied urea containing fertilizers. *J. Fert. Issues.*, 5: 24-30.
- Burton, D.L., Bergstrom, D.W., Covert, J.A., Wagner-Riddle, C. & Beauchamp, E.G. 1997. Three methods to estimate N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes as impacted by agricultural management. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 77: 125-134.
- Bussink, D.W. & Oenema, O. 1998. Ammonia volatilization from dairy farming systems in temperate areas: a review. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 51: 19-33.
- Cai, G.X., Zhu, Z.L., Trevitt, A.C.F., Freney, J.R. & Simpson, J.R. 1986. Nitrogen loss from ammonium bicarbonate and urea fertilizers applied to flooded rice. *Fert. Res.*, 10: 203-215.
- Cai, Z., Xing, G., Yan, X., Xu, H., Tsuruta, H., Yagi, K. & Minami, K. 1997. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from paddy rice fields as affected by nitrogen fertiliser and water management. *Plant & Soil* 196: 7-14.

- Cardenas, L., Rondon, A., Johansson, C. & Sanhueza, E. 1993. Effects of soil moisture, temperature, and inorganic nitrogen on nitric oxide emissions from acidic tropical savannah soils. J. Geophys. Res., 98: 14783-14790.
- Chang, C., Janzen, H.H., Cho, C.M. & Nakonecchny, E.M. 1998. Nitrous oxide emission through plants. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 62: 35-38.
- Chantigny, M.H., Prevost, D., Angers, D.A., Simard, R.R. & Chalifour, F.P. 1998. Nitrous oxide production in soils cropped to corn with varying N fertilization. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 78: 589-596.
- Christensen, S., Ambus, P., Arah, J.R.M., Clayton, H., Galle, B., Griffith, D.W.T., Hargreaves, K.J., Klemedtsson, L., Lind, A.-M., Maag, M., Scott, A., Skiba, U., Smith, K.A., Welling, M. & Wienhold, F.G. 1996. Nitrous oxide emission from an agricultural field: Comparison between measurements by chamber and micrometeorological techniques. *At. Env.*, 30: 4183-4190.
- Clemens, J., Schillinger, M.P., Goldbach, H. & Huwe, B. 1999. Spatial variability of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and soil parameters of an arable silt loam a field study. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 28: 403-406.
- Cochran, V.L., Sparrow, E.B., Schlenter, S.F. & Knight, C.W. 1997. Long-term tillage and crop residue management in the subarctic: fluxes of methane and nitrous oxide. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 77: 565-570.
- Colbourn, P. & Harper, I.W. 1987. Denitrification in drained and undrained arable clay soil. J. Soil Sci., 38: 531-539.
- Colbourn, P., Iqbal, M.M. & Harper, I.W. 1984. Estimation of the total gaseous nitrogen losses from clay soils under laboratory and field conditions. *J. Soil Sci.*, 35: 11-22.
- Crill, P., Keller, M., Weitz, A., Grauel, B. & Veldkamp, E. 2000. Intensive field measurements of nitrous oxide emissions from a tropical agricultural soil. *Glob. Bio. Cyc.*, 14: 85-96.
- Davidson, E.A. & Kingerlee, W. 1997. A global inventory of nitric oxide emissions from soils. Nut. Cyc. Agro., 48: 37-50.
- Davidson, E.A. and Verchot, L.V. 2000. Testing the hole-in-the-pipe model of nitric and nitrous oxide emissions from soils using the TRAGNET database. *Glob. Bio. Cyc.*, 14: 1035-1043.
- Davidson, E.A. 1991. Fluxes of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide from terrestrial ecosystems. In J.E. Rogers and W.B. Whitman, eds. *Microbial production and consumption of greenhouse gases: methane, nitrogen*

oxides and halomethanes, p. 219-235. Washington, DC, American Society of Microbiology.

- Davidson, E.A. 1992. Sources of nitric oxide and nitrous oxide following wetting of dry soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 56: 95-102.
- Davidson, E.A., Matson, P.A. & Brooks, P.D. 1996. Nitrous oxide emission controls and inorganic nitrogen dynamics in fertilized tropical agricultural soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 60: 1145-1152.
- De Datta, S.K., A.C.T. Trevitt, J.R. Freney, W.N. Obcemea, J.G. Real & J.R. Simpson. 1989. Measuring nitrogen losses from lowland rice using bulk aerodynamic and nitrogen-15 balance methods. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 53: 1275-1281.
- de Pauw, E., Nachtergaele, F.O., Antoine, J., Fisher, G. & Velthuizen, H.T.V. 1996. A provisional world climatic resource inventory based on the length-of-growing-period concept. In N.H. Batjes, J.H. Kauffman & O.C. Spaargaren, eds. *National soil reference collections and databases (NASREC)*, p. 30-43. Wageningen, the Netherlands, International Soil Reference and Information Centre (ISRIC).
- de Preez, C.C. & Burger, R.d.T. 1987. Effect of application methods on ammonia volatilization from soils in a controlled environment. *S.A. J. Plant & Soil*, 4: 57-60.
- Denmead, O.T. 1983. Micrometeorological methods for measuring gaseous losses of nitrogen in the field. In J.R. Freney & J.R. Simpson, eds. Gaseous loss of nitrogen from plant-soils systems. Developments in plant and soil science Vol. 9, p. 133-157. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff/Dr. W. Junk Publishers.
- Denmead, O.T., Freney, J.R. & Simpson, J.R. 1979. Nitrous oxide emission during denitrification in a flooded field. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 43: 716-718.
- Denmead, O.T., Freney, J.R. & Simpson, J.R. 1982. Dynamics of ammonia volatilization during furrow irrigation of maize. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 46: 149-155.
- Denmead, O.T., Simpson, J.R. & Freney, J.R. 1977. A direct field measurement of ammonia emission after injection of anhydrous ammonia. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 41: 1001-1004.
- Dhyani, B.P. & Mishra, B. 1992. Effect of nitrogen-application schedule on ammonia volatilization from field of rice (Oryza sativa). *Ind. J. Ag. Sci.*, 62: 73-73.

- Dunfield, P.F., Topp, E., Archambault, C. & Knowles, R. 1995. Effect of nitrogen fertilizers and moisture content on  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  fluxes in a humisol: measurements in the field and intact soil cores. *Biogeochemistry*, 29: 199-222.
- Duxbury, J.M., Bouldin, D.R., Terry, R.E. & Tate, R.L. 1982. Emissions of nitrous oxide from soils. *Nature*, 298: 462-464.
- Eaton, L.J. & Patriquin, D.G. 1989. Denitrification in lowbush blueberry soils. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 69: 303-312.
- ECETOC. 1994. Ammonia emissions to air in Western Europe. Technical Report No. 62, 196 pp. Brussels.
- Eichner, M.J. 1990. Nitrous oxide emissions from fertilized soils: summary of available data. J. Env. Qual. 19: 272-280.
- Ellis, S., Yamulki, S., Dixon, E., Harrison, R. & Jarvis, S.C. 1998. Denitrification and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from a UK pasture soil following early spring application of cattle slurry and mineral fertiliser. *Plant & Soil*, 202: 15-25.
- FAO. 2001. Global inventory of  $NH_3$  emissions from mineral fertilizers and animal manure applied to croplands and grasslands, by A.F. Bouwman. Rome.
- Fenn, L.B. & Kissel, D.E. 1973. Ammonia volatilization from surface applications of ammonium compounds on calcareous soils: I. General theory. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc.*, 37: 855-859.
- Fenn, L.B. & Kissel, D.E. 1974. Ammonia volatilization from surface applications of ammonia compounds on calcareous soils: II. Effects of temperature and rate of ammonia nitrogen application. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 38: 606-610.
- Fenn, L.B. & Kissel, D.E. 1976. The influence of cation exchange capacity and depth of incorporation on ammonia volatilization from ammonium compounds applied to calcareous soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 40: 394-398.
- Fenn, L.B., Tatum, G. & Horst, G. 1990. Ammonia losses from surface-placed mixtures of urea-calcium-potassium salts in the presence of phosphorous. *Fert. Res.*, 21: 125-131.
- Fenn, L.B., Taylor, R.M. & Matocha, J.E. 1979. Ammonia losses from surface applied nitrogen fertilizer as controlled by soluble calcium and magnesium: general theory. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 45: 777-781.

- Ferguson, R.B., McInnes, K.J., Kissel, D.E. & Kanemasu, E.T. 1988. A comparison of methods of estimating ammonia volatilization in the field. *Fert. Res.*, 15: 55-69.
- Fillery, I.R.P. & Datta, S.K.D. 1986. Ammonia volatilization from nitrogen sources applied to rice fields: I. Methodology, ammonia fluxes, and nitrogen-15 loss. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 50: 80-86.
- Fillery, I.R.P. & Vlek, P.L.G. 1986. Reappraisal of the significance of ammonia volatilization as an N loss mechanism in flooded rice fields. *Fert. Res.*, 9: 79-98.
- Fillery, I.R.P., Simpson, J.R. & De Datta, S.K. 1984. Influence of field environment and fertilizer management on ammonia loss. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 48: 914-920.
- Fillery, I.R.P., Simpson, J.R. & De Datta, S.K. 1986c. Contribution of ammonia volatilization to total nitrogen loss after applications of urea to wetland rice fields. *Fert. Res.*, 8: 193-202.
- Firestone, M.K. & Davidson, E.A. 1989. Microbiological basis for NO and N<sub>2</sub>O production and consumption in soils. In M.O. Andreae & D.S. Schimel, eds. *Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems* and the atmosphere, 7-21 pp. Chichester, the United Kingdom, Wiley & Sons.
- Flessa, H. & Beese, F. 2000. Laboratory estimates of trace gas emissions following surface application and injection of cattle slurry. J. Env. Qual., 29: 262-268.
- Focht, D.D. 1974. The effect of temperature, pH and aeration on the production of nitrous oxide and gaseous nitrogen- a zero order kinetic model. *Soil Sci.*, 118: 173-179.
- Folorunso, O.A. & Rolston, D.E. 1984. Spatial variability of field measured denitrification gas fluxes. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 48: 1214-1219.
- Fowler, D., Hargreaves, K.J., Skiba, U., Milne, R., Zahniser, M.S., Moncrieff, J.B., Beverland, I.J. & Gallagher, M.W. 1995. Measurements of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes at the landscape scale using micrometeorological methods. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. A.*, 351: 339-356.
- Fox, R.H., Piekielek, W.P. & Macneal, K.E. 1996. Estimating ammonia volatilization losses from urea fertilizers using a simplified micrometeorological sampler. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 60: 596-601.

- Freney, J.R. & Denmead, O.T. 1992. Factors controlling ammonia and nitrous oxide emissions from flooded rice fields. *Eco. Bull.*, 42: 188-194.
- Freney, J.R. & Denmead, O.T. 1992. Factors controlling ammonia loss from trash covered sugarcane fields fertilized with urea. *Fert. Res.*, 31: 341-349.
- Freney, J.R., Denmead, O.T., Watanabe, I. & Craswell, E.T. 1981. Ammonia and nitrous oxide losses following applications of ammonia sulfate to flooded rice. *Aus. J. Ag. Res.*, 32: 37-45.
- Freney, J.R., Leuning, R., Simpson, J.R., Denmead, O.T. & Muirhead, W.A. 1985. Estimating ammonia volatilization from flooded rice fields by simplified techniques. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 49: 1049-1054.
- Freney, J.R., Trevitt, A.C.F., Datta, S.K.D., Obcemea, W.N. & Real, J.G. 1990. The interdependence of ammonia volatilization and denitrification as nitrogen loss process in flooded rice fields in the Philippines. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 9: 31-36.
- Freney, J.R., Trevitt, A.C.F., Muirhead, W.A, Denmead, O.T., Simpson, J.R. & Obcemea, W.N. 1988. Effect of water depth on ammonia loss from lowland rice. *Fert. Res.*, 16: 97-107.
- Fresco, L.O., Bridges, E.M. & Starren, M.H.C.W. 1998. Food Production and Environmental Impact (Based on Draft Report Food Production and Environmental Impact, FAO Food Summit 1996). Report 98/04.
  Wageningen, the Netherlands, Wageningen Agricultural University and International Soil Reference and Information Centre.
- Frolking, S.E., Mosier, A.R., Ojima, D.S., Li, C., Parton, W.J., Potter, C.S., Priesak, E., Stenger, R., Haberbosch, C., Dörsch, P., Flessa, H. & K.A. Smith, K.A. 1998. Comparison of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from soils at three different agricultural sites: simulations of yearround measurements by four models. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 52: 77-105.
- Galbally, I.E. 1989. Factors controlling NO<sub>x</sub> emissions from soils. In M.O. Andreae & D.S. Schimel, eds. *Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere*, 23-27 pp. Chichester, the United Kingdom, Wiley & Sons.
- Galle, B., Klemedtsson, L. & Griffith, D.W. 1994. Application of an FTIR for measurements of N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes using micrometeorological methods, an ultralarge chamber system and conventional field chambers. J. Geophys. Res., 99: 16575-16583.

- Goodroad, L.L. & Keeney, D.R. 1984. Nitrous oxide production in aerobic soils under varying pH, temperature and water content. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 16: 39-43.
- Goodroad, L.L. & Keeney, D.R. 1985. Site of nitrous oxide production in field soils. *Bio. Fert. Soils*, 1: 3-7.
- Granli, T. & Bockman, O.C. 1994. Nitrous oxide from agriculture. *Nor. J. Ag. Sci.*, Supplement No. 12: 128.
- Grant, C.A., Jia, S., Brown, K.R. & Bailey, L.D. 1996. Volatile losses of NH<sub>3</sub> from surface applied urea and ammonium nitrate with and without the urease inhibitors NBPT or ammonium thiosulphate. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 76: 417-419.
- Groffman, P.M. & Tiedje, J.M. 1989. Denitrification in North temperate forest soils: spatial and temporal patterns at the landscape and seasonal scales. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 21: 613-620.
- Hargreaves, K.J., Skiba, U., Fowler, D., Arah, J., Wienhold, F.G., Klemedtsson, L. & Galle, B. 1994. Measurements of nitrous oxide emission from fertilized grassland using micrometeorological techniques. J. Geophys. Res., 99: 16569-16574.
- Hargreaves, K.J., Wienhold, F.G., Klemedtsson, L., Arah, J.R., Beverland, I.J., Fowler, D., Galle, B., Griffith, D.W.T., Skiba, U., Smith, K.A., Welling, M., Harrsiss, G.W. & Penkett, S. 1996. Measurement of nitrous oxide emission from agricultural land using micrometeorological methods. *At. Env.*, 30: 1563-1571.
- Hargrove, W.L. & Kissel, D.E. 1979. Ammonia volatilization from surface applications of urea in the field and laboratory. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 43: 359-363.
- Hargrove, W.L., Bock, B.R., Raunikar, R.A. & Urban, W.J. 1987. Comparison of a forced draft technique to nitrogen-15 recovery for measuring ammonia volatilization under field conditions. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 51: 124-128.
- He, Z.L., Alva, A.K., Calvert, D.V. & Banks, D.J. 1999. Ammonia volatilization from different fertilizer sources and effects of temperature and soil pH. Soil Sci., 164: 750-758.
- Humphreys, E., Freney, J.R., Muirhead, W.A., Denmead, O.T., Simpson, J.R., Leuning, R., Trevitt, A.C.F., Obcemea, W.N., Wetselaar, R. & Gui-Xin, C. 1988. Loss of ammonia after application of urea at different times to dry-seeded, irrigated rice. *Fert. Res.*, 16: 47-57.

- Hutchinson, G.L. & Brams, E.A. 1992. NO versus  $N_2O$  emissions from an  $NH_{4^+}$  -amended Bermuda grass pasture. J. Geophys. Res., 97: 9889-9896.
- Hutchinson, G.L. & Mosier, A.R. 1981. Improved soil cover method for field measurement of nitrous oxide flux. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 45: 311-316.
- IFA. 1999. Nitrogen Phosphate Potash, IFADATA statistics from 1973/74-1973 to 1997/98-1997, including separately world fertilizer consumption statistics. Paris, International Fertilizer Industry Association.
- IFA/IFDC/FAO. 1999. Fertilizer use by crop. 4th edition. FAO, Rome.
- Jacinthe, P.A. & Dick, W.A. 1997. Soil Management and nitrous oxide emissions from cultivated fields in southern Ohio. *Soil Till. Res.*, 41: 221-235.
- Jambert, C., Serca, D. & Delmas, R. 1997. Quantification of N-losses as NH<sub>3</sub>, NO and N<sub>2</sub>O and N<sub>2</sub> from fertilized maize fields in southwestern France. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 48: 91-104.
- Jarvis, S.C., Hatch, D.J. & Lockyer, D.R. 1989a. Ammonia fluxes from grazed grassland: annual losses from cattle production systems and their relation to nitrogen inputs. *J. Ag. Sci.*, Cambridge, 113: 99-108.
- Jarvis, S.C., Hatch, D.J. & Roberts, D.H. 1989b. The effects of grassland management on nitrogen losses from grazed swards through ammonia volatilization; the relation to excretal N returns from cattle. *J. Ag. Sci.*, 112: 205-216.
- Jarvis, S.C., Hatch, D.J., Orr, R.J. & Reynolds, S.E. 1991. Micrometeorological studies of ammonia emission from sheep grazed swards. J. Ag. Sci., Cambridge, 117: 101-109.
- Johansson, C. & Granat, L. 1984. Emission of nitric oxide from arable land. *Tellus*, 36B: 25-37.
- Johansson, C. & Sanhueza, E. 1988. Emission of NO from savanna soil during the rainy season. J. Geophys. Res., 93: 14193-14198.
- Jordan, C. 1989. The effect of fertilizer type and application rate on denitrification losses from cut grassland in Northern Ireland. *Fert. Res.* 19: 45-55.
- Kaiser, E.A. & Ruser, R. 2000. Nitrous oxide emissions from arable soils in Germany. An evaluation of six long-term field experiments. J. Plant Nut. Soil Sci. (Zeits. Pflanzenernähr. Bodenkunde), 163: 249-259.

- Kaiser, E.-A., Kohrs, K., Kücke, M., Schnug, E., Heinemeier, O. & Munch, J.C. 1998. Nitrous oxide release from arable soil: importance of Nfertilization, crops and temporal variation. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 30: 1553-1563.
- Katyal, J.C. & Carter, M.F. 1989. Effect of airflow rate, leaching, and presubmergence on ammonia volatilization and apparent denitrification loss of nitrogen from a submerged soils. *Soil Sci.*, 147: 116-125.
- Keeney, D.R., I.R. Fillery & Marx, G.P. 1979. Effect of temperature on gaseous nitrogen products of denitrification in a silt loam soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 43: 1124-1128.
- Keertsinghe, D.G., Freney, J.R. & Mosier, A.R. 1993. Effect of wax-coated calcium carbide and nitrapyrin on nitrogen loss and methane emission from dry-seeded flooded rice. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 16: 71-75.
- Keller, G.D. & Mengel, D.B. 1986. Ammonia volatilization from nitrogen fertilizers surface applied to no-till corn. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 50: 1060-1063.
- Keller, M., Kaplan, W.A. & Wofsy, S.C. 1986. Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>4</sub> and CO2 from tropical forest soils. J. Geophys. Res., 91: 11791-11802.
- Kessavalou, A., Doran, J.W., Mosier, A.R. & Drijber, R.A. 1998. Greenhouse gas fluxes following tillage and wetting in a wheat-fallow cropping system. J. Env. Qual., 27: 1105-1116.
- Kissel, D.E., Brewer, H.L. & Arkin, G.F. 1977. Design and test of a field sampler for ammonia volatilization. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 41: 1133-1138.
- Kliewer, B.A. & Gilliam, J.W. 1995. Water table management effects on denitrification and nitrous oxide evolution. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 59: 1694-1701.
- Kreileman, E., Van Woerden, J. & Bakkes, J. 1998. *RIVM Environmental Research*. M025/98, Report M025/98. Bilthoven, the Netherlands, National Institute of Public Health and the Environment.
- Laegreid, M., Bockman, O.C. & Kaarstad, O. 1999. Agriculture and fertilizers, 294 pp. Wallingford, the United Kingdom, CABI Publishing.
- Lapitan, R.L., Wanninkhof, R. & Mosier, A.R. 1999. Methods for stable gas flux determination in aquatic and terrestrial systems. In A.F. Bouwman, ed. *Approaches to scaling of trace gas fluxes in ecosystems*, 31-66 pp. Amsterdam, the Netherlands, Elsevier Science.

- Laville, P., Henault, C., Renault, P., Cellier, P., Oriol, A., Devis, X., Flura, D.
  & Germon, J.C. 1997. Field comparison of nitrous oxide emission measurements using micrometeorological and chamber methods. Agronomie, 17: 375-388.
- Laville, P., Jambert, C., Cellier, P. & Delmas, R. 1999. Nitrous oxide fluxes from a fertilized maize crop using micrometeorological and chamber methods. *Agriculture and Forest Meteorology*, 96: 19-38.
- Lee, D.S., Bouwman, A.F., Asman, W.A.H., Dentener, F.J., Van der Hoek, K.W. & Olivier, J.G.J. 1997. Emissions of nitric oxide and ammonia from grasslands on a global scale. *In S.C. Jarvis & B.F. Pain, eds. Gaseous nitrogen emissions from grasslands*, 353-371 pp. Wallingford, New York, the United States, CAB International.
- Lemke, R.L., Izauralde, R.C., Malhi, S.S., Arshad, M.A. & Nyborg, M. 1998. Nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural soils of the boreal and parkland regions of Alberta. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 62: 1096-1102.
- Letey, J., Valoras, N., Focht, D.D. & Ryden, J.C. 1981. Nitrous oxide production and reduction during denitrification as affected by redox potential. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am.* J., 45: 727-730.
- Levine, J.S., Winstead, E.L., Parsons, D.A.B., Scholes, M.C., Scholes, R.J., Sebacher, W.R.C. III, D.R.C. Jr., & D.I. 1996. Biogenic soil emissions of nitric oxide (NO) and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) from savannas in South Africa: The impact of wetting and burning. J. Geophys. Res., 101: 23689-23697.
- Li, C. & Aber, J. 2000. A process-oriented model of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions from forest soils: I. Model development. *J. Geophys. Res.*, 105: 4369-4384.
- Lipschultz, F., Zafiriou, O.C., Wofsy, S.C., McElroy, M.B., Valois, F.W. & Watson, S.W. 1981. Production of NO and N<sub>2</sub>O by soil nitrifying bacteria. *Nature*, 294: 641-643.
- Lockyer, D.R. 1984. A system for the measurement in the field of losses of ammonia through volatilization. *J. Sci. Food Ag.*, 35: 837-848.
- MacKenzie, A.F., Fan, M.X. & Cadrin, F. 1997. Nitrous oxide emission as affected by tillage, corn-soybean-alfalfa rotations and nitrogen fertilization. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 77: 145-152.
- MacKenzie, A.F., Fan, M.X. & Cadrin, F. 1998. Nitrous oxide emission in three years as affected by tillage, corn-soybean-alfalfa rotations, and nitrogen fertilization. J. Env. Qual., 27: 698-703.

- Marshall, V.G. & Debell, D.S. 1980. Comparison of four methods of measuring volatilization losses of nitrogen following urea fertilization of forest soils. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 60: 549-563.
- Martikainen, P.J. 1985. Nitrous oxide emission associated with autotrophic ammonium oxidation in acid coniferous forest soil. *App. Env. Microbiol.*, 60: 1519-1525.
- Matson, P.A., Billow, C. & Hall, S. 1996. Fertilization practices and soil variations control nitrogen oxide emissions from tropical sugar cane. J. Geophys. Res., 101: 18533-18545.
- McInnes, K.J., Ferguson, R.B., Kissel, D.E. & Kanemasu, E.T. 1986. Ammonia loss from applications of urea-ammonium nitrate solution to straw residue. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 50: 969-974.
- McKenney, D.J. & Drury, C.F. 1997. Nitric oxide production in agricultural soils. *Glob. Ch. Bio.*, 3: 317-326.
- Meixner, F. 1994. Surface exchange of odd nitrogen oxides. *Nov. Act. Leo.*, 288: 299-348.
- Meixner, F.X., Fickinger, T., Marufu, L., Serca, D., Nathaus, F.J., Makina, E., Mukurumbira, L. & Andreae, M.O. 1997. Preliminary results on nitric oxide emission from a southern African savanna ecosystem. *Nut. Cyc. Agroeco.*, 48: 123-138.
- Mikkelsen, D.S., De Datta, S.K. & Obcemea, W.N. 1978. Ammonia volatilization losses from flooded soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 42: 725-730.
- Mosier, A.R. & Hutchinson, G.L. 1981. Nitrous oxide emissions from cropped fields. J. Env. Qual., 10: 169-173.
- Mosier, A.R., Kroeze, C., Nevison, C., Oenema, O., Seitzinger, S. & Cleemput, O.V. 1998. Closing the global atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O budget: nitrous oxide emissions through the agricultural nitrogen cycle. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 52: 225-248.
- Myrold, D.D. & Tiedje, J.M. 1985. Diffusional constraints on denitrification in soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 49: 651-657.
- Nägele, W. & Conrad, R. 1990. Influence of pH on the release of NO and N<sub>2</sub>O from fertilized and unfertilized soil. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 10: 139-144.
- Neff, J.C., Keller, M., Holland, E.A., Weitz, A.W. & Veldkamp, E. 1995. Fluxes of nitric oxide from soils following the clearing and burning of a secondary tropical rainforest. J. Geophys. Res., 100: 25913-25922.

- Obcemea, W.N., Real, J.G. & Datta, S.K.D. 1988. Effect of soil texture and nitrogen management on ammonia volatilization and total nitrogen loss. Philipp. *J. Crop Sci.*, 13: 145-153.
- Olivier, J.G.J., Bouwman, A.F., Van der Hoek, K.W. & Berdowski, J.J.M. 1998. Global air emission inventories for anthropogenic sources of NO<sub>x</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O in 1990. *Env. Poll.*, 102: 135-148.
- Ortiz-Monasterio, J.I., Matson, P.A., Panek, J. & Naylor, R.L. 1996. Nitrogen fertilizer management: consequences for N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions in Mexican irrigated wheat, 9<sup>th</sup> Nitrogen Workshop, 531-534 pp. Braunschweig, Germany, Technische Universität Braunschweig.
- Ouyang, D.S., Mackenzie, A.F. & Fan, M.X. 1998. Ammonia volatilization from urea amended with triple superphosphate and potassium chloride. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 62: 1443-1447.
- Overrein, L.N. 1968. Lysimeter studies on tracer nitrogen in forest soil: I. nitrogen losses by leaching and volatilization after addition of urea-N15. *Soil Sci.*, 106: 280-290.
- Palma, R.M., Rimolo, M., Saubidet, M.I. & Conti, M.E. 1997. Influence of tillage system on denitrification in maize-cropped soils. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 25: 142-146.
- Panda, D., Mahata, K.R., Sen, H.S. & Patnaik, S. 1989. Transformation and loss of nitrogen due to leaching and ammonia volatilization in wetland rice (Oryza satava) soil. *Ind. J. Ag. Sci.*, 59: 91-96.
- Parkin, T.B. 1987. Soil microsites as a source of denitrification variability. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 51: 1194-1199.
- Parry, S., Renault, P., Chenu, C. & Lensi, R. 1999. Denitrification in pasture and cropped soil clods as affected by pore space structure. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 31: 493-501.
- Parsons, D.A.B., Scholes, M.C., Scholes, R.J. & Levine, J.S. 1996. Biogenic NO emissions from savanna soils as a function of fire regime, soil type, soil nitrogen, and water status. J. Geophys. Res., 101: 23683-23688.
- Patel, S.K. & Mohanty, S.K. 1989. Relative ammonia loss from urea-based fertilizers applied to rice under different hydrological conditions. *Fert. Res.*, 19: 113-119.
- Patra, A.K., Burford, J.R. & Rego, T.J. 1996. Volatilization losses of surfaceapplied urea nitrogen from vertisols in the Indian semi-arid tropics. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 22: 345-349.

- Payne, R.W., Lane, P.W., Digby, P.G.N., Harding, S.A., Leech, P.K., Morgan, G.W., Todd, A.D., Thompson, R., Wilson, G.T., Welham, S.J. & White, R.P. 1993. *Genstat 5 release 3. Reference manual*. Oxford, the United Kingdom, Clarendon Press.
- Peoples, M.B., Freney, J.R. & Mosier, A.R. 1995. Minimizing gaseous losses of nitrogen. *In* P.E. Bacon, ed. *Nitrogen fertilization and the environment*, 565-602 pp. New York, the United States, Marcel Dekker Inc.
- Poth, M. & Focht, D.D. 1985. <sup>15</sup>N kinetic analysis of N<sub>2</sub>O production by Nitrosomonas europaea: an examination of nitrifier denitrification. *App. Env. Mircobiol.*, 49: 1134-1141.
- Potter, C.S., Matson, P.A., Vitousek, P.M. & Davidson, E.A. 1996. Process modeling of controls on nitrogen trace gas emissions worldwide. *J. Geophys. Res.*, 101: 1361-1377.
- Rao, D.L.N. 1987. Slow-release urea fertilizers effect on floodwater chemistry, ammonia volatilization and rice growth in an alkali soil. *Fert. Res.*, 13: 209-221.
- Remde, A. & Conrad, R. 1990. Production of nitric oxide in Nitrosomonas europaea by reduction of nitrite. *Arch. Mircobiol.*, 154: 187-191.
- Remde, A. & Conrad, R. 1991. Role of nitrification and denitrification for NO metabolism in soil. *Biogeochemistry*, 12: 189-205.
- Remde, A., Ludwig, J., Meixner, F. & Conrad, R. 1993. A study to explain the emission of nitric oxide from a marsh soil. J. Atmos. Chem., 17: 249-275.
- Rodriguez, M.B. & Giambiagi, N. 1995. Denitrification in tillage and no tillage pampean soils: Relationships among soil water, available carbon, and nitrate and nitrous oxide production. *Comm. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.*, 26: 3205-3220.
- Roelcke, M. 1994. Die Ammoniak-Volatilisation nach Ausbringung von Mineraldünger-Stickstoff in carbonatreichen Chinesischen Löss-Ackerböden. PhD thesis, 198 pp. Göttingen, Germany, Technische Universität Carolo-Wilhelmina zu Braunschweig.
- Rolston, D.E., Hoffman, D.L. & Toy, D.W. 1978. Field measurement of denitrification: I. Flux of N<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 42: 863-869.

- Rondon, A., Johansson, C. & Sanhueza, E. 1993. Emission of nitric oxide from soils and termite nests in a trachypogon savanna of the Orinoco Basin. *J. Atmos. Chem.*, 17: 293-306.
- Röver, M., Heinemeyer, O. & Kaiser, E.-A. 1998. Microbial induced nitrous oxide emissions from an arable soil during winter. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 30: 1859-1865.
- Ruz Jerez, B.E., White, R.E. & Ball, P.R. 1994. Long-term measurements of denitrification in three contrasting pastures grazed by sheep. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 26: 29-39.
- Ryden, J.C. & Lockyer, D.R. 1985. Evaluation of a system of wind tunnels for field studies of ammonia loss from grassland through volatilization. J. Sci. Food Ag., 36: 781-788.
- Ryden, J.C. 1981. N<sub>2</sub>O exchange between a grassland soil and the atmosphere. *Nature*, 292: 235-237.
- Ryden, J.C. 1983. Denitrification loss from a grassland soil in the field receiving different rates of nitrogen as ammonium nitrate. *J. Soil Sci.*, 1983: 355-365.
- Ryden, J.C., Lund, L.J. & Focht, D.D. 1978. Direct in-field measurement of nitrous oxide flux from soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 42: 731-737.
- Saad, A.L.O. & Conrad, R. 1993. Temperature dependence of nitrification, denitrification and turnover of nitric oxide in different soils. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 15: 21-27.
- Sahrawat, K.L. & Keeney, D.R. 1986. Nitrous oxide emission from soils. Ad. Soil Sci., Vol.4, p. 103-148: New York, the United States, Springer Verlag.
- Sahrawat, K.L. 1980. Ammonia volatilization losses in some tropical flooded rice soils under field conditions. *Riso*, 29: 21-27.
- Sanhueza, E., Cardenas, L., Donoso, L. & Santana, M. 1994. Effect of plowing on CO<sub>2</sub>, CO, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and NO fluxes from tropical savanna soils. J. *Geophys. Res.*, 99: 16429-16434.
- Santra, G.H., Das, D.K. & Mandal, L.N. 1988. Loss of nitrogen through ammonia volatilization from flooded rice soils. J. Ind. Soc. Soil Sci., 36: 652-659.

- Schimel, D.S. & Panikov, N.S. 1999. Simulation models of terrestrial trace gas fluxes at soil microsites to global scales. *In* A.F. Bouwman, ed. *Scaling* of trace gas fluxes in ecosystems, 185-202 pp., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, Elsevier Science.
- Schmidt, J., Seiler, W. & Conrad, R. 1988. Emission of nitrous oxide from temperate forest soils into the atmosphere. *J. Atmos. Chem.*, 6: 95-115.
- Scholes, M.C., Martin, R., Scholes, R.J., Parsons, D. & Winstead, E. 1997. NO and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from savanna soils following the first simulated rains. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 48: 115-122.
- Sen, H.S. & Bandyopadhyay, B.K. 1986. Effect of placement, urease inhibitors and acidic amendments on ammonia volatilization from wetland rice field fertilized with urea. J. Ind. Soc. Soil Sci., 34: 514-519.
- Shelton, D.R., Sadeghi, A.M. & McCarty, G.W. 2000. Effect of soil water content on denitrification during cover crop. *Soil Sci.*, 165: 365-371.
- Shepherd, M.F., Barzetti, S. & Hastie, D.R. 1991. The production of atmospheric  $NO_x$  and  $N_2O$  from a fertilized agricultural soil. *At. Env.*, 25A: 1961-1969.
- Simek, M., Cooper, J.E., Picek, T. & Santruckova, H. 2000. Denitrification in arable soils in relation to their physico-chemical properties and fertilization practice. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 32: 101-110.
- Simpson, J.R., Muirhead, W.A., Bowmer, K.H., Cai, G.X. & Freney, J.R. 1988. Control of gaseous nitrogen losses from urea applied to flooded rice soils. *Fert. Res.*, 18: 31-47.
- Skiba, U., Fowler, D. & Smith, K.A. 1997. Nitric oxide emissions from agricultural soils in temperate and tropical climates: sources, controls and mitigation options. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 48: 139-153.
- Skiba, U., Hargreaves, K.J., Fowler, D. & Smith, K.A. 1992. Fluxes of nitric and nitrous oxides from agricultural soils in a cool temperate climate. *At. Env.*, 26A: 2477-2488.
- Skiba, U., Sheppard, L., Pitcairn, C.E.R., Leith, I., Crossley, A., Dijk, S.v., Kennedy, V.H. & Fowler, D. 1998. Soil nitrous and nitric oxide emissions as indicators of elevated atmospheric deposition rates in seminatural ecosystems. *Env. Poll.*, 102 S1: 457-461.
- Slemr, F. & Seiler, W. 1984. Field measurement of NO and NO<sub>2</sub> emissions from fertilized and unfertilized soils. *J. Atmos. Chem.*, 2: 1-24.

- Slemr, F. & Seiler, W. 1991. Field study of environmental variables controlling the NO emissions from soil and the NO compensation point. J. Geophys. Res., 96: 13017-13031.
- Slemr, F., R. Conrad & Seiler, W. 1984. Nitrous oxide emissions from fertilized and unfertilized soils in a subtropical region (Andalusia, Spain). J. Atmos. Chem., 1: 159-169.
- Sloan, J.J. & Anderson, W.B. 1995. Calcium chloride and ammonium thiosulfate as ammonia volatilization inhibitors for urea fertilizers. *Comm. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.*, 26: 2425-2447.
- Smith, C.J., Brandon, M. & Patrick, W.H.J. 1982. Nitrous oxide emission following urea-N fertilization of wetland rice. *Soil Sci. Plant Nut.*, 28: 161-171.
- Smith, C.J., Delaune, R.D. & Patrick, W.H.J. 1983. Nitrous oxide emission from Gulf Coast Wetlands. *Geochim. Cosmochim. A.*, 47: 1805-1814.
- Smith, K.A., McTaggart, I.P. & Tsuruta, H. 1997. Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO associated with nitrogen fertilization in intensive agriculture, and the potential for mitigation. *Soil Use Man.*, 13: 296-304.
- Smith, K.A., McTaggart, I.P., Dobbie, K.E. & Conen, F. 1998. Emissions of N2O from Scottish agricultural soils, as a function of fertilizer N. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 52: 123-130.
- Sommer, S.G. & Ersboll, A.K. 1996. Effect of airflow rate, lime amendments, and chemical soil properties on the volatilization of ammonia from fertilizers applied to sandy soils. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 21: 53-60.
- Stanley, F.A. & Smith, G.E. 1956. Effect of soil moisture and depth of application on retention of anhydrous ammonia. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc., 20: 557-561.
- Stocker, D.W. & Stedman, D.H. 1993. Fluxes of nitrogen oxides and ozone by eddy correlation over a shortgrass prairie. J. Geophys. Res., 98: 12619-12630.
- Terry, R.E., III, R.L.T. & Duxbury, J.M. 1981. The effect of flooding on nitrous oxide emissions from and organic soil. *Soil Sci.*, 132: 228-232.
- Thornton, F.C., Bock, B.R. & Tyler, D.D. 1996. Soil emissions of nitric oxide and nitrous oxide from injected anhydrous ammonium and urea. *J. Env. Qual.*, 25: 1378-1384.

- Tiedje, J.M. 1988. Ecology of denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium. *In* A.J.B. Zehnder, ed. *Biology of Anaerobic micro-organisms*, 179-244 pp. New York, the United States, Wiley & Sons.
- Trenkel, M.E. 1997. *Improving fertilizer use efficiency. Controlled-release and stabilized fertilizers in agriculture.* Paris, International Fertilizer Industry Association.
- Urban, W.J., Hargrove, W.L., Bock, B.R. & Raunikar, R.A. 1987. Evaluation of urea-urea phosphate as a nitrogen source for no-tillage production. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 51: 242-246.
- Valente, R.J. & Thornton, F.C. 1993. Emissions of NO from soil at a rural site in central Tennessee. J. Geophys. Res., 98: 16745-16753.
- Vallis, I., Harper, L.A., Catchpool, V.R. & Weier, K.L. 1982. Volatilization of ammonia from urine patches in a subtropical pasture. *Aus. J. Ag. Res.*, 33: 97-107.
- Van Bochove, E., Jones, H.G., Bertrand, N. & Prevost, D. 2000. Winter fluxes of greenhouse gases from snow-covered agricultural soil. *Glob. Bio. Cyc.*, 14: 113-125.
- Van Breemen, N., Burrough, P.A., Velthorst, E.J., Dobben, H.F.v., Wit, T.d., Ridder, T.B. & Reijnders, H.F.R. 1982. Soil acidification from atmospheric ammonium sulphate in forest canopy throughfall. *Nature*, 299: 548-550.
- Vandré, R., Clemens, J., Goldbach, H. & Kaupenjohann, M. 1997.  $NH_3$  and  $N_2O$  emissions after landspreading of slurry as influenced by application technique and dry matter-reduction. I.  $NH_3$  emissions. *Zeits. Pflanzenernähr. Bodenkunde*, 160: 303-307.
- Veldkamp, E. & Keller, M. 1997a. Fertilizer-induced nitric oxide emissions from agricultural soils. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 48: 69-77.
- Veldkamp, E. & Keller, M. 1997b. Nitrogen oxide emissions from a banana plantation in the humid tropics. J. Geophys. Res., 102: 15889-15898.
- Veldkamp, E., Davidson, E., Erickson, H., Keller, M. & Weitz, A. 1999. Soil nitrogen cycling and nitrogen oxide emissions along a pasture chronosequence in the humid tropics of Costa Rica. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 31: 387-394.

- Veldkamp, E., Keller, M. & Nuñez, M. 1998. Effects of pasture management on N2O and NO emissions from soils in the humid tropics of Costa Rica. *Glob. Bio. Cyc.*, 12: 71-79.
- Velthof, G.L., Jarvis, S.C., Stein, A., Allen, A.G. & Oenema, O. 1996. Spatial variability of nitrous oxide fluxes in mown and grazed grasslands on a poorly drained clay soil. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 28: 1215-1225.
- Velthof, G.L., Oenema, O., Postmus, J. & Prins, W.H. 1990. In-situ field measurements of ammonia volatilization from urea and calcium nitrate applied to grassland. *Meststoffen*, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>: 41-45.
- Vermoesen, A., Van Cleemput, O. & Hofman, G. 1997. Contribution of urine patches to the emission of nitrous oxide. In S.C. Jarvis & B.F. Pain, eds. Gaseous nitrogen emissions from grasslands, 179-188 pp. Wallingford, the United Kingdom, CAB International.
- Vlek, P.L.G. & Craswell, E.T. 1979. Effect of nitrogen source and management on ammonia volatilization losses from flooded rice-soil systems. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 43: 352-358.
- Vlek, P.L.G. & Stumpe, J.M. 1978. Effects of solution chemistry and environmental conditions on ammonia volatilization losses from aqueous systems. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 42: 416-421.
- Vlek, P.L.G., Diakite, M.Y. & Mueller, H. 1995. The role of azolla in curbing ammonia volatilization from flooded rice systems. *Fert. Res.*, 42: 165-174.
- Vos, G.J.M., Bergevoet, I.M.J., Vedy, J.C. & Neyroud, J.A. 1994. The fate of spring applied fertilizer N during the autumn-winter period: comparison between winter-fallow and green manure cropped soil. *Plant & Soil*, 160: 201-213.
- Wagner-Riddle, C. & Thurtell, G.W. 1998. Nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural fields during winter and spring thaw as affected by management practices. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 52: 151-163.
- Wagner-Riddle, C., Thurtell, G.W., Kidd, G.K., Beauchamp, E.G. & Sweetman, R. 1997. Estimates of nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural fields over 28 months. *Can. J. Soil Sci.*, 77: 135-144.
- Wagner-Riddle, C., Thurtell, G.W., King, K.M., Kidd, G.E. & Beauchamp, E.G. 1996. Nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide fluxes from a bare soil using a micrometeorlogical approach. J. Env. Qual., 25: 898-907.

- Warland, J.S. & Thurtell, G.W. 2000. A micrometeorological method for in situ denitrification measurements using acetylene inhibition. Ag. For. Met., 103: 387-391.
- Watson, C.J., Stevens, R.J. & Laughlin, R.J. 1990. Effectiveness of the urease inhibitor NBPT (N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide) for improving the efficiency of urea for ryegrass production. *Fert. Res.*, 24: 11-15.
- Webster, E.A. & Hopkins, D.W. 1996. Contributions from different microbial processes to N<sub>2</sub>O emission from soil. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 22: 331-335.
- Weier, K.L., Doran, J.W., Power, J.F. & Walters, D.T. 1993. Denitrification and the denitrogen/nitrous oxide ratio as affected by soil water, available carbon and nitrate. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 57: 66-72.
- Weier, K.L., McEwan, C.W., Vallis, I., Catchpoole, V.R. & Myers, R.J. 1996. Potential for biological denitrification of fertilizer nitrogen is sugarcane soils. *Aus. J. Ag. Res.*, 47: A67-A79.
- Weitz, A.M., Keller, M., Linder, E. & Crill, P.M. 1999. Spatial and temporal variability of nitrogen oxide and methane fluxes from a fertilized tree plantation in Costa Rica. J. Geophys. Res., 104: 30097-30107.
- Whitehead, D.C. & Raistrick, N. 1990. Ammonia volatilization from five nitrogen compounds used as fertilizers following surface application to soils. *J. Soil Sci.*, 41: 387-394.
- Williams, E.J. & Fehsenfeld, F.C. 1991. Measurement of soil nitrogen oxide emissions at three North American ecosystems. J. Geophys. Res., 96: 1033-1042.
- Wilson, J.D., Thurtell, G.W., Kidd, G.E. & Beauchamp, E.G. 1982. Estimation of the rate of gaseous mass transfer from a surface plot to the atmosphere. *At. Env.*, 16: 1861-1867.
- Xu, H., Xiing, G., Cai, Z. & Tsuruta, H. 1997. Nitrous oxide emissions from three rice paddy fields in China. *Nut. Cyc. Agro.*, 49: 23-28.
- Yagi, K., Tsuruta, H., Kanda, K.-i. & Minami, K. 1996. Effect of water management on methane emission from a Japanese rice paddy field: automated methane monitoring. *Glob. Bio. Cyc.*, 10: 255-267.
- Yamulki, S., Goulding, K.W.T., Webster, C.P. & Harrison, R.M. 1995. Studies on NO and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes from a wheat field. *At. Env.*, 29: 1627-1635.
- Yamulki, S., Harrison, R.M., Goulding, K.W.T. & Webster, C.P. 1997. N<sub>2</sub>O, NO and NO<sub>2</sub> fluxes from a grassland: effect of soil pH. *Soil Bio. Biochem.*, 29: 1199-1208.

- Zhu, Z.L., Cai, G.X., Simpson, J.R., Zhang, S.L., Chen, D.L., Jackson, A.V. & Freney, J.R. 1989. Processes of nitrogen loss from fertilizers applied to flooded rice fields on a calcareous soil in north-central China. *Fert. Res.*, 18: 101-115.
- Zuidema, G., Van den Born, G.J., Alcamo, J. & Kreileman, G.J.J. 1994. Simulating changes in global land cover as affected by economic and climatic factors. *Wat. Air Soil Poll.*, 76: 163-198.